Risk Factors Comparison 2025-03-11 to 2024-03-20 Form: 10-K

Legend: New Text Remeved-Fext-Unchanged Text Moved Text Section

* any acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures into which we enter could disrupt our operations and have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations; ¢ our ability to grow our business depends
on the successful development and continued refinement of many of our proprietary technologies, products, and service
offerings, which are subject to many uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control; * competition from existing or
new companies could cause downward pressure on prices, fewer customer orders, reduced margins, the inability to take
advantage of new business opportunities, and the loss of market share; ¢ a limited number of customers make up a high
percentage of our revenue; * matters relating to or arising from our Audit Committee investigation, including regulatory
investigations and proceedings, litigation matters, and potential additional expenses, may adversely affect our business
and results of operations; * natural disasters, geopolitical conﬂlcts, or other natural or man- made catastrophlc events
could disrupt and impact our business; ° adverse publicity stemmin
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condmon and results ofoperations, * our business involves
significant risks and uncertainties that may not be covered by insurance or indemnity; * if we fail to respond to commercial
industry cycles in terms of our cost structure, manufacturlng capaclty, and / or personnel needs, our busmess could be
seriously harmed +-w S
erpersennetfeeds-; ¢ any delays in the development, design, engineering and manufacturing 01‘ our core oﬁermos may
adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations; * we rely on a limited number of suppliers for
certaln raw materlals and supplied componentS° . unsatlstdctory pertonnance of our core oﬁermos feSﬂ-}trﬂg—frem—eha-Heﬁges

financial condition and Iesults of ODGI‘dtIOIlS * our results of operations and cash flows are substdntlally affected by our mix of
fixed- price, cost- plus and time- and- material type contracts; ¢ our cash flow and profitability could be reduced if expenditures
are incurred prior to the final receipt of a contract; * we may in the future invest significant resources in developing new
offerings and exploring the application of our technologies for other uses and those opportunities may never materialize; * we
may not be able to convert our orders in backlog into revenue; * we may use artificial intelligence in our business, and
challenges with properly managing its use could result in reputational harm, competitive harm, and legal liability, and adversely
affect our results of operations; « eurrelianee-we are dependent on third- party launch vehicles to launch our spacecraft and
customer payloads into space; * we may experience a total loss of our technology and ploducts and our customers’ payloads if
there is an accident on launch or during the journey into space y W —heave-may
eardoss—; ¢ our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to predict and
could cause our operating results to fall below expectations or any guidance we may provide ; » our margins and operating
results may suffer if we experience unfavorable changes in the proportion of cost- plus- fee or fixed- price contracts in
our total contract mix; * our systems, products, technologies and services and related equipment may have shorter useful
lives than we anticipate ; * cyber- attacks and other security threats and disruptions could have a material adverse effect on our
business; ¢ if we are not successful in attracting or retaining highly qualified personnel, we may not be able to successfully
implement our business strategy; ¢ our business, financial condition and results of operations are subject to risks resulting from
broader geographic operations; ¢ ear-net earnings and net assets could be materially affected by an impairment of goodwill; ¢
eur-pension funding and costs are dependent on several economic assumptions which, if changed, may cause our future results
of operations and cash flows to fluctuate significantly over time; Page 12 ¢ our ability to use net operating loss carryforwards
and certain other tax attributes may be limited; Government Contract Risks * we are subject to the requirements of the
National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual (“ NISPOM ”) for our facility security clearance, which is a
prerequisite to our ability to perform on classified contracts for the U. S. government; * we depend heavily on contracts
with the U. S government for a substantlal portlon of our bus1ness and changes in the U. S. gov ernment’ s priorities

, 2-could have an-a material adverse tmpaet-effect on our
;e we depend signiﬁcantly on U. S government contracts

ity 1nab111ty of our subcontractors to perform , en

e}assrﬁed-eeﬁtfaets—feﬁ or ﬂ%e—U—S—gevefﬂmeﬂt—our key suppllers to tlmely deliver our components, parts or services,

could cause our core offerings to be produced or delivered in an untimely or unsatisfactory manner ; Page+H-Regulatory

Risks ¢ investments in us may be subject to U. S. foreign investment regulations, which may impose conditions on or limit
certain investors’ ability to purchase our common stock, potentially making our common stock less attractive to

investors; * we are subject to stringent-U—S—eeonomiesanetions;aned-trade control laws and regulations , including export

controls and strlngent U. S. economlc sanctlons, whlch could affect our ablhty to do busmess w1th certain customers o if

egts i our be—reg-tstered—*—pfeteeﬁng—bus1ness is subject to a wide varlety
of addltlonal extensnve an defendmg—&ga-mst—mfeﬂeeﬁta-l—prﬂaeﬁy&e}&ﬂﬁs—evolwng government laws and regulations and




failure to comply with such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business; ¢ our reputation and
ability to do business may be impacted by the improper conduct of our employees, agents or business partners; ¢ failure
to comply with federal, state and foreign laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer
protection, or the expansion of current or the enactment of new laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection
and consumer protection, could adversely affect our business and our financial condition; * we are subject to
environmental regulation and may incur substantial costs; * changes in tax laws or regulations may increase tax
uncertainty and adversely affect results of our operations and our effective tax rate; ¢ if we cannot successfully protect
our intellectual property rights or defend against intellectual property claims, our business could suffer; ¢ our technology
may violate the proprietary rights of third parties, whlch could have a negative 1mpact on our operatlons, Risks Related
to Financing and the Owner%hrp of our Securme% 0 v ; 6 ;

add1t10nal fundrng to ﬁnance our operatronq but adequate add1t10nal ﬁnancrng may not be avarlable When we need 1t on

acceptable terms or at all; ¢ the v
he}defs-e-ﬁeﬂfea-pﬁal*sfeel&as-a—feﬁi-lt—ef—fhe—rsquance and qale of shares of our Serreq A Convertrble Preferred Stock has
reduced the relative voting power of holders of our common stock and diluted the ownership of holders of our capital
stock ; - AE-AEI Industrial-Partrers-and Bain Capital have significant influence over us, which could limit other investors’
ability to influence the outcome of key transactions; * provisions in the Certificate of Designation related to our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock may delay or prevent our acquisition by a third party, which could also reduce the market price of
our capital stock; ¢ our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has rights, preferences and privileges that are not held by, and are
preferential to, the rights of holders of our other outstanding capital stock; ¢ there may be sales of a substantial amount of our
common stock by our current shareholders and these sales could cause the price of our common stock to fall ‘—rt—ts—net—pessﬂs-le

fesﬁ&ng—ffem—t-hese—saleS'—Ri%k% Related to Being a Public Company we may not be able to remain in compliance With the
contmued llstmg requlrements of the NYSE ¢ we may issue additional common stock eur- or management-teamhas
7-other equity securities which could dilute our shareholders’ ownership
interests ; ° the ffad-mg—market price of our common stock and warrants 1s-has and may continue to fluctuate be-vetattde-; and °
i#f-we have identified material weaknesses in internal control over reporting. If we were to identify additional material
weaknesses or other deficiencies, or otherwise fail to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting, we may not be
able to accurately and timely report our financial results, in which case our business may be harmed and investors may lose
confidence in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports. Page 13 Risks Relating to the Company’ s Business and
Industry Our results could be affected by continued economic uncertainty, an economic slowdown or a recession. Heightened
levels of inflation and the potential worsening of macro- economic conditions, including slower growth or recession, changes to
fiscal and monetary policy, tighter credit, higher interest rates and currency fluctuations, present a risk for us, our suppliers and
the stability of our suppliers. Concerns about the systemic impact of a potential widespread recession (in the U. S. or
internationally) or geopolitical issues have led to increased market volatility and diminished growth expectations in the U. S.
economy and abroad. The foregoing factors have affected the Company’ s cost of capital, financial condition and results of
operations. Decreases in the availability and cost of supplies have caused stress in our domestic and foreign supplier base and
have resulted in shortages and delays for the procurement of materials, components and other supplies required for the
Company’ s products. The macroeconomic environment has also impacted the cost and schedule of numerous programs in our
existing backlog resulting in program execution delays. The near and long- term implication of these delays and the timing of
new awards remains uncertain. Although we believe acrospace spending is more resilient to adverse macro- economic
conditions than many other industrial sectors, our suppliers and other partners, many of which are more exposed to commercial
markets, may be adversely impacted by an economic downturn, which could affect their performance and adversely impact our
operations. In addition, macroeconomic conditions could cause budgetary pressures for our government customers resulting in
reductions or delays in spending, which could adversely impact our business. A reduction in spending by either government or
commercial customers could, in addition to impacting our revenues, affect our ability to raise additional capital when needed on
favorable terms or at all. As such, if economic conditions worsen or a recession occurs, our business, operations and financial
results could be materially adversely affected. As it relates to our international operations in Europe, the Company has foreign
currency translation exposure between the euro and U. S. dollar as our results are expressed in U. S. dollars. Page+2-The failure
of financial institutions or transactional counterparties could adversely affect our current and prOJected business operations and
our ﬁnancral condition and reqult% of oper atron% We iareh Y y v W

feeeivefship—we—regularly maintain Caqh balance% Wrth ﬁt-heikﬁnancral institutions in excess of the FDIC insurance lnnrt A
failure of a depository institution to return deposits could impact access to our invested cash or cash equivalents and could
adversely impact our operating liquidity and financial performance. Additionally, future adverse developments with respect to
specific financial institutions or the broader financial services industry may lead to market- wide liquidity shortages, impair the
ability of companies to access near- term working capital needs, and create additional market and economic uncertainty. There
can be no assurance that future credit and financial market instability and a deterioration in confidence in economic conditions
will not occur. Our general business strategy, including our ability to access existing debt under the terms of our Adams Street
Credit Agreement, may be adversely affected by any such economic downturn, liquidity shortages, volatile business
environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. The tightening of credit in financial markets inside and



outside of the U. S. could adversely affect the ability of our customers and suppliers to obtain financing and could result in a
decrease in or cancellation of orders for our products and services or impact the ability of our customers to make payments. If
the current equity and credit markets deteriorate, or if adverse developments are experienced by financial institutions, it may
cause short- term liquidity risk and also make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly, and more
dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse
effect on our growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to alter our operating plans. We have
limited operating history in an evolving industry and a history of losses to date, which makes it difficult to forecast our revenue,
plan our expenses and evaluate our business and future prospects. We have a limited operating history in a rapidly evolving
industry that may not develop in a manner favorable to our business. While our business has grown rapidly, and much of that
growth has occurred in recent periods, space systems, spacecraft components and space data applications may not continue to
develop in a manner that we expect or that otherwise would be favorable to our business. Although we are focused on achieving
profitability, there are no assurances we will be able to meet our goals or be able to sustain profitability in future periods. As a
result of our limited operating history, history of operating losses and ongoing changes in our new and evolving industry,
including evolving demand for our core offerings, our ability to forecast our future results of operations and plan for and model
future growth is limited and subject to a number of uncertainties. We have encountered and expect to continue to encounter risks
and uncertainties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly evolving industries, such as the risks and
uncertainties described herein. Accordingly, we may be unable to prepare accurate internal financial forecasts or replace
anticipated revenue that we do not receive as a result of delays arising from these factors, and our results of operations in future
reporting periods may be below the expectations of investors or analysts. If we do not address these risks successfully, our
results of operations could Page 14 differ materially from our estimates and forecasts or the expectations of investors or
analysts, causing our business to suffer and our common stock price to decline. As part of growing our business, we have made
and may continue to make acquisitions. Any acquisitions, partnerships or joint ventures into which we enter could disrupt our
operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. From time to time,
we may evaluate potential strategic acquisitions of businesses, including partnerships or joint ventures with third parties, to add
new products and technologies, acquire talent, grow new sales channels or enter into new markets or sales territories. We may
not be successful in identifying acquisition, partnership and joint venture candidates. We may also participate in partnerships or
joint ventures as a result of acquisitions. In addition to possible shareholder approval, we may need approvals and licenses from
relevant government authorities for the acquisitions to comply with applicable laws and regulations, and a failure to obtain such
approvals and licenses could result in delays in completing an acquisition and increased costs, and may disrupt our business
strategy. Furthermore, acquisitions and the subsequent integration of new assets, businesses, key personnel, customers, vendors
and suppliers require significant attention from our management and could result in a diversion of resources from our existing
business, which in turn could have an adverse effect on our operations. Acquired assets or businesses may not generate the
financial results we expect. Acquisitions could result in the use of substantial amounts of cash, potentially dilutive issuances of
equity securities and potential exposure to unknown liabilities of the acquired business. Moreover, the costs of identifying and
consummating acquisitions may be significant. We may not be able to continue the operational success of the businesses we
acquire or successfully finance or integrate such businesses or the businesses with which we form a partnership or joint venture.
In addition, we may have potential write- offs of Page+3-acquired assets and / or an impairment of any goodwill recorded as a
result of such acquisitions or participations. Furthermore, the integration of any acquisition may divert management’ s time and
resources from our core business and disrupt our operations or may result in conflicts with our business. Any acquisition,
partnership or joint venture may not be successful, may reduce our cash reserves, may negatively affect our earnings and
financial performance and, to the extent financed with the proceeds of debt, may increase our indebtedness. Further, depending
on market conditions, investor perceptions of the Company and other factors, we might not be able to obtain financing on
acceptable terms, or at all, to implement any such transaction. We cannot ensure that any acquisition, partnership or joint venture
we make will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our ability to
grow our business depends on the successful development and continued refinement of many of our proprietary technologies,
products, and service offerings, which are subject to many uncertainties, some of which are beyond our control. The market for
our core space infrastructure offerings is characterized by rapid change and technological improvements. The success of our
business depends in part on effectively designing, producing and engineering developmental technologies related to our core
space infrastructure offerings. If for any reason we are unable to continue to manufacture, design and develop technologies as
planned or provide the services and products that our customers expect from us, this could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. We have derived, and we expect to continue to derive, a substantial
portion of our revenues from providing innovative products included in our core space infrastructure offerings that are based
upon today’ s leading technologies and that are capable of adapting to future technologies. As a result, our success will depend,
in part, on our ability to develop and market product and service offerings that respond in a timely manner to the technological
advances of our customers, evolving industry standards and changing customer preferences. We may not be successful in
identifying, developing and marketing products or systems that respond to rapid technological change, evolving technical
standards and systems developed by others. If our current or future core offerings do not meet expected performance or quality
standards, including with respect to customer safety and satisfaction, this could cause operational delays. In addition, any delay
in manufacturing new products as planned could increase costs and cause our core offerings to be less attractive to potential new
customers. Further, certain government bodies may have priority with respect to the use of our core offerings for national
defense reasons, which may impact our cadence of producing and selling our core offerings to other customers. Any production,
operational or manufacturing delays or other unplanned changes to our ability to design, develop and manufacture or offer our
core offerings could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We believe



that, in order to remain competitive in the future, we will need to continue to invest significant financial resources to develop
new offerings and technologies or to adapt or modify our existing core offerings and technologies, including through internal
research and development, acquisitions and joint ventures or other teaming arrangements. These expenditures could divert our
attention and resources from other projects, and we cannot be sure that these expenditures will ultimately lead to the timely
development of new offerings and technologies or identification of and expansion into new markets. Due to the design
complexity of our offerings, we may, in the future, experience delays in completing the development and introduction of new
offerings. Any delays could result in increased costs of development or deflect resources from other projects. In addition, there
can be no assurance that the Page 15 market for our core offerings will develop or continue to expand or that we will be
successful in newly identified markets as we currently anticipate. Any failure to increase our revenue sufficiently to keep pace
with our investments and other expenses could prevent us from maintaining or increasing profitability or positive cash flow.
Furthermore, if our future growth and operating performance fail to meet investor or analyst expectations, or if we have future
negative cash flow or losses resulting from expanding our operations, this could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, we cannot be sure that our competitors will not develop competing
technologies that gain market acceptance in advance of our offerings. We also rely on our customers to fund / co- fund
development of new offerings and technologies. If our customers reduce their investments, that may impact our ability to bring
new offerings and technologies to market and / or increase the investment that is necessary for the Company to make in order to
remain competitive, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial
condition. Additionally, the possibility exists that our competitors might develop new technology or offerings that might cause
our existing technology and core offerings to become obsolete. If we fail in our new offering development efforts or our core
offerings fail to achieve market acceptance more rapidly as compared to our competitors, our ability to procure new contracts
could be negatively impacted, which could negatively impact our results of operations and financial condition. Competition
from existing or new companies could cause us to experience downward pressure on prices, fewer customer orders, reduced
margins, the inability to take advantage of new business opportunities, and the loss of market share. We operate in competitive
markets and generally encounter highly diverse competition to win contracts from other firms, including lower and mid- tier
federal contractors with specialized capabilities, large defense contractors and the federal government. Page+4-Additionally, our
markets are facing increasing industry consolidation, resulting in larger competitors who have more market share putting more
downward pressure on prices and offering a more robust portfolio of products and services. We are subject to competition based
upon product design, performance, pricing, quality, and services. Our product performance, engineering expertise, and product
quality have been important factors in our growth. While we try to maintain competitive pricing on those products that are
directly comparable to products manufactured by others, in many instances our products will conform to more exacting
specifications and carry a higher price than analogous products. Many of our customers and potential customers have the
capacity to design and internally manufacture products that are similar to our core offerings. We face competition from research
and product development groups and the manufacturing operations of current and potential customers, who continually evaluate
the benefits of internal research, product development, and manufacturing versus outsourcing. Our customers could decide to
pursue one or more of our product development areas as a core competency and insource that technology development and
production rather than purchase that capability from us as a supplier. This competition could result in fewer customer orders and
a loss of market share. We compete domestically and internationally against space systems components providers, including
Moog Inc., Space Micro Inc., Rocket Lab USA, Inc. (a segment of Rocket Labs), and in some cases against large companies
such as Nerthrap-Northrop Grumman. We may also face competition in the future from emerging low- cost competitors in
Europe, India, Russia and China. Competition in our guidance, navigation and control business is highly diverse, and while our
competitors offer different products, there is often competition for contracts that are part of governmental budgets. In addition,
some of our foreign competitors currently benefit from, and others may benefit in the future from, protective measures by their
home countries where governments are providing financial support, including significant investments in the development of
new technologies. Government support of this nature greatly reduces the commercial risks associated with acrospace technology
development activities for these competitors. This market environment may result in increased pressures on our pricing and
other competitive factors. We believe our ability to compete successfully in designing, engineering and manufacturing our core
offerings at significantly reduced cost to customers does and will depend on a number of factors, which may change in the
future due to increased competition, our ability to meet our customers’ needs and the frequency and availability of our offerings.
If we are unable to compete successfully, our business, financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected.
A limited number of customers make up a high percentage of our revenue. If we cannot maintain these relationships, our future
operating results will be adversely affected. Revenues from our two largest customers -CustonterA-and-CustomerB-were
approximately +6-10 % and +4-35 % srespeetively;-of our total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . The
revenue attributable to our top customers has fluctuated in the past and may fluctuate in the future, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects. In addition, the termination
of these relationships, including following any failure to renew a long- term contract, could result in a temporary or permanent
loss of revenue. Page 16 Matters relating to or arising from our Audit Committee investigation, including regulatory
investigations and proceedings, litigation matters, and potential additional expenses, may adversely affect our business and
results of operations. We may also become involved in litigation from time to time that may materially adversely affect us. On
November 5, 2021, the Company was notified of potential accounting issues with a business unit by an employee in connection
with his resignation. Management promptly informed the independent Audit Committee and its independent registered public
accounting firm. The Audit Committee promptly engaged independent, external legal and accounting firms to complete an
independent investigation. After completing its investigation, the Audit Committee concluded that the potential issues raised by
the former employee did not require a restatement or adjustment of the Company’ s previously issued consolidated financial



statements relating to any prior periods, even though the investigation confirmed the existence of previously identified internal
control deficiencies as well as identified certain additional internal control deficiencies. The Company self- reported this matter
to the SEC on November 8, 2021 and on August 1, 2023, the SEC notified the Company’ s counsel that this matter is closed.
Additionally, on December 17, 2021, the Company, our CEO, Peter Cannito, and, our then current, but now former CFO,
William Read, were named as defendants in a putative class action complaint filed in the United States District Court for the
Middle District of Florida. In the complaint, the plaintiff alleges that the Company and certain of its directors and officers made
misleading statements and / or failed to disclose material facts about the Company’ s business, operations, and prospects,
allegedly in violation of Section 10 (b) (and Rule 10b- 5 promulgated thereunder) and Section 20 (a) of the Exchange Act. As

relief, the plaintiffs are seeking, among other things, compensatory damages. Fhe-defendants-believe-the-alegations-are-without

merit-and-ntend-to-defend-the-suit-vigereusty—On August 16, 2022, the defendants moved to dismiss the complaint in its
entirety, and such motion was denied by the Court on March 22, 2023. Hewever-On November 15 , given-2024, the Company

and plaintiffs filed a joint motion for a stipulated order to settle this litigation pursuant to a settlement agreement
entered into among the parties. Under the terms of the agreement, Redwire will pay $ 8. 0 million to settle claims
brought on behalf of purchasers of Redwire’ s publicly traded shares from March 25, 2021, through March 31, 2022.
Redwire has also agreed to certification of a settlement class to facilitate resolution of claims. The Company has
consistently denied the accusations and entered into this proposed settlement, which is not an admission or concession of
liability, to avoid the costs and risks inherent in continued litigation. The settlement would resolve all claims against
Redwire Corporation and other defendants in this matter. The settlement has received preliminary approval from the
court but remains subject to final court approval. The Company has recognized a loss contingency of $ 8. 0 million and a
$ 1. 0 million anticipated insurance recovery as of December 31 2024 which is its best estimate of probable loss and
recovery based on the current clrcumstances stag d
Page—lé—On May 25, 2022 a plamtlff commenced derlvatlve htlgatlon in the

United States District Court for the District of Delaware on behalf of the Company against Peter Cannito, Les Daniels, Reggie
Brothers, Joanne Isham, Kirk Konert, Jonathan Baliff, and John S. Bolton. That litigation is captioned Yingling v. Cannito, et
al., Case No. 1: 22- cv- 00684- MN (D. Del.). The complaint’ s allegations are similar to those of the class action lawsuit filed in
December 2021, namely, that statements about Redwire’ s business and operations were misleading due to alleged material
weaknesses in the Company’ s financial reporting internal controls. The plaintiff alleges the defendants violated Section 10 (b)
(and Rule 10b- 5 promulgated thereunder) and Section 20 (a) of the Exchange Act, breached their fiduciary duty by allowing
misleading disclosures to be made, and caused the Company to overpay compensation and bonuses tied to the Company’ s
financial performance. As relief, the plaintiffs are seeking, among other things, compensatory and punitive damages. This
lmganon has—had prevmusly been 9tayed pendmg resolutlon w&ﬁ%ﬁhe—e&rheeef—éﬁ—ﬁ-fteen—ﬂ%—dws—feﬂeﬁ&ng—fhe—sﬁwﬂee-ef

Re 7 ; 3 of the class action lawsuit
ﬁled on December 17 2021 3 Smce that matter is now before the court eiefor approval G-twenty(20)-days-foHowing
notiee-by-eitherparty-of a settlement agreement, anotherpending-derivative-action-and-where-the eontinuanee-ofswehstay in
may-or-will-prejfudiee-the notieingpartys-rights-Yingling matter has automatically lifted . The defendants believe the

allegations are without merit and intend to defend the lawsuit vigorously. Hewever-This matter is currently in the early
stages of discovery , and a reasonable estimate of the amount of any possible loss or range of loss cannot be made at this time.
From time to time, we have also become and may in the future be involved in legal proceedings relating to various matters,
including intellectual property, commercial, employment, class action, whistleblower and other litigation and claims, as well as
governmental and other regulatory investigations and proceedings. Litigation and governmental and regulatory investigations
and proceedings are time- consuming, and may divert management’ s attention and resources, cause us to incur significant
expenses or liability or require us to change our business practices. Because of the potential risks, expenses and uncertainties of
litigation, we may, from time to time, settle disputes, even where we believe that we have meritorious claims or defenses.
Because litigation and governmental and regulatory investigations and proceedings are inherently unpredictable, we cannot
assure you that the results of any of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on our business. Natural disasters,
geopolitical conflicts, or other natural or man- made catastrophic events could disrupt and impact our business. Occurrence of
any catastrophic event, including an earthquake, flood, tsunami, or other weather event, power loss, internet failure, software or
hardware malfunctions, cyber attack, war or foreign invasion (such as the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Isracl- Hamas
war), terrorist attack, medical epidemic or pandemic (such as the COVID- 19 pandemic), government shutdown orders, other
man- made disasters, or other catastrophic events could disrupt our, our business partners’ and customers’ business operations or
result in disruptions in the broader global economic environment. Any of these business disruptions may disrupt our business
and materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. Page 17 Adverse publicity stemming from any
incident or perceived risk involving us, our customers, users of our products and services, other operators in the space sector or
our competitors could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. We are at risk
of adverse publicity stemming from any public incident or perceived risk involving our Company, our customers, users of our
core offerings, other operators in the space sector, our competitors, our people or our brand. If certain of our core offerings are
sold to customers, and if such customers were to be involved in a public incident, accident or catastrophe, or if the market
believed there to be substantial risks within our industry, this could create an adverse public perception of spaceflight and result
in decreased customer demand for spaceflight experiences, which could cause a material adverse effect on our business,
financial conditions and results of operations. The insurance we carry may be inapplicable or inadequate to cover any such
incident, accident or catastrophe. In the event that our insurance is inapplicable or not adequate, we may be forced to bear
substantial losses from any such incident, accident or catastrophe. Our business involves significant risks and uncertainties that
may not be covered by insurance or indemnity. A significant portion of our business relates to designing, developing,




engineering and manufacturing our core space infrastructure offerings. New technologies may be untested or unproven. Failure
of some of these offerings could result in extensive property damage. Accordingly, we may incur liabilities that are unique to
our core offerings. We endeavor to obtain insurance coverage from established insurance carriers to cover these risks and
liabilities consistent with industry norms. However, the amount of insurance coverage that we maintain may not be adequate to
cover all claims or liabilities. Existing coverage may be canceled while we remain exposed to the risk and it is not possible to
obtain insurance to protect against all operational risks, natural hazards and liabilities. We have historically insured certain of our
core offerings to the extent that insurance was available on acceptable premiums and other terms. The insurance proceeds
received in connection with a partial or total loss of the functional capacity of certain of our core offerings would not be
sufficient to cover the replacement cost, if we choose to do so, of such offerings. In addition, this insurance will not protect us
against all losses to our core offerings due to specified exclusions, deductibles and material change limitations and it may be
difficult to insure against certain risks, including on- orbit performance of an overall system or portion of such a system. In
addition, problems and delays in development or delivery as a result of issues with respect to design, technology, licensing and
patent Page-+6-rights, labor, learning curve assumptions or materials and components could prevent us from achieving
contractual requirements. In many circumstances, we may receive indemnification from the U. S. government. We generally do
not receive indemnification from foreign governments. The price and availability of insurance fluctuate significantly. Although
we have historically been able to obtain insurance coverage, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to do so in the future. Any
determination we make as to whether to obtain insurance coverage will depend on a variety of factors, including the availability
of insurance in the market, the cost of available insurance and other factors. Insurance market conditions or factors outside our
control at the time we are in the market for the required insurance, such as unrelated launch failures and on- orbit failures, could
cause premiums to be significantly higher than current estimates and could reduce amounts of available coverage. The cost of
our insurance has been increasing and may continue to increase. Higher premiums on insurance policies will reduce our
operating income by the amount of such increased premiums. If the terms become less favorable than those currently available,
there may be limits on the amount of coverage that we can obtain or we may not be able to obtain insurance at all. In addition,
any accident or incident for which we are liable, even if fully insured, could negatively affect our standing with our customers
and the public, thereby making it more difficult for us to compete effectively, and could significantly impact the cost and
availability of adequate insurance in the future. Any disruption of our ability to operate our business could result in a material
decrease in our revenues or significant additional costs to replace, repair or insure our assets, which could have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. If we fail to respond to commercial industry cycles in terms
of our cost structure, manufacturing capacity, and / or personnel needs, our business could be seriously harmed. The timing,
length, and severity of the up- and- down cycles in the commercial space, defense, space and space- related industries, as a
result of macro- economic conditions, market- wide liquidity shortages or for other reasons, are difficult to predict. The cyclical
nature of the industries in which we operate affects our ability to accurately predict future revenue, and in some cases, future
expense levels. During down cycles in our industry, the financial results of our customers may be negatively impacted, which
could result not only in a decrease in orders but also a weakening of their financial condition that could impair our ability to
recognize revenue or to collect on outstanding receivables. When cyclical fluctuations result in lower than expected revenue
levels, operating results may be adversely affected and cost reduction measures may be necessary in order for us to remain
competitive and financially sound. We must be in a position to adjust our cost and expense structure to reflect prevailing market
conditions and to continue to motivate and retain our key Page 18 employees. If we fail to respond, then our business could be
seriously harmed. In addition, during periods of rapid growth, we must be able to increase engineering and manufacturing
capacity and personnel to meet customer demand. We can provide no assurance that these objectives can be met in a timely
manner in response to industry cycles. Each of these factors could adversely impact our operating results and financial
condition. Any delays in the development, design, engineering and manufacturing of our core offerings produets-and-serviees
may adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. We have previously experienced, and may
experience in the future, delays or other complications in the design, manufacture, production, delivery and servicing ramp of
our core space infrastructure offerings. If delays like this arise or recur, if our remediation measures and process changes do not
continue to be successful or if we experience issues with planned manufacturing improvements or design and safety, we could
experience issues or delays in increasing production further. If we encounter difficulties in scaling our delivery or servicing
capabilities, if we fail to develop and successfully commercialize our core offerings, if we fail to develop such technologies
before our competitors, or if such technologies fail to perform as expected, are inferior to those of our competitors or are
perceived to offer less mission assurance than those of our competitors, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially and adversely impacted. and results of operations. We rely on a limited number of suppliers for
certain raw materials and supplied components.We may not be able to obtain sufficient raw materials or supplied components to
meet our manufacturing,design and operating needs,or obtain such materials on favorable terms or at all,which could impair our
ability to fulfill our orders in a timely manner or increase our costs of design and production.Our ability to produce our current
and future core space infrastructure offerings and other components of operation is dependent upon sufficient availability of raw
materials and supplied components,which we secure from a limited number of suppliers.Our reliance on suppliers to secure raw
materials and supplied components exposes us to volatility in the prices and availability of these materials. We may not be able
to obtain sufficient supplies of raw materials or supplied components on favorable terms or at all,which could result in delays in
the manufacture of our core space infrastructure offerings or increased costs.In addition,we may in the future experience delays
in manufacturing or operation as we go through the requalification process with any replacement third- party supplier,as well as
the limitations imposed by the ITAR,the EAR,or other restrictions on transfer of sensitive technologies.Moreover,the imposition
of tariffs on such raw materials or supplied components could have a material adverse effect on our operations.Prolonged
disruptions in the supply of any of our key raw materials or components,difficulty qualifying new sources of



supply,implementing use of replacement materials or new sources of supply or any volatility in prices could have a material
adverse effect on our ability to operate in a cost- efficient,timely manner and could cause us to experience cancellations or
delays of scheduled missions,customer cancellations or reductions in our prices and margins,any of which could harm our
business,financial condition and-results-efoperations—Unsatisfactory performance of our core offerings produets-and-serviees
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation. We manufacture, design and
engineer highly sophisticated core space infrastructure offerings that depend on complex technology. While we have built
operational processes to ensure that the design, manufacture, performance and servicing meet rigorous performance goals, there
can be no assurance that we will not experience operational or process failures and other problems, including through
manufacturing or design defects, operator error, cyber- attacks or other intentional acts, that could result in potential safety risks.
Any actual or perceived safety or mission assurance issue may result in significant reputational harm to our businesses, in
addition to tort liability, maintenance, increased mission assurance infrastructure and other costs that may arise. Further, the
uncertainty of harsh space environmental risks, such as satellite ingestion, solar flares, coronal mass ejectors, meteor showers
and other extreme space weather events also may cause the performance of our core offerings to be unsatisfactory. Such issues
with our core offerings could result in our customers’ delaying or cancelling planned missions, increased regulation or other
systemic Page+Fconsequences. Our inability to meet our mission assurance standards or adverse publicity affecting our
reputation as a result of accidents, mechanical failures, damages to customer property could have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition and results of operation. Our core offerings are extremely complex and must operate
successfully with complex products of our customers and their other vendors. Our core offerings may contain undetected errors
when first introduced or as we introduce product upgrades. The pressures we face to be the first to market new products or
functionality and the elapsed time before our core offerings are integrated into our customers’ systems increases the possibility
that we will offer products in which we or our customers later discover problems. We have experienced new product and
product upgrade errors in the past and may experience similar problems in the future. These problems may cause us to incur
significant warranty costs, costs to support our service contracts, expenses not covered by insurance or indemnification from the
customer and divert the attention of personnel from our product development efforts. Also, hostile third Page 19 parties or
nation states may try to install malicious code or devices into our core offerings. Undetected errors may adversely affect our
core offerings ease of use and may create customer satisfaction issues. If we are unable to repair these problems in a timely
manner, we may experience a loss of or delay in revenue and significant damage to our reputation and business prospects. Many
of our customers rely upon our core offerings for mission- critical applications. Because of this reliance, errors, defects, or other
performance problems in our core offerings could result in significant financial and other damage to our customers. Our
customers could attempt to recover those losses by pursuing products liability claims against us which, even if unsuccessful,
would likely be time- consuming and costly to defend and could adversely affect our reputation. As a result, either we or the
customer may terminate a contract as a result of process failures, undetected errors or a material uncured breach by the other. If
we breach a contract or fail to perform in accordance with contractual service levels, delivery schedules, performance
specifications, or other contractual requirements set forth therein, the other party thereto may terminate such contract for default,
and we may be required to refund money previously paid to us by the customer or to pay penalties or other damages. Even if we
have not breached, we may deal with various situations from time to time that may result in the amendment or termination of a
contract. These steps can result in significant current period charges and / or reductions in current or future revenue, and / or
delays in collection of outstanding receivables and costs incurred on the contract. Our results of operations and cash flows are
substantially affected by our mix of fixed- price, cost- plus and time- and- material type contracts. Our profits may decrease and
/ or we may incur significant unanticipated costs if we do not accurately estimate the costs of these engagements. We generate
revenue through various fixed- price, cost- plus and time- and- material (“ T & M ”) contracts. A significant number of our
arrangements with our customers are on fixed- price contracts, rather than contracts in which payment to us is determined on a T
& M or other basis. These fixed- price contracts allow us to benefit from any cost savings we achieve, but also subject us to the
risk of potential cost overruns, particularly for firm fixed- price contracts because we assume all of the cost burden. We evaluate
the contract value and cost estimates for performance obligations at least quarterly, and more frequently when circumstances
change significantly. If our initial estimates are incorrect, we can lose money on these contracts. U. S. government contracts can
expose us to potentially large losses because the U. S. government can hold us responsible for completing a project or, in certain
circumstances, paying the entire cost of its replacement by another provider regardless of the size or foreseeability of any cost
overruns that occur over the life of the contract. Because many of these contracts involve new technologies and applications and
can last for years, unforeseen events, such as technological difficulties, fluctuations in the price of raw materials, a significant
increase in inflation in the U. S. or other countries, problems with our suppliers and cost overruns, can result in the contractual
price becoming less favorable or even unprofitable to us over time. Our failure to estimate accurately the resources and schedule
required for a project, or our failure to complete our contractual obligations in a manner consistent with the project plan upon
which our fixed- price contract was based, could adversely affect our overall profitability and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We are consistently entering into contracts for large
projects that magnify this risk. We have been required to commit unanticipated additional resources to complete projects in the
past, which has occasionally resulted in losses on those contracts. We could experience similar situations in the future. In
addition, we may fix the price for some projects at an early stage of the project engagement, which could result in a fixed price
that is too low. Therefore, any changes from our original estimates could adversely affect our business, financial condition, and
results of operations. Our cash flow and profitability could be reduced if expenditures are incurred prior to the final receipt of a
contract. We provide various professional services, specialized products, and sometimes procure equipment and materials on
behalf of our customers under various contractual arrangements. From time to time, in order to ensure that we satisfy our
customers’ delivery requirements and schedules, we may elect to initiate procurement in advance of receiving final authorization



from the government customer or a prime contractor. In addition, from time to time, we may build production units in advance
of receiving an anticipated contract award. If our government or prime contractor customer’ s requirements should change or if
the government or the prime contractor should direct the anticipated procurement to another contractor, or if the anticipated
contract award does not materialize, or if the equipment or materials become obsolete or require modification before we are
under contract for the procurement, our Page48-investment in the equipment or materials might be at risk if we cannot
efficiently resell them. This could reduce anticipated earnings or result in a loss, negatively affecting our cash flow and
profitability. We may in the future invest significant resources in developing new offerings and exploring the application of our
technologies for other uses and those opportunities may never materialize. While our primary focus for the foreseeable future
will be on our core space infrastructure offerings, we may invest significant resources in developing new technologies, services,
products and offerings. However, we may not realize the expected benefits of these investments. In addition, we expect to
explore the application of our proprietary technologies for other commercial and government uses, including those that are
Earth- based. These anticipated technologies, however, are unproven and these products or technologies may never materialize
or be commercialized in a way that would allow us to generate ancillary revenue streams. Relatedly, if such technologies
become viable offerings in the future, we may be subject to competition from our competitors within Page 20 the space-
infrastructure industry, some of which may have substantially greater monetary and knowledge resources than we have and
expect to have in the future to devote to the development of these technologies. Such competition or any limitations on our
ability to take advantage of such technologies could impact our market share, which could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Such research and development initiatives may also have a high degree of
risk and involve unproven business strategies and technologies with which we have limited operating or development
experience. They may involve claims and liabilities (including, but not limited to, personal injury claims), expenses, regulatory
challenges and other risks that we may not be able to anticipate. There can be no assurance that consumer demand for such
initiatives will exist or be sustained at the levels that we anticipate, or that any of these initiatives will gain sufficient traction or
market acceptance to generate sufficient revenue to offset any new expenses or liabilities associated with these new investments.
Further, any such research and development efforts could distract management from current operations, and would divert capital
and other resources from our more established offerings and technologies. Even if we were to be successful in developing new
products, services, offerings or technologies, regulatory authorities may subject us to new rules or restrictions in response to our
innovations that may increase our expenses or prevent us from successfully commercializing new products, services, offerings
or technologies. We may not be able to convert our orders in backlog into revenue. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , our
contracted backlog consisted of $ 372-296 . 8-7 million in customer contracts. However, many of these contracts are cancellable
by customers for convenience. In the event of a cancellation for convenience, we are generally entitled to be compensated for
the work performed up to the date of cancellation. The remaining amounts may not be collected in this situation. In addition,
backlog is typically subject to large variations from quarter to quarter and comparisons of backlog from period to period are not
necessarily indicative of future revenues. Furthermore, some contracts comprising the backlog are for services scheduled many
years in the future, and the economic viability of customers with whom we have contracted is not guaranteed over time. As a
result, the contracts comprising our backlog may not result in actual revenue in any particular period or at all, and the actual
revenue from such contracts may differ from our backlog estimates. The timing of receipt of revenues, if any, on projects
included in backlog could change because many factors affect the scheduling of missions and adjustments to contracts may also
occur. The failure to realize some portion of our backlog could adversely affect our revenues and gross margins. Furthermore,
the presentation of our financial results requires us to make estimates and assumptions that may affect revenue recognition and
changes in estimates are likely to occur from period to period. Accordingly, actual results could differ significantly from our
estimates. We may use artificial intelligence in our business, and challenges with properly managing its use could result in
reputational harm, competitive harm, and legal liability, and adversely affect our results of operations. We may incorporate Al
solutions into our core offerings, and these applications may become important in our operations over time. Our competitors or
other third parties may incorporate Al into their products or services more quickly or more successfully than we may, which
could impair our ability to compete effectively and adversely affect our results of operations. Additionally, if the content,
analyses, or recommendations that Al applications assist in producing are or are alleged to be deficient, inaccurate, or biased,
our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected. The use of Al applications has resulted in,
and may in the future result in, cybersecurity incidents. Any such cybersecurity incidents related to our use of Al applications
could adversely affect our reputation and results of operations. Al also presents emerging ethical issues and if our use of Al
becomes controversial, we may experience brand or reputational harm, competitive harm, or legal liability. The rapid evolution
of Al, including potential government regulation of Al, will require significant resources to develop, test and maintain our
platform, offerings, services, and features to help us implement Al ethically in order to minimize unintended, harmful impact.
Page19-We are dependent on third- party launch vehicles to launch our spacecraft and customer payloads into space. Currently
there are only a handful of companies who offer launch services, and if this sector of the space industry does not grow or there is
consolidation among these companies, this could result in a shortage of space on these launch Vehlcles and we may not be
able to secure space on a launch vehicle y W latneh—~
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shortage of space available on launch vehicles may cause prices to increase or cause delays in our ability to ‘meet our customers’
needs. Elther of these situations could have a materlal adverse € ; ; al-eon ;



pemd—w%&eh—eould—have—a—mateﬂal-effect on our results of operatlons and ﬁnancnal cond1t10n We may expenence a total loss of
our technology and products and our customers’ payloads if there is an accident on launch or during the journey into space yand
y ; ss-. Although there have been and will continue to be technological
advances in spaceﬂ1ght itis st1ll an 1nherently dangerous activity. Explosions and other accidents on launch or during the flight
have occurred and will likely occur in the future. If such incidents should occur, we will likely experience a total loss of our
systems, products, technologies and services and our customers’ payloads. The total or partial loss of one or more of our
products or customer payloads could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. For
some missions, we can elect to buy launch insurance, which can reduce our monetary losses from the Page 21 launch failure,
but even in this case we will have losses associated with our inability to test our technology in space and delays with further
technology development. Our operating results may fluctuate significantly, which makes our future operating results difficult to
predict and could cause our operating results to fall below expectations or any guidance we may provide. Our quarterly and
annual revenue and operating results have fluctuated and may fluctuate significantly, which makes it difficult for us to predict
our future operating results. Reductions in revenue in a particular quarter could lead to lower profitability in that quarter because
a relatively large amount of our expenses are fixed in the short- term. We may incur significant operating expenses during the
start- up and early stages of large contracts and may not be able to recognize corresponding revenue in that same quarter. We
may also incur additional expenses when contracts are terminated or expire and are not renewed as a result of the customer
experiencing a change in control or otherwise. In addition, payments due to us from our customers may be delayed due to billing
cycles or as a result of failures of government budgets to gain congressional and administration approval in a timely manner.
The U. S. government’ s fiscal year ends September 30. If a federal budget for the next federal fiscal year has not been
approved by that date in each year, our customers may have to suspend engagements that we are working on until a budget has
been approved. Any such suspensions may reduce our revenue in the fourth quarter of the federal fiscal year or the first quarter
of the subsequent federal fiscal year. The U. S. government’ s fiscal year end can also trigger increased purchase requests from
customers for equipment and materials. Any increased purchase requests we receive as a result of the U. S. government’ s fiscal
year end would serve to increase our third or fourth quarter revenue, but will generally decrease profit margins for that quarter,
as these activities generally are not as profitable as our typical offerings. Additional factors that may cause our financial results
to fluctuate from quarter to quarter include those addressed elsewhere in this “ Risk Factors  section and the following factors,
among others:  the terms of customer contracts that affect the timing of revenue recognition; ¢ variability in demand for our
services and solutions; * commencement, completion or termination of contracts during any particular quarter; * timing of
shipments and product deliveries; ¢ timing of award or performance incentive fee notices; ¢ timing of significant bid and
proposal costs; * the costs of remediating unknown defects, errors or performance problems of our product offerings; Page-26-
unexpected weather patterns, natural disasters or other events that force a cancellation or rescheduling of launches; ¢ the cost of
raw materials or supplied components critical for the manufacture and operation of our core space infrastructure offerings; ¢
variable purchasing patterns under blanket purchase agreements and other indefinite delivery / indefinite quantity (“ IDIQ ™)
contracts; * restrictions on and delays related to the export of defense articles and services; ¢ costs related to government
inquiries, changes in governmental regulations or in the status of our regulatory approvals or applications; « strategic decisions
by us or our competitors, such as acquisitions, divestitures, spin- offs and joint ventures; ¢ strategic investments or changes in
business strategy; * the timing and cost of, and level of investment in, research and development relating to our core offerings
and our current or future facilities ¢ changes in the extent to which we use subcontractors; ¢ seasonal fluctuations in our staff
utilization rates; * changes in our effective tax rate, including changes in our judgment as to the necessity of the valuation
allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets; * the length of sales cycles; ¢ future accounting pronouncements or changes
in our accounting policies; ¢ the impact of epidemics or pandemics; and Page 22 * general market conditions and other factors,
including factors unrelated to our operating performance or the operating performance of our competitors. The individual or
cumulative effects of factors discussed above could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and annual
operating results. As a result, comparing our operating results on a period- to- period basis may not be meaningful. This
variability and unpredictability could also result in our failing to meet the expectations of industry or financial analysts or
investors for any period. If our revenue or operating results fall below the expectations of analysts or investors or below any
guidance we may provide, or if any guidance we provide is below the expectations of analysts or investors, the price of our
common stock could decline substantially. Such a stock price decline could occur even when we have met any previously
publicly stated guidance we may provide. Additionally, significant fluctuations in our operating results for a particular quarter
could cause us to fall out of compliance with the financial covenants related to our debt, which if not waived, could restrict our
access to capital and cause us to take extreme measures to pay down the debt, if any, under the Adams Street Credit Agreement.
Our margins and operating results may suffer if we experience unfavorable changes in the proportion of cost- plus- fee or fixed-
price contracts in our total contract mix. Although fixed- price contracts entail a greater risk of a reduced profit or financial loss
on a contract compared to other types of contracts we enter into, fixed- price contracts typically provide higher profit
opportunities because we may be able to benefit from cost savings and operating efficiencies. In contrast, cost- plus- fee
contracts are subject to statutory limits on profit margins and generally are the least profitable of our contract types. Our
customers could influence or determine what type of contract we enter into and to the extent that we enter into more cost- plus-
fee or less fixed- price contracts in proportion to our total contract mix in the future, our margins and operating results may
suffer. Our operating results may also suffer to the extent we have a contract mix that is focused on developmental projects,
which are typically at lower profit margins as compared to margins on production projects. Our systems, products, technologies
and services and related equipment may have shorter useful lives than we anticipate. Our growth strategy depends in part on
developing reusable core space infrastructure offerings. These reusable core offerings and other space- related technology and




systems will have a limited useful life. While we intend to design our core offerings for a certain lifespan, which corresponds to
a number of cycles, there can be no assurance as to the actual operational life of a product or that the operational life of
individual components will be consistent with its design life. A number of factors will impact the useful lives of our core
offerings, including, among other things, the quality of their design and construction, the durability of their component parts and
availability of any replacement components, and the occurrence of any anomaly or series of anomalies or other risks affecting
the Page2+-technology during launch and in orbit. In addition, any improvements in technology may make our existing
products, designs or any component of our core offerings prior to the end of its life obsolete. If our core space infrastructure
offerings and related equipment have shorter useful lives than we currently anticipate, this may lead to delays in increasing the
rate of our follow- on work and new business, which would have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition
and results of operations. In addition, we are continually learning, and as our engineering and manufacturing expertise and
efficiency increases, we aim to leverage this learning to be able to manufacture our core offerings and equipment using less of
our currently installed equipment, which could render our existing inventory obsolete. Any continued improvements in
spaceflight technology and space- related technology may make our existing products or any component of our products
obsolete prior to the end of its life. If the space- related equipment have shorter useful lives than we currently anticipate, this
may lead to delays in the manufacturing and design of space and spaceflight components and may also lead to a delay in
commencing additional operations or increasing the rate of our operations, or greater maintenance costs than previously
anticipated such that the cost to maintain the products and related equipment may exceed their value, which would have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Cyber- attacks and other security threats
and disruptions could have a material adverse effect on our business. As an aerospace and defense company, we face a multitude
of security threats, including cybersecurity threats ranging from attacks common to most industries, such as ransomware and
denial- of- service, to attacks from more advanced and persistent, highly organized adversaries, including nation state actors, that
target the defense industrial base and other critical infrastructure sectors. The sophistication of the threats continue to evolve and
grow, including risks associated with the use of emerging technologies, such as artificial intelligence and quantum computing,
for nefarious purposes. In addition to cybersecurity threats, we face threats to the security of our facilities and employees from
terrorist acts, sabotage or other disruptions, any of which could adversely affect our business. The improper conduct of our
employees or others working on behalf of us who have access to export controlled, classified or other sensitive information
could also adversely affect our business and reputation. If we are unable to protect sensitive information, including complying
with evolving information security, data protection and privacy regulations, our customers or governmental authorities could
investigate the adequacy of our threat mitigation and detection processes Page 23 and procedures, and could bring actions
against us for noncompliance with applicable laws and regulations. Moreover, depending on the severity of an incident, our
customers’ data, our employees’ data, our intellectual property (including trade secrets and research, development and
engineering know- how), and other third- party data (such as subcontractors, suppliers and vendors) could be compromised,
which could adversely affect our business. Products and services provided to customers also carry cybersecurity risks, including
risks that our products and services could be breached or fail to detect, prevent or combat attacks, the realization of which could
result in losses to our customers and claims against us, and could harm our customer relationships and financial results. Similar
to many other companies, we experience attempts to gain unauthorized access to our systems and information on a regular basis,
and a number of our employees work remotely, which may create additional opportunities for cybercriminals to exploit
vulnerabilities. Despite our security measures, including employee training, our information technology and infrastructure are
vulnerable to cyber- attacks, malicious intrusions, breakdowns, destruction, loss of data privacy, breaches due to employee error,
malfeasance or other disruptions. Given the persistence, sophistication, volume and novelty of threats we face, we may not be
successful in preventing or mitigating an attack that could have a material adverse effect on us and the costs related to cyber or
other security threats or disruptions may not be fully insured or indemnified by other means. The nature of the national security
aspects of our business and much of the data we protect increases and creates different risks relative to other industries. National
security considerations may also limit the extent to which we may be able to publicly disclose a cybersecurity incident. Our
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and joint venture partners face similar security threats and an incident at one of these
entities could adversely impact our business. These entities are typically outside our control and may have access to our
information with varying levels of security and cybersecurity resources, expertise, safeguards and capabilities. Their
relationships with government contractors, including us, may increase the risk that they are targeted by the same threats we face,
and such entities may not be adequately prepared to detect, mitigate and respond to such threats. Adversaries actively seek to
exploit security and cybersecurity weaknesses in our supply chain. Breaches in our multi- tiered supply chain, which is
comprised of thousands of direct and indirect suppliers, has and could in the future compromise our data and adversely affect
customer deliverables. We also must rely on our supply chain for adequately detecting and reporting cyber incidents, which
could affect our ability to report or respond to cybersecurity incidents effectively or in a timely manner. We use proprietary
software which we have developed in our core space infrastructure offerings, which we seek to continually update and improve.
This software supports spacecraft and constellation developers in the design, development, deployment, management,
maintenance and cyber protection of their space assets. Replacing such systems is often time- consuming and expensive and can
also be intrusive to daily business operations. Further, we may not always be successful in executing these upgrades and
improvements, which may occasionally result in a failure of our systems. We may experience periodic system interruptions from
time to time. Any slowdown or failure of our underlying technology infrastructure could harm our business, reputation and
ability to execute on our business plan, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations. Our disaster
recovery plan or those of our third- Page22-party providers may be inadequate, and our business interruption insurance may not
be sufficient to compensate us for the losses that could occur. We are highly dependent on the services of our senior
management team and other highly skilled personnel, and if we are not successful in attracting or retaining highly qualified



personnel, we may not be able to successfully implement our business strategy. The Company is highly dependent on its senior
management team and on our ability to attract, motivate, develop and retain a sufficient number of other skilled personnel,
manufacturing and quality assurance, engineering, design, finance, marketing, sales and support personnel. Certain members of
our senior management team have extensive experience in the aerospace industry, and we believe that their depth of experience
is instrumental to our continued success. The loss of any one or more members of our senior management team for any reason,
including resignation or retirement, could impair our ability to execute our business strategy and have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Competition for qualified highly- skilled personnel can be strong,
and we can provide no assurance that we will be successful in attracting or retaining such personnel now or in the future. Any
inability to recruit, develop and retain qualified employees may result in high employee turnover and may force us to pay
significantly higher wages, which may harm our profitability or could result in difficulties performing under our contracts if our
needs for such employees were unmet. Additionally, we do not carry key man insurance for any of our management executives,
and the loss of any key employee or our inability to recruit, develop and retain these individuals as needed, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Our business, financial condition and results of
operations are subject to risks resulting from broader geographic operations. Our operations outside of the U. S. may lead to
more volatile financial results and make it more difficult for us to manage our business. Reasons for this include, but are not
limited to, the following: * political and economic instability; Page 24 « governments’ restrictive trade policies; ¢ the imposition
or rescission of duties, taxes or government royalties; * exchange rate risks; ¢ exposure to varying legal standards, including data
privacy, security and intellectual property protection in other jurisdictions; ¢ difficulties in obtaining required regulatory
authorizations; * local domestic ownership requirements; ¢ requirements that certain operational activities be performed in-
country; ¢ changing and conflicting national and local regulatory requirements; and ¢ the geographic, language and cultural
differences between personnel in different areas of the world. Our international business is subject to both U. S. and foreign laws
and regulations, including, without limitation, laws and regulations relating to export / import controls, economic sanctions,
technology transfer restrictions, government contracts and procurement, data privacy and protection, anti- corruption (including
the anti- bribery, books and records, and internal controls provisions of the U. S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“ FCPA ”)
governing interactions with foreign government officials), the anti- boycott provisions of the U. S. Export Administration Act,
security restrictions and intellectual property. Failure by us, our employees, subsidiaries, affiliates, partners or others with whom
we work to comply with any of these applicable laws and regulations could result in administrative, civil, commercial or
criminal liabilities, including suspension or debarment from government contracts or suspension of our export / import
privileges. New regulations and requirements, or changes to existing ones in the various countries in which we operate can
significantly increase our costs and risks of doing business internationally. Changes in laws, regulations, political leadership and
environment, and / or security risks may dramatically affect our ability to conduct or continue to conduct business in
international markets, including sales to customers and purchases from suppliers outside the United States. We may also be
impacted by shifts in U. S. and foreign national policies and priorities, political decisions and geopolitical relationships. Any
changes to these policies could impact our operations and / or export authorizations, or delay purchasing decisions or payments
and the provision of supplies, goods and services including, without limitation, in connection with any government programs.
Net earnings and net assets could be materially affected by an impairment of goodwill. We have a significant amount of
goodwill recorded on our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2623-2024 . We are required at least annually to test
the recoverability of goodwill or more frequently when events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely Page-23-than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. The recoverability test of goodwill is based on the current
fair value of our identified reporting units. Fair value measurement requires assumptions and estimates of many critical factors,
including revenue and market growth operatlng cash ﬂows and dlscount rates. Duﬂng—t-he—seeeﬂd—We have recorded and may
record-feuﬁ-h— further fta . 2
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our business, we could experience a significant decline in the fair value of our ether-reporting units. This decline could lead to
an impairment of all or a significant portion of the goodwill balance, which could materially affect our net earnings and net
assets. The Company did not identify any indicators of impairment during 2623-2024 . Pension funding and costs are dependent
on several economic assumptions which, if changed, may cause our future results of operations and cash flows to fluctuate
significantly over time. Through the acquisition of Space NV, the Company sponsors various post- retirement benefit plans for
certain non- U. S. employees, including defined benefit pension plans and risk- based coverage for death and disability benefits.
All of the Company’ s post- retirement benefit obligations relate to supplementary pensions which provide for post- retirement
benefits in accordance with Belgium Regulation. The impact of these plans on our results of operations may be volatile in that
the amount of expense we record for our post- retirement benefit plans may materially change from year to year due to estimates
which are sensitive to changes in several key economic assumptions including, among others, interest rates, rates of return on
plan assets and employee turnover. Changes in these factors, including actual returns on plan assets, may affect our plan

funding, cash flows and shareholders’ equity. We have taken actions to mitigate the risk related to our defined benefit pension
plans through pension risk transfer transactions whereby we subscribe to group insurance policies, which are funded by
employee and employer premiums determined at the beginning of each plan year. Although under the majority of these group
insurance policies we are relieved of all responsibility for the associated pension obligations, we ultimately remain responsible
for paying benefits under the plans as we are subject to the risk that the insurance company will default on its obligations in
future periods. While we believe pension risk transfer transactions are beneficial, there can be no assurance that these



transactions will be effective over the long- term. As a result, future fluctuations in our pension obligations could have a material
adverse impact on our financial condition, operating results and cash flows. Page 25 The Company’ s ability to use its net
operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had
B-$ 130 . 6 million of S—federal;state-{net);and-foretgnnet operating tess-losses earryforwards-(" NOLs ) available to reduce
future taxable income resulting in U. S. federal, state (net), and foreign deferred tax assets of $ 527 . 84 million, $3-7 . 6
2 million, and $ 4. 0 ~9-million, respectively. The $ +5-130 . 8-6 million in U. S. federal net operating loss carryforwards may be
carried forward indefinitely for U S federal tax purposes Cenaln state and forelgn net operating loss carryforwards will begin
to expire in 2638-2039 an ; 0 . It is possible that the Company will
not generate sufficient taxable income to use these NOLs before thelr eXplratlon or at all. Any limitation on using NOLs could,
depending on the extent of such limitation and the NOLs previously used, result in the Company retaining less cash after
payment of U. S. federal and state income taxes during any year in which we have taxable income, rather than losses, than the
Company would be entitled to retain if such NOLs were available as an offset against such income for U. S. federal and state
income tax reporting purposes, which could adversely impact the Company”’ s operating results. Risks Related to Government
Contracts We are subject to the requirements of the National Industrial Security Program Operating Manual (“ NISPOM ”) for
our facility security clearance, which is a prerequisite to our ability to perform on classified contracts for the U. S. government.
A facility security clearance is required in order to be awarded and perform on classified contracts for the U. S. Departmentof
Befense-(-DoD Zj-and certain other agencies of the U. S. government. As a cleared entity, we must comply with the
requirements of NISPOM, and any other applicable U. S. government industrial security regulations. Certain of our facilities
maintain a facility security clearance and many of our employees maintain a personal security clearance in order to access
sensitive information necessary to the performance of our work on certain U. S. government contracts and subcontracts. Failure
to comply with the NISPOM or other security requirements may subject us to civil or criminal penalties, loss of access to
sensitive information, loss of a U. S. government contract or subcontract, or potentially debarment as a government contractor.
Therefore, any failure to comply with U. S. government security protocols could adversely affect our ability to operate. If we
were to violate the terms and requirements of the NISPOM, or any other applicable U. S. government industrial security
regulations (which may apply to us under the terms of classified contracts), we could lose our security clearance. Even if we
implement centralized compliance policies, we cannot be certain that we will be able to maintain our security clearance if a
breach or violation occurs. If for some reason our security clearance is invalidated or terminated, we may not be able to continue
to perform on Page24-classified contracts and would not be able to enter into new classified contracts, which could materially
adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. We rely...... could harm our business, financial
condition and results of operations. We depend heavily on contracts with the U. S. government for a substantial portion of our
business. Changes in the U. S. government’ s priorities, or delays or reductions in spending, could have a material adverse effect
on our business. A reduction in overall U. S. government spending, on an absolute or inflation- adjusted basis, because of
shifting priorities, budget compromises or otherwise could adversely affect our business. Budget uncertainty, the potential for U.
S. government shutdowns, the use of continuing resolutions, and the federal debt ceiling can adversely affect our industry and
the funding for our programs. If appropriations are delayed or a government shutdown were to occur and continue for an
extended period of time, we could be at risk of reduced orders, program cancellations and other disruptions and nonpayment.
When the U. S. government operates under a continuing resolution, new contract and program starts are restricted and funding
for our programs may be unavailable, reduced or delayed. Our contracts with the U. S. government are conditioned upon the
continuing availability of Congressional appropriations. Congress usually appropriates funds on a fiscal year (“ FY ) basis even
though contract performance may extend over many years. Consequently, contracts are often partially funded initially, and
additional funds are committed only as Congress makes further appropriations over time. To the extent we incur costs in excess
of funds obligated on a contract or in advance of a contract award or contract definitization, we are at risk of not being
reimbursed for those costs unless and until additional funds are obligated under the contract or the contract is successfully
awarded, definitized and funded, which could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.
Failure to fund or the termination of significant programs or contracts by the U. S. government could adversely affect our
business and financial performance. Changes in U. S. government funding priorities also could reduce opportunities in existing
programs and in future programs or initiatives where we intend to compete and where we have made investments. While we
would expect to compete and be well positioned as the incumbent on existing programs, we may not be successful and, even if
we are successful, the replacement programs may be funded at lower levels or result in lower margins. Page 26 We depend
significantly on U. S. government contracts, which often are only partially funded, subject to immediate termination, and heavily
regulated and audited. The termination or failure to fund, or negative audit findings for, one or more of these contracts could
have an adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Generally, U. S. government
contracts are subject to oversight audits by U. S. government representatives. Such audits could result in adjustments to our
contract costs. Any costs found to be improperly allocated to a specific contract will not be reimbursed, and such costs already
reimbursed must be refunded. We have recorded contract revenue based on costs we expect to realize upon final audit.
However, we do not know the outcome of any future audits and adjustments, and we may be required to materially reduce our
revenue or profits upon completion and final negotiation of audits. Negative audit findings could also result in termination of a
contract, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines or suspension or debarment from U. S. government contracting or
subcontracting for a period of time. Page25-In addition, U. S. government contracts generally contain provisions permitting
termination, in whole or in part, without prior notice at the U. S. government’ s convenience upon payment only for work done
and commitments made at the time of termination. For some contracts, we are a subcontractor and not the prime contractor, and
in those arrangements, the U. S. government could terminate the prime contractor for convenience without regard for our
performance as a subcontractor. We can give no assurance that one or more of our U. S. government contracts will not be




terminated under those circumstances. Also, we can give no assurance that we would be able to procure new contracts to offset
the revenue or backlog lost as a result of any termination of our U. S. government contracts. Because a significant portion of our
revenue is dependent on our performance and payment under our U. S. government contracts, the loss of one or more large
contracts could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Our U.
S. government business also is subject to specific procurement regulations and a variety of socioeconomic and other
requirements. These requirements, although customary in U. S. government contracts, increase our performance and compliance
costs. These costs might increase in the future, thereby reducing our margins, which could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, the U. S. government has and may continue to
implement initiatives focused on efficiencies, affordability and cost growth and other changes to its procurement practices.
These initiatives and changes to procurement practices may change the way U. S. government contracts are solicited, negotiated
and managed, which may affect whether and how we pursue opportunities to provide our products and services to the U. S.
government, including the terms and conditions under which we do so, which may have an adverse impact on our business,
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. For example, contracts awarded under the DoD’ s Other Transaction
Authority for research and prototypes generally require cost- sharing and may not follow, or may follow only in part, standard
U. S. government contracting practices and terms, such as the Federal Acquisition Regulation (“ FAR ) and Cost Accounting
Standards. Failure to comply with applicable regulations and requirements could lead to fines, penalties, repayments, or
compensatory or treble damages, or suspension or debarment from U. S. government contracting or subcontracting for a period
of time. Among the causes for debarment are violations of various laws and regulations, including those related to procurement
integrity, export control (including ITAR), U. S. government security, employment practices, protection of the environment,
accuracy of records, proper recording of costs and foreign corruption. The termination of a U. S. government contract or
relationship as a result of any of these acts would have an adverse impact on our operations and could have an adverse effect on
our standing and eligibility for future U. S. government contracts. Disputes with our subcontractors or the inability of our
subcontractors to perform, or our key suppliers to timely deliver our components, parts or services, could cause our core
offerings produets;systems-orserviees-to be produced or delivered in an untimely or unsatisfactory manner. We engage
subcontractors on many of our contracts. We may have disputes with our subcontractors, including regarding the quality and
timeliness of work performed by the subcontractor, customer concerns about the subcontract or subcontractor, our failure to
extend existing task orders or issue new task orders under a subcontract, our hiring of the personnel of a subcontractor or vice
versa or the subcontractor’ s failure to comply with applicable law. In addition, there are certain parts, components and services
for many of our core space infrastructure offerings that we source from other manufacturers or vendors. Some of our suppliers,
from time to time, experience financial and operational difficulties, which may impact their ability to supply the materials,
components, subsystems and services that we require. Tariffs recently imposed or applied in the future on certain materials
and other trade issues may create or exacerbate existing materials shortages and may result in further supplier business closures.
Our supply chain could also be disrupted by external events, such as natural disasters or other significant disruptions (including
extreme weather conditions, medical epidemics, acts of terrorism, cyber- attacks and labor disputes), governmental actions and
legislative or regulatory changes, including product certification or stewardship requirements, sourcing restrictions, product
authenticity and climate change or greenhouse gas emission standards, or availability constraints from increased demand from
customers. These or any further political or governmental developments or health concerns could result in social, economic and
labor instability. Any inability to develop alternative sources of supply on a cost- effective and timely basis could materially
impair our ability to manufacture and deliver our core space infrastructure offerings to our customers. We can give no
assurances that we will be free from disputes with our subcontractors; material supply constraints or problems; or component,
subsystems or services problems in the future. Also, our subcontractors and other suppliers Page 27 may not be able to acquire
or maintain the quality of the materials, components, subsystems and services they supply, which may result in greater product
returns, service problems and warranty claims and could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows. In addition, in connection with our government contracts, we are required to procure certain materials, components and
parts from supply sources approved by the U. S. government and we rely on our subcontractors and suppliers to comply with
applicable laws, regulations and other requirements regarding procurement of counterfeit, unauthorized or otherwise non-
compliant parts or materials, including parts or materials they supply to us, and in some circumstances, we rely on their
certifications as to their compliance. From time to time, there are components for which there may be only one supplier, which
may be unable to meet our needs. Each of these subcontractor and supplier risks could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows. Page-26-Regulatory Risk Factors Investments in us may be
subject to U. S. foreign investment regulations which may impose conditions on or limit certain investors’ ability to purchase
our common stock, potentially making our common stock less attractive to investors. Our investments in U. S. companies may
also be subject to U. S. foreign investment regulations. Under the “ Exon- Florio Amendment  to the U. S. Defense Production
Act of 1950, as amended (the “ DPA ”), the U. S. President has the power to disrupt or block certain foreign investments in U. S.
businesses if he determines that such a transaction threatens U. S. national security. The Committee on Foreign Investment in
the United States (* CFIUS ) has the authority to conduct national security reviews of certain foreign investments. CFIUS may
impose mitigation conditions to grant clearance of a transaction. The Foreign Investment Risk Review Modernization Act (*“
FIRRMA ”), enacted in 2018, amended the DPA to, among other things, expand CFIUS’ s jurisdiction beyond acquisitions of
control of U. S. businesses. Now, CFIUS also has jurisdiction over certain foreign non- controlling investments in U. S.
businesses that involve critical technology or critical infrastructure, or that collect and maintain sensitive personal data of U. S.
citizens (“ TID U. S. Businesses ), if the foreign investor receives specified triggering rights or access in connection with its
investment. We are a TID U. S. Business because we develop and design technologies that would be considered critical
technologies. Certain foreign investments in TID U. S. Businesses are subject to mandatory filing with CFIUS. The enhanced



scrutiny and potential restrictions on the ability of foreign persons to invest in us could limit our ability to engage in strategic
transactions that could benefit our shareholders, including a change of control, and could also affect the price that an investor
may be willing to pay for our common stock. We are subject to stringent-b—S—eeonomte-sanetionsand-trade control laws and
regulations ; including export controls and stringent U. S. economic sanctions, which could affect our ability to do
business with certain customers . Unfavorable changes in these laws and regulations or U. S. government licensing policies,
our failure to secure timely U. S. government authorizations under these laws and regulations, or our failure to comply with
these laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operation. Our
business is subject to stringent U. S. trade control laws and regulations as well as economic sanctions laws and regulations. We
are required to comply with U. S. export control laws and regulations, including ITAR administered by the U. S. Department of
State, the EAR administered by the U. S. Department of Commerce’ s Bureau of Industry and Security (“ BIS ), and economic
sanctions administered by the Treasury Department’ s Office of Foreign Assets Control (“ OFAC 7). Similar laws that impact
our business exist in other jurisdictions. These foreign trade controls prohibit, restrict, or regulate our ability to, directly or
indirectly, export, deemed export, re- export, deemed re- export or transfer certain hardware, technical data, technology,
software, or services to certain countries and territories, entities, and individuals, and for end uses. Violations of applicable
export control laws, sanctions, and related regulations could result in criminal and administrative penalties, including fines,
possible denial of export privileges, and debarment, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, including our
ability to enter into contracts or subcontracts for U. S. government customers. Pursuant to these foreign trade control laws and
regulations, we are required, among other things, to (i) maintain a registration under ITAR, (ii) determine the proper licensing
jurisdiction and export classification of products, software, and technology, and (iii) obtain licenses or other forms of U. S.
government authorization to engage in the conduct of our space- focused business. The authorization requirement includes the
need to get permission to release controlled technology to foreign person employees and other foreign persons. In order to
comply with these requirements, we must develop and implement centralized sanctions and export control policies that can be
quickly adopted by all the Company’ s subsidiaries. The inability to secure and maintain necessary licenses and other
authorizations could negatively impact our ability to compete successfully or to operate our spaceflight business as planned.
Any changes in sanctions and export control regulations or U. S. government licensing policy, such as those necessary to
implement U. S. government commitments to multilateral control regimes, may restrict our operations. Given the significant
discretion the government has in issuing, denying or conditioning such authorizations to advance U. S. national security and
foreign policy interests, there can be no assurance we will be successful in our current and future efforts to secure and maintain
necessary licenses, registrations, or other U. S. government regulatory approvals. In Page 28 addition, changes in U. S. foreign
trade control laws and regulations, U. S. foreign policy, or reclassifications of our products or technologies, may restrict our
future operations. Our business is subject to a wide variety of additional extensive and evolving government laws and
regulations. Failure to comply with such laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business. We are
subject to a wide variety of laws and regulations relating to various aspects of our business, including with respect to our
manufacturing in- space operations, employment and labor, health care, tax, privacy and data security, health and safety, and
environmental issues. Laws and regulations at the foreign, federal, state and local levels frequently change, especially in relation
to new and emerging industries, and we cannot always reasonably predict the impact from, or the ultimate cost of compliance
with, current or future regulatory or administrative changes. We monitor these developments and devote a significant amount of
management’ s time and external resources towards compliance with these laws, regulations and guidelines, and such
compliance places a significant burden on management’ s time and other resources, and it may limit our ability to expand into
certain jurisdictions. Page27-Moreover, changes in law, the imposition of new or additional regulations or the enactment of any
new or more stringent legislation that impacts our business could require us to change the way we operate and could have a
material adverse effect on our sales, profitability, cash flows and financial condition. Failure to comply with these laws, such as
with respect to obtaining and maintaining licenses, certificates, authorizations and permits critical for the operation of our
business, may result in civil penalties or private lawsuits, or the suspension or revocation of licenses, certificates, authorizations
or permits, which would prevent us from operating our business. For example, commercial space launches and the operation of
any space transport system in the U. S. require licenses and permits from the FCC and review by other agencies of the U. S.
government, including the DoD and NASA. License approval can include an interagency review of safety, operational, national
security, and foreign policy and international obligations implications, as well as a review of foreign ownership. Additionally,
regulation of our industry is still evolving, and new or different laws or regulations could affect our operations, increase direct
compliance costs for us or cause any third- party suppliers or contractors to raise the prices they charge us because of increased
compliance costs. For example, the FCC has an open notice of proposed rulemaking relating to mitigation of orbital debris,
which could affect us and our operations. Application of these laws to our business may negatively impact our performance in
various ways, limiting the collaborations we may pursue, further regulating the export and re- export of our products, services,
and technology from the U. S. and abroad, and increasing our costs and the time necessary to obtain required authorization. The
adoption of a multi- layered regulatory approach to any one of the laws or regulations to which we are or may become subject,
particularly where the layers are in conflict, could require alteration of our manufacturing processes or operational parameters
which may adversely impact our business. We may not be in complete compliance with all such requirements at all times and,
even when we believe we are in complete compliance, a regulatory agency may determine that we are not. Our reputation and
ability to do business may be impacted by the improper conduct of our employees, agents or business partners. We have
implemented compliance controls, training, policies and procedures designed to prevent and detect reckless or criminal acts
from being committed by our employees, agents or business partners that would violate the laws of the jurisdictions in which we
operate, including laws governing payments to government officials, such as the FCPA, the protection of export controlled or
classified information, such as ITAR, false claims, procurement integrity, cost accounting and billing, competition, information



security and data privacy and the terms of our contracts. This risk of improper conduct may increase as we continue to grow and
expand our operations. We cannot ensure, however, that our controls, training, policies and procedures will prevent or detect all
such reckless or criminal acts, and we have been adversely impacted by such acts in the past, which have been immaterial in
nature. If not prevented, such reckless or criminal acts could subject us to civil or criminal investigations, monetary and non-
monetary penalties and suspension and debarment by the U. S. government and could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to conduct business, our results of operations and our reputation. In addition, misconduct involving data security lapses
resulting in the compromise of personal information or the improper use of our customer’ s sensitive or classified information
could result in remediation costs, regulatory sanctions against us and serious harm to our reputation and could adversely impact
our ability to continue to contract with the U. S. government. Failure to comply with federal, state and foreign laws and
regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer protection, or the expansion of current or the enactment of new
laws or regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer protection, could adversely affect our business and our
financial condition. We collect, store, process, and use personal information and other customer data, and we rely in part on
third parties that are not directly under our control to manage certain of these operations and to collect, store, process and use
payment information. Due to the sensitivity of the personal information and data we and these third parties manage and expect
to manage in the future, as well as the nature of our customer base, the security features of our information systems are critical.
A variety of federal, state and foreign laws and regulations govern the collection, use, retention, storage, destruction, sharing and
security of this information. Laws and regulations relating to privacy, data protection and consumer protection are evolving and
subject to potentially differing Page 29 interpretations. These requirements may not be harmonized, may be interpreted and
applied in a manner that is inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another or may conflict with other rules or our practices. As a
result, our practices may not have complied or may not comply in the future with all such laws, regulations, requirements and
obligations. We are also subject to non- U. S. privacy rules and regulations, such as the EU’ s General Data Protection
Regulation (* GDPR ”), the European e- Privacy Regulation and national laws supplementing GDPR, the Data Protection Act of
2018 (“ DPA 18 ™) in the United Kingdom, and the EU Privacy and Electronic Communications Regulation. GDPR and DPA 18
require companies to meet stringent requirements regarding the processing of personal data of individuals located in the
European Economic Area (“ EEA ). GDPR and DPA 18 also include significant penalties for noncompliance, which may result
in monetary penalties of up to the higher of € 20. 0 million or 4 % of a group’ s worldwide revenue for the preceding financial
year for the most serious violations. The GDPR, DPA 18, and other similar regulations require companies to give specific types
of notice and informed consent is required for certain actions, and the GDPR also imposes additional conditions in order to
satisfy such consent, such as bundled consents. Page28-We cannot determine the impact any future laws, regulations and
standards may have on our business. Complying with these evolving obligations is costly. Expanding definitions and
interpretations of what constitutes “ personal data ” (or the equivalent) within the U. S., the EEA and elsewhere may increase
our compliance costs and legal liability. In addition, a significant data breach or any failure, or perceived failure, by us to
comply with any federal, state or foreign privacy or consumer protection- related laws, regulations or other principles or orders
to which we may be subject or other legal obligations relating to privacy or consumer protection could adversely affect our
reputation, brand and business, and may result in claims, investigations, proceedings, litigation, or enforcement actions against
us by governmental entities. This may result in penalties, liabilities or loss, increased compliance or operational costs, or
otherwise require us to change our operations and / or cease using certain data sets. Depending on the nature of the information
compromised, we may also have obligations to notify users, law enforcement or payment companies about the incident and may
need to provide some form of remedy for the individuals affected by the incident. We are subject to environmental regulation
and may incur substantial costs. We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws, regulations and ordinances relating to
the protection of the environment, including those relating to emissions to the air, discharges to surface and subsurface waters,
safe drinking water, greenhouse gases and the management of hazardous substances, oils and waste materials. Federal, state and
local laws and regulations relating to the protection of the environment may require a current or previous owner or operator of
real estate to investigate and remediate hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases at or from the property.
Under federal law, generators of waste materials, and current and former owners or operators of facilities, can be subject to
liability for investigation and remediation costs at locations that have been identified as requiring response actions. Compliance
with environmental laws and regulations can require significant expenditures. In addition, we could incur costs to comply with
such current or future laws and regulations, the violation of which could lead to substantial fines and penalties. We may have to
pay governmental entities or third parties for property damage and for investigation and remediation costs that they incurred in
connection with any contamination at our current and former facilities without regard to whether we knew of or caused the
presence of the contaminants. Liability under these laws may be strict, joint and several, meaning that we could be liable for the
costs of cleaning up environmental contamination regardless of fault or the amount of waste directly attributable to us. Even if
more than one person may have been responsible for the contamination, each person covered by these environmental laws may
be held responsible for all of the clean- up costs incurred. Environmental liabilities could arise and have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition and performance. We do not believe, however, that pending environmental regulatory
developments in this area will have a material effect on our capital expenditures or otherwise materially adversely affect its
operations, operating costs, or competitive position. Changes in tax laws or regulations may increase tax uncertainty and
adversely affect results of our operations and our effective tax rate. The Company is subject to taxes in the U. S. and certain
foreign jurisdictions. Due to economic and political conditions, tax rates in various jurisdictions, including the U. S., may be
subject to change. The Company’ s future effective tax rates could be affected by changes in the mix of earnings in countries
with differing statutory tax rates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities and changes in tax laws or their
interpretation. In addition, the Company may be subject to income tax audits by various tax jurisdictions. Although the
Company believes its income tax liabilities are reasonably estimated and accounted for in accordance with applicable laws and



principles, an adverse resolution by one or more taxing authorities could have a material impact on the results of its operations.
Page 30 Certain U. S. state tax authorities may assert that we have a state nexus and seek to impose state and local income taxes,
which could harm our results of operations. There is a risk that certain state tax authorities where we do not currently file a state
income tax return could assert that we are liable for state and local income taxes based upon income or gross receipts allocable
to such states. States are becoming increasingly aggressive in asserting a nexus for state income tax purposes. If a state tax
authority successfully asserts that our activities give rise to a nexus, we could be subject to state and local taxation, including
penalties and interest attributable to prior periods. Such tax assessments, penalties and interest may adversely impact our results
of operations. If we cannot successfully protect our intellectual property, our business could suffer. We rely on a combination of
intellectual property rights, contractual protections, and other practices to protect our proprietary information, technologies and
processes. We primarily rely on patent, copyright and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary technologies and processes,
including the operations systems and technology we use throughout our business. Others may independently develop the same
or similar technologies and processes or may improperly acquire and use information about our technologies and processes,
which may allow them to provide products and services similar to ours, which could harm our competitive Page-29-position. To
the extent we pursue additional patent protection for our innovations, patents we may apply for may not issue, and patents that
do issue or that we acquire may not provide us with any competitive advantages or may be challenged by third parties. There can
be no assurance that any patents we obtain will adequately protect our inventions or survive a legal challenge, as the legal
standards relating to the validity, enforceability, and scope of protection of patent and other intellectual property rights are
uncertain. We may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect our intellectual property rights, and the
efforts we take to protect our proprietary rights may not be sufficient. We rely in part on trade secrets, proprietary know- how
and other confidential information to maintain our competitive position. Although we enter into confidentiality and invention
assignment agreements with our employees and consultants, and enter into confidentiality agreements with the parties with
whom we have strategic relationships and business relationships, no assurance can be given that these agreements will be
effective in controlling access to and distribution of our proprietary information. Further, these agreements do not prevent our
competitors from independently developing technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technologies. To
protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights, and
we may or may not be able to detect infringement by third parties. Litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our
intellectual property rights and to protect our trade secrets. Such litigation could be costly, time consuming and distracting to
management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to
enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses, counterclaims and countersuits attacking the validity and
enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Our inability to protect our proprietary technology against unauthorized
copying or use, as well as any costly litigation or diversion of our management’ s attention and resources, could delay future
sales and introductions of new capabilities, result in our substituting inferior or more costly technologies into our business, or
injure our reputation. In addition, we may be required to license additional technology from third parties to develop and market
new capabilities, and we cannot assure you that we could license that technology on commercially reasonable terms or at all,
and our inability to license this technology could harm our ability to compete. Our technology may violate the proprietary rights
of third parties, which could have a negative impact on our operations. If any of our technology violates proprietary rights,
including copyrights and patents, third parties may assert infringement claims against us. Certain software modules and other
intellectual property used by us make use of or incorporate licensed software components and other licensed technology. These
components are developed by third parties over whom we have no control. Any claims brought against us may result in
limitations on our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims. We may be required to redesign our offerings or
services or to obtain licenses from third parties to continue our offerings without substantially re- engineering such products or
systems. Our intellectual property rights may be invalidated, circumvented, challenged, infringed or required to be licensed to
others. An infringement or misappropriation could harm any competitive advantage we currently derive or may derive from our
proprietary rights. Risks Related to Financing and Ownership of our Securities We have a substantial amount of debt. Our ability
to operate is limited by the agreements governing our debt. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , we had $ 89-126 . 5-6 million of
total debt outstanding and up to $ 48-15 . 0 million of additional borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facility. Subject
to the limits contained in some of the agreements governing our outstanding debt, we may incur additional debt in the future.
Our maintenance of higher levels of indebtedness could have adverse consequences including impairing our ability to obtain
additional financing in the future Our level of debt places significant demands on our cash resources, which could: Page 31 ¢
make it more difficult to satisfy our outstanding debt obligations; * require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash for
payments related to our debt, reducing the amount of cash flow available for working capital, capital expenditures, entitlement
of our real estate assets, contributions to our tax- qualified pension plan, and other general corporate purposes; ® limit our
flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in the industries in which we compete; * place us at a competitive disadvantage
with respect to our competitors, some of which have lower debt service obligations and greater financial resources than we do; ¢
limit our ability to borrow additional funds; ¢ limit our ability to expand our operations through acquisitions; and ¢ increase our
vulnerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service
our debt and fund our operating costs, our liquidity may be adversely affected. Page-38-We may require substantial additional
funding to finance our operations, but adequate additional financing may not be available when we need it, on acceptable terms
or at all Our prlmary sources of liquidity are cash ﬂows pr0V1ded by 0perat10ns —and access to ex1st1ng credlt facﬂltles 3

ae anrd-proceeds-front-the 3 ¢ ertib efe : Smce 1ncept10n we have 1ncurred net losses
and have used our cash to fund capital expenditures, costs assomated with our acquisitions, and costs associated with the Merger,
among other uses. We have and may continue to experience net cash outflows from operating activities as we continue to grow



our business. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , our available liquidity totaled $ 48. 3-7 million, which was comprised of $ 36-33 .
3-7 million in cash and cash equivalents, and $ +8-15 . 0 million in available borrowings from our existing credit facilities .
Additionally, we had restricted cash of $ 15. 4 million, which consists of a cash- collateralized standby letter of credit for
a submitted proposal. Included in the restricted cash balance is $ 7. 8 million of proceeds received from third- parties
that is refundable except in certain limited circumstances . We believe that our existing sources of liquidity will be sufficient
to meet our working capital needs for at least the next twelve months from the date on which our consolidated financial
statements were issued. However, our current liquidity may not be sufficient to meet the required long- term liquidity needs, in
addition to our other liquidity needs associated with our capital expenditures, debt payments, and other investing and financing
requirements. In the future, we could be required to raise capital through additional public or private financing or other
arrangements. Such financing may not be available on acceptable terms, or at all, and our failure to raise capital when needed
could harm our business. We may sell additional equity securities or debt securities in one or more transactions at prices and in a
manner as we may determine from time to time. If we sell any such securities in subsequent transactions, our current investors
could be materially diluted further. Any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants and could reduce our
operational flexibility or profitability. If we cannot raise funds on acceptable terms, we may not be able to grow our business or
respond to competitive pressures. The issuance and sale of shares of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has reduced the
relative voting power of holders of our common stock and diluted the ownership of holders of our capital stock. On October 28,
2022 and November 3, 7 and 8, 2022, we issued an aggregate of 81, 250 shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the *
Convertible Preferred Stock ™) to AE Industrial Partners Fund II, LP (“ AEI Fund II ”’) and AE Industrial Partners Structured
Solutions I, LP (*° AEI Structured Solutions ), affiliates of AEI, BCC Redwire Aggregator, L. P. (“ Bain Capital ), and certain
other investors (collectively, the “ Investors ). Shares of the Convertible Preferred Stock are immediately and currently
convertible into approximately 34-36 , 452-416 , 478-297 shares of common stock and, on an as- converted basis represent
approximately 35 32—4-% of Redwire’ s outstanding common stock assuming conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock vote as one class with our common stock,
on an as- converted basis. Therefore, the issuance and sale of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock resulted in the immediate
and substantial dilution to the ownership interests of the holders of our common stock. AEI and Bain Capital have significant
influence over us, which could limit yeur-other investors’ ability to influence the outcome of key transactions. As of December
31,2623-2024 , AEI and Bain Capital own 34-40 , 708-164 . 53-54 and 57-66 , 744+-818 . 45-14 shares of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock, respectively, which is currently convertible into approximately H-13 , 627467 , 682-664 and +5-22
, 342-390 , 932-163 shares of our outstanding common stock, respectively, or approximately 42-13 % and 26-22 % of Redwire’ s
outstanding common stock assuming conversion of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, respectively. The Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock votes with our common stock on an as- converted basis. Additionally, as of December 31, 2623
2024 , AEI owned 35, 967687 , 202-607 shares of our outstanding common stock and 2, 000, 000 of our warrants. Page 32 We
have the option to issue dividends payable on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock by issuing additional shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock in satisfaction of such dividend (“ PIK Dividend ) and in the future may witHikely-satisfy any
such dividends payable with respect to the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock as PIK Dividends. As a result of the voting
rights of the Series A Convertible Stock and the degree of concentration of voting power (and the potential for such power to
increase upon the purchase of additional stock and / or the payment of PIK Dividends), AEI and Bain Capital have the ability to
significantly influence the outcome of any matter submitted for the vote of the holders of our common stock, and as a result,
your ability to elect members of our Board of Directors (“ Board ) and influence our business and affairs, including any
determinations with respect to mergers or other business combinations, the acquisition or disposition of assets, or the issuance of
any additional common stock or other equity securities, is diminished. In addition, AEI and Bain Capital have representation on
the Board and have significant control over the management and affairs of the Company. AEI may nominate five designees to
our Board and, under the terms of the Bain Capital Investment Agreement (as defined below), for so long as Bain Capital
beneficially owns shares of the Company’ s common stock in the aggregate and on as- converted basis, at least equal to 50 % of
the number of shares of common stock that it held on an as- converted basis immediately following the consummation of the
Bain Capital investment €lesing-(as-defined-betow)-, Bain Capital will have the right to designate one member to the Board.
Circumstances may occur in which the interests of AEI and Bain Capital could conflict with the interests of holders of other
outstanding capital stock, including our common stock. Page-3+-Additionally, as long as AEI and Bain Capital continue to
beneficially own at least 25 % of the aggregate number of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock originally issued to
each of them, we may not undertake certain actions without the prior approval of each of Bain Capital and AEI, and in the event
that Bain Capital or AEI does not continue to hold 25 % of the aggregate number of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock originally issued to them, we may not undertake certain actions without the prior approval of the holders of a majority of
the issued and outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in the aggregate. Prior to obtaining the approvals
described by the foregoing, subject to certain exceptions, we must not: (1) create or authorize the creation of (including by
increasing the authorized amount of) or issue any senior securities or parity securities or any securities convertible into or
exercisable or exchangeable for any senior security or parity security, or amend or alter the Company’ s Certificate of
Incorporation to increase the number of authorized shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, (2) reclassify or modify any
existing class or series of equity securities in a manner that would result in such class or series of equity securities being senior to
or on parity with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, (3) issue any shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in
excess of 10 % of the number of shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock initially purchased by Bain Capital and AEI in
the aggregate, (4) decrease the number of authorized shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, (5) alter, change or amend
the terms, rights, preferences or privileges of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock in any manner, (6) amend, waive, alter or
repeal any provision of the Company’ s Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws or comparable organizational documents in a



manner that would adversely affect the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock or the rights, preferences or privileges of the Series
A Convertible Preferred Stock, (7) declare or pay a dividend or distribute cash or property through dividends or other
distributions in respect of any junior securities, (8) redeem, purchase or otherwise acquire any junior securities, (9) create or hold
any of the Company’ s capital stock in any subsidiary that is not a wholly- owned subsidiary or dispose of any subsidiary capital
stock or all or substantially all of any subsidiary’ s assets, or (10) commence any voluntary liquidation, bankruptcy, dissolution,
recapitalization, reorganization or assignment to the Company’ s creditors. These restrictions may hinder our ability to execute
on our growth strategy or prevent us from implementing parts of our business plan. Further, from and after the seventh
anniversary of the issuance of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, for so long as each of AEI and Bain Capital has record
and beneficial ownership, in the aggregate and on an as- converted basis, at least equal to 50 % of the number of shares of
common stock issued to such investor, on an as- converted basis, as of the date of such issuance, AEI or Bain Capital, as
applicable, individually has the right to cause the Company to retain an investment banker to identify and advise the Company
regarding opportunities for a company sale and participate on Company’ s behalf in negotiations for, and to assist the Company
in conducting, such company sale. The interests of AEI and Bain Capital to encourage a company sale could conflict with the
interests of holders of other outstanding capital stock, including our common stock. Provisions in our Certificate of Designation
(the “ Certificate of Designation ) may delay or prevent our acquisition by a third party, which could also reduce the market
price of our capital stock. Certain rights of the holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could make it more difficult
or more expensive for a third party to acquire us. Holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock have certain repurchase,
preemptive, conversion and consent rights. These provisions may make it more costly for a potential acquirer to engage in a
business combination transaction with us. If any of certain fundamental changes were to occur, we or the surviving entity would
be required to make an offer to repurchase, at the option and election of the holders thereof, for cash each share of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock then outstanding. The repurchase price of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock is equal to the
greater of (a) (i) 100 % of the applicable accrued value as of the repurchase date plus (ii) if prior to October 28, 2027, the
aggregate amount of all dividends that would have been paid in respect of an outstanding share of such series of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock from the repurchase date through October 28, 2027 and Page 33 (b) the amount that such holder
would have received in such fundamental change with respect to such share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock if all shares
of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock had been converted into shares of common stock on the business day immediately prior
to the effective date of the relevant fundamental change. However, if in connection with a fundamental change the consideration
received by holders of our common stock consists of cash and common stock meeting certain liquidity requirements of an issuer
with a market capitalization greater than $ 600 million, then the repurchase price paid to the holders of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock will consist of (a) cash in the amount of the applicable accrued value as of the repurchase date and (b) a number
of shares of such common stock equal to the excess of the repurchase price such holder would have received in cash, as
applicable, over such accrued value. These features of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could increase the cost of
acquiring us or otherwise discourage a third party from acquiring us or removing incumbent management. Provisions that have
the effect of potentially discouraging, delaying or preventing such a transaction could limit the opportunity for our shareholders
to receive a premium for their shares of our capital stock and could also affect the price that some investors are willing to pay
for our capital stock. Our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock has rights, preferences and privileges that are not held by, and
are preferential to, the rights of holders of our other outstanding capital stock. In the event of any voluntary or involuntary
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of our affairs, the holders of our Series A Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to
receive certain payments (i) prior to any amounts paid to holders of our common stock and each other class or series of our
capital stock now existing or hereafter authorized, the terms of which do not expressly provide that Page-32-such class or series
ranks either senior to, or on parity with, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and (ii) on parity with each other class or
series of our capital stock established in the future, the terms of which expressly provide that such class or series ranks on a
parity basis with the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock. Therefore, in the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation,
dissolution, or winding- up of our affairs, no distribution of our assets may be made to holders of our common stock until we
have paid to holders of the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock then outstanding the greater of (a) the greater of (i) two times
the initial value of the shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock and (ii) the accrued value of such shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock as of the date of such liquidation and (b) the amount that such holder would have received with
respect to such share of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock based on its accrued value if all shares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock had been converted at their accrued value (regardless of whether they were actually converted and without
regard to any limitations on convertibility or as to whether sufficient shares of common stock are available out of the Company’
s authorized but unissued stock for the purpose of effecting such conversion) into shares of common stock on the business day
immediately prior to the liquidation. However, in the event of a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, or winding- up of our
affairs, our assets will be available to pay obligations on the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock only after all of our secured
and unsecured indebtedness has been paid. This could reduce the remaining amount of our assets, if any, available to distribute
to holders of our capital stock. Our obligations to the holders of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock could limit our ability to
obtain additional financing or increase our borrowing costs, which could have an adverse effect on our financial condition.
These preferential rights could also result in divergent interests between the holders of shares of our Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock and other holders of our capital stock. There may be sales of a substantial amount of our common stock by our
current shareholders, and these sales could cause the price of our common stock to fall. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , there
were 65-67 , 546-002 , +74-370 shares of our common stock outstanding. Substantially all of our issued and outstanding shares
are freely transferable, except for any shares held by our * affiliates, ” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities
Act. Future sales of our common stock may cause the market price of our securities to drop significantly, even if our business is
doing well. We are party to an Investor Rights Agreement, dated March 25, 2021 (the * Investor Rights Agreement ), pursuant



to which AEI, Genesis Park Holdings and the other parties thereto are entitled to demand that we register the resale of their
securities subject to certain minimum requirements. Shareholders who are party to the Investor Rights Agreement also have
certain demand and “ piggyback ” registration rights with respect to the securities held by such parties. In addition, pursuant to
the Registration Rights Agreements, dated October 28, 2022, by and among us and the Investors (the “ Series A Registration
Rights Agreement ), we will be required to file a shelf registration statement to permit the public resale of the shares of
common stock underlymv the Investors’ Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, and each party will also ha\e additional demand
and plLLydek registration 11s_hts with 1espeut to those Shdle% ' 7

any registration statement we hle pulsuant to the Investor nghts A;:reement sor the Serles A Reg-tst-faﬁeﬂ—l%tghtsﬁgfeemeﬂf
and-+orthe B—Riey-Registration Rights Agreement, these parties may sell large amounts of our common stock in the open

market or in privately negotiated transactions, which could have the effect of increasing the volatility in our stock price or
putting significant downward pressure on the price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in
the public market or the perception that such sales will occur, could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and

make it dlﬁlullt for us to raise funds through securities oﬁermos in the future. H-is-netpossible-to-predietthe-aetaalnumber-of




fature-pertods—We may not be able to remain in compliance with the continued listing requirements of the NYSE, and if the
NYSE delists our common stock, it would have an adverse impact on the trading, liquidity and market price of our common
stock. The Company’ s common stock is listed on the NYSE under the symbol “ RDW ”. The price of our common stock may
be adversely affected due to, among other things, our financial results and market conditions. There can be no assurance that we
will continue to Page-34-remain in compliance with this-standard-the NYSE’ s minimum price rule for our common stock or
that we will remain in compliance with any of the other applicable continued listing standards of the NYSE. Any failure to
remain in compliance with the NYSE' s continued listing standards, and any subsequent failure to timely resume compliance
with the NYSE' s continued listing standards within the applicable cure period, could have adverse consequences including,
among others, reducing the number of investors willing to hold or acquire our common stock, reducing the liquidity and market
price of our common stock, adverse publicity and a reduced interest in us from investors, analysts and other market participants.
In addition, a suspension or delisting could impair our ability to raise additional capital through the public markets and our
ability to attract and retain employees by means of equity compensation. We may issue additional common stock or other equity
securities which could dilute our shareholders’ ownership interests. We may issue additional shares of common stock or other
equity securities in the future in connection with, among other things, future acquisitions, repayment of outstanding indebtedness
or grants under the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan without shareholder approval in a number of
circumstances. Our issuance of additional common stock or other equity securities of equal or senior rank would have the
following effects: * our existing shareholders’ proportionate ownership interest will decrease; * the amount of cash available per
share, including for payment of dividends in the future, may decrease; * the relative voting strength of each previously
outstanding share of common stock may be diminished; and ¢ the market price of our common stock may decline. A market for
our common stock may not be sustained and the market price of our common stock and warrants has and may continue to
fluctuate due to numerous circumstances beyond our control. An active trading market for our common stock may not be
sustained and the market price for our common stock and warrants has and may continue to be volatile, due to many factors,
some of which may be beyond our control. Factors affecting the trading price of our common stock may include: ¢ actual or
anticipated fluctuations in our quarterly financial results or the quarterly financial results of companies perceived to be similar to
it; « changes in the market’ s expectations about our operating results;  success of competitors; ¢ our operating results failing to
meet market expectations in a particular period; * changes in financial estimates and recommendations or comments by
securities analysts or other third parties concerning us or the aerospace and defense industry and market in general; ¢ future
announcements or press coverage concerning our business or our competitors’ businesses and the public’ s reaction to such
announcements, press coverage or releases, and filings with the SEC; ¢ operating and stock price performance of other
companies that investors deem comparable to us; * the size of our public float; * *“ short squeezes ” and meme- like trading of
our common stock or the common equity of companies in our industry; ¢ our ability to market new and enhanced products on a
timely basis; ¢ changes in laws and regulations affecting our business; * commencement of, or involvement in, litigation
involving us; ¢ changes in its capital structure, such as future issuances of securities or the incurrence of additional debt; ¢ the
volume of shares of common stock available for public sale; Page 3S ¢ any significant change in our board or management; *
sales of substantial amounts of common stock by our directors, executive officers or significant shareholders or the perception
that such sales could occur; and  general economic and political conditions such as recessions, interest rates, fuel prices,
international currency fluctuations and acts of war or terrorism. Page-35-Broad market and industry factors may depress the
market price of our common stock irrespective of our operating performance. The stock market in general and NYSE have
experienced price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of the
particular companies affected. The trading prices and valuations of these stocks, and of our securities, may not be predictable.
Volatility in the market price of our common stock may prevent investors from being able to sell their shares of common stock
at or above their purchase price or at all and price volatility may be greater if the public float and trading volume of our common
stock is low. A decline in the market price of our common stock also could adversely affect its ability to issue additional
securities and its ability to obtain additional financing in the future. Additionally, investors may purchase shares of our common
stock to hedge existing exposure or to speculate on the price of our common stock. Speculation on the price of our common
stock may involve long and short exposures. To the extent aggregate short exposure exceeds the number of shares of our
common stock available for purchase on the open market, investors with short exposure may have to pay a premium to
repurchase shares of our common stock for delivery to lenders of our common stock. Those repurchases may, in turn,
dramatically increase the price of shares of our common stock until additional shares of our common stock are available for
trading or borrowing. This is often referred to as a “ short squeeze. ” A *“ short squeeze ” could lead to volatile price movements
in shares of our common stock that are unrelated or disproportionate to our operating performance or prospects and, once
investors purchase the shares of our common stock necessary to cover their short positions, the price of our common stock may
rapidly decline. Investors that purchase shares of our common stock during a short squeeze may lose a significant portion of
their investment. We do not anticipate paying dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future. We do not anticipate
that our Board will declare dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. In addition, the ability of our Board to pay




such dividend in the future may be restricted by our debt documents, our holding company structure and capital requirements at
our subsidiaries. Because we do not pay dividends on our common stock, and do not anticipate paying dividends on our common
stock for the foreseeable future, the price of our common stock must appreciate in order for you to realize a gain on your
investment. This appreciation may not occur. We identified material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting.
Until we remediate these material weaknesses or if we identify additional material weaknesses, we may not be able to

accurately and timely report our financial results, in which case our business may be harmed and investors may lose confidence
in the accuracy and completeness of our financial reports. Our internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“ U. S.
GAAP 7). We identified material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting. A material weakness is a
deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a
timely basis. Material Weaknesses in Internal Control over Financial Reporting In connection with the Company’ s evaluation of
1nternal control over ﬁnanmal reportlng, the follow1ng materlal Weaknesses have been 1dent1ﬁed We d-ld—not—m&rnt&rn—aﬁ

eonﬁﬂtuﬁeaﬁon—'—\‘vle—have not con51stently estabhshed approprlate authontles and respons1b111t1es in pursult of ﬁnan01al
reporting objectives, as demonstrated by, among other things, insufficient segregation of duties in our finance and accounting
functions. * We did not design and maintain formal accounting policies, procedures and controls to achieve complete, accurate
and timely financial accounting, reporting and disclosures, including controls over the preparation and review of business
performance reviews, account reconciliations, journal entries and contract estimates used in determining the recognition of
revenue. Page 36 These material weaknesses could result in misstatements of substantially all accounts and disclosures that
could result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or
detected. Page-36-In addition, we did not design and maintain effective information technology (“ IT ) general controls for
information systems that are relevant to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements. Specifically, we did not design
and maintain: ¢ program change management controls to ensure that information technology program and data changes affecting
financial IT applications and underlying accounting records are identified, tested, authorized, and implemented appropriately; *
user access controls to ensure appropriate segregation of duties and that adequately restrict user and privileged access to
financial applications, programs, and data to appropriate Company personnel; ¢ computer operations controls to ensure that
critical batch jobs are monitored and data backups are authorized and monitored; and ¢ testing and approval controls for
program development to ensure that new software development is aligned with business and IT requirements. The IT
deficiencies, when aggregated, could impact maintaining effective segregation of duties, as well as the effectiveness of IT-
dependent controls (such as automated controls that address the risk of material misstatement of one or more assertions, along
with the IT controls and underlying data that support the effectiveness of system- generated data and reports) that could result in
misstatements potentially impacting all financial statement accounts and disclosures that would not be prevented or detected.
The material weaknesses above did not result in a material misstatement to the consolidated financial statements presented in
this Annual Report on Form 10- K, nor in any restatements of consolidated financial statements previously reported by us.
Remediation Plans We are in the process of implementing measures designed to improve our internal control over financial
reporting and remediate the deficiencies that led to the material weaknesses, including tone-atthe-top-and-othereommunteations
training, designing and implementing new control activities, and enhancing existing control activities. * We engaged a third-
party global consulting firm to accelerate the design of new controls or enhance existing controls to ensure timely and accurate
ﬁnanc1a1 reportlng across our operatlons in both the U . S. '—We—have-estabhﬂ&ed-aﬁ—and Europe et-htes—pfegf&mewdﬂeh

; v v ven . We will
continue to conduct training and document our processes and procedures 1nc1ud1ng accountlng pohcles and implement a
comprehensive financial closing process checklist with additional layers of reviews. We are also in the process of standardizing
controls, processes and policies across the Company to ensure consistent application including controls over the preparation and
review of business performance reviews, account reconciliations, journal entries and contract estimates used in determining the
recognition of revenue. * We are in the process of performing an assessment of all IT systems that provide data for financial
reporting purposes and consolidating systems where appropriate , including, but not limited to, implementing one enterprise
resource planning (“ ERP ”) system for our U. S. operations and one ERP system for our Europe operations . As part of
this assessment, we will be designing, implementing and documenting IT general controls. We are working to remediate the
material weaknesses as efficiently and effectively as possible and expect full remediation for our U. S. operations will likely be
complete by December 31, 2025 and full remediation for our Europe operations will likely go beyond December 31, 2624
2025 . At this time, we cannot provide an estimate of costs expected to be incurred in connection with implementing this
remediation plan; however, these remediation measures will be time consuming, will result in the Company incurring additional
costs, and will place additional demands on our financial and operational resources. If we are unable to successfully remediate
existing or any future material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, the accuracy and timing of our
financial reporting may be adversely affected, investors may lose confidence in our financial reporting, and / or we could
become subject to litigation or investigations by the New York Stock Exchange (“ NYSE ”), the SEC or other regulatory
authorities. Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments None. Page 37 Item 1C. Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy
Redwire is committed to maintaining the trust and confidence of our stakeholders, which includes taking appropriate technical
and organizational measures for maintaining information security and data privacy. Cybersecurity is critical to advancing our *




Heritage Page-37-plus Innovation ” strategy and enabling our digital transformation efforts. We face a multitude of cybersecurity
threats that range from attacks common to most industries, such as ransomware and denial- of- service, to attacks from more
advanced and persistent, highly organized adversaries, including nation state actors, that target the defense industrial base and
other critical infrastructure sectors. Our customers, suppliers, subcontractors and joint venture partners face similar
cybersecurity threats, and a cybersecurity incident impacting us or any of these entities could materially adversely affect our
operations, performance and results of operations. These cybersecurity threats and related risks make it imperative that we strive
to be a leader in the information security field, and we expend considerable resources on cybersecurity. Our corporate
information technology department, which maintains our cybersecurity function, is led by our Chief Information Officer (“ CIO
””), who reports to our Chief Financial Officer (“ CFO ”) and has direct access to the CEO regarding information technology and
cybersecurity related matters. The Chief Information Security Officer (* CISO ”) reports to the CIO and has direct access to the
CEO regarding cybersecurity matters. The CISO is responsible for our Company’ s information security strategy, policy,
security engineering, operations and cyber threat detection and response. Our current CIO and CISO has-have extensive
information technology, cybersecurity and project management experience . Our CIO is a cyber defense , operations and
communications officer as a U. S. Navy information professional. Our CISO has served-over 35 years in various
information technology roles fer-ever35-years-, including experience with three other public companies and is a certified
information systems security professional (“ CISSP ”) and DoD information systems security manager . The CISO
manages a team of cybersecurity professionals with broad experience and expertise, and have an average of over 15 years in
various roles involving information technology, including security and compliance. The corporate cybersecurity and compliance
department manages and continually enhances our enterprise security structure with the ultimate goal of preventing
cybersecurity incidents to the extent feasible, while simultaneously increasing our system resilience in an effort to minimize the
business impact should an incident occur. In order to assess, identify and manage information security and cybersecurity threats,
the Company has implemented a cybersecurity program that includes risk assessment and prevention measures to facilitate
communication, training, awareness and incident response procedures. These are integrated into our overall enterprise risk
management (“ ERM ”) process. To the extent the ERM process identifies a heightened cybersecurity related risk, risk owners
are assigned to develop risk mitigation plans, which are then tracked to completion. The ERM process’ annual risk assessment
is presented to the Board. The Company maintains policies and procedures to ensure timely and appropriate notifications to
relevant parties and regulators as required for cybersecurity threats and data breaches. A designated incident response team is
responsible for the execution of Redwire’ s data breach response plan. Comprised of Company officers who serve across several
functions, the incident response team includes the Company’ s CISO, CIO, General Counsel, CFO, Senter-VP-and-Chief
Accounting Officer, and-Cybersecurity Manager and Cemplianee-Direetor—cybersecurity professionals or Other-other
employees from the Company’ s information technology, finance, compliance and human resources functions support the
incident response team, including with respect to diagnosing and mitigating cybersecurity events. Our cybersecurity policies and
frameworks are based on industry and governmental standards to align closely with DoD requirements, instructions and
guidance. The Company has adopted the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“ NIST ) Special Procedure (SP)
800- 171, NIST Cybersecurity Framework and Zero Trust Framework . The NIST SP 800- 171 is to ensure compliance for
protecting controlled unclassified information for U. S. Government projects as contractually required . The NIST
Cybersecurity Framework models the best practices for security and the capabilities needed to identify, protect, detect and
respond to cybersecurity risks and events, while the Zero Trust Framework addresses security challenges . The Company is
pursuing the U. S. DoD Cybersecurity Maturity Model Certification (CMMC) in 2025 . We evaluate our physical,
electronic and administrative safeguards on a continuous basis to ensure they are effectively deployed across the business. The
Company has implemented cybersecurity tools to enable a Zero Trust Network Access that includes an Internet Intrusion
detection and response combined with an always- on virtual private network solution to reduce our external exposure. We utilize
third- party tools to protect Redwire data and implemented the security and data protection technologies. The Company utilizes
the industry leading endpoint protection tool recognized by Gartner. We employ threat protection firewalls at our facilities and
perform network and vulnerability monitoring with industry leading tools. We also work with trusted and leading third parties to
help us assess and strengthen our information security program. We engage third- party services to conduct evaluations of our
security controls, whether through penetration testing, independent audits or consulting on best practices to address new
challenges. These evaluations include testing both the design and operational effectiveness of security controls. We have
implemented controls designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity threats associated with our use of third- party service
providers. Such providers are subject to security risk assessments at the time of onboarding, contract renewal, and upon
detection of an Page 38 increase in risk profile. We use a variety of inputs in such risk assessments, including information
supplied by providers and third parties. In addition, we require our providers to meet appropriate security requirements, controls
and responsibilities and investigate security incidents that have impacted our third- party providers, as appropriate. Page-38
Similar to many other companies, we experience attempts to gain unauthorized access to our systems and information on
a regular basis, and a number of our employees work remotely, which creates additional opportunities for
cybercriminals to exploit vulnerabilities. Despite our security measures, including employee training, our information
technology and infrastructure are vulnerable to cyber- attacks, malicious intrusions, breakdowns, destruction, loss of
data privacy, breaches due to employee error, malfeasance or other disruptions and we may not be successful in preventing or
mitigating a cybersecurity incident that could have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial results. See Item 1A.
“ Risk Factors ” for further discussion of these risks. Governance The Company’ s Board is responsible for the oversight of
management’ s process for identifying and mitigating risks, including cybersecurity risks. IT leadership of the Company briefs
the Board on a quarterly basis regarding information security matters, including the current cybersecurity landscape, progress on
information security initiatives and accomplishments, and an information security dashboard. The Board is apprised of



cybersecurity incidents concluded to have a moderate or higher business impact, even if immaterial to us. In the event of an
incident, we intend to follow our incident response process, which outlines the steps to be followed from incident detection to
mitigation, recovery and notification, including notifying functional areas (e. g. legal), as well as senior leadership and the
Board, as appropriate. Item 2. Properties We operate from 42-14 locations in the United States and 2-3 locations in Europe
consisting of offices, warehouses, service centers, laboratories and other facilities approximating 363-393 , 243-000 square feet
as of December 31, 2623-2024 . The Company also retains use of additional storage and administrative space as needed to
support operations, which are not included in the table below. We lease all of our properties. The majority of leases are for
varying term lengths up to nine years. Our locations range in size from 4-approximately 2 , 746-400 to 52, 800 square feet. Our
headquarters is located in Jacksonville, Florida, in proximity to major NASA and other space offices and operations. In North
America we have twe-faetlities-in-Californta-four facilities in California and Colorado , respectively , two facilities in Florida,
and one facility in Indiana, Massachusetts, New Mexico and Virginia, respectively. In Europe, we have one facility in
Luxembourg , and-eneirBelgium and Poland, respectively . Each of these facilities is strategically located near major national
security or civil space community facilities, key customer facilities, commercial space centers and / or prestigious engineering
talent pools. Page 39 We believe that our properties are in good operating condition and believe the productive capacity of our
properties is adequate to meet current contractual requirements and those for the foreseeable future. We may improve, replace or
reduce facilities as considered appropriate to meet the needs of our operations. Our current facilities have supported the
development of technology that is transforming the space industry, and the current footprint is sufficient to support near- term
growth. However, as we continue to grow, we plan to continue and even accelerate the pace of leasehold improvements so that
our facility capacity is not a limiting factor on our growth. Expansion and reconfiguration of our existing facilities are also being
studied to support further growth and cost optimization in the future. Page-39-Item 3. Legal Proceedings The Company is subject
to litigation, claims, investigations and audits arising from time to time in the ordinary course of business. Although legal
proceedings are inherently unpredictable, the Company believes that it has valid defenses with respect to any matters currently
pending against the Company and intends to defend itself vigorously. Excluding pending matters referenced below, the outcome
of these matters, individually and in the aggregate, is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’ s consolidated
financial statements. For additional information on pending matters, please refer to Note N — Commitments and Contingencies
of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. For further information on the risks associated with existing
and future investigations, lawsuits, arbitration, claims, enforcement actions and other legal proceedings, please refer to Item 1A.
“Risk Factors. ” Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures Not Applicable. Page 40 PART II Item 5. Market for Registrant' s Common
Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities Market Information Our common stock and
public warrants are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and trade under the symbols “ RDW ” and “ RDW WS ”,
respectively. Each public warrant entitles the registered holder to purchase one share of our common stock at a price of $ 11. 50
per share, subject to certain adjustments. As of March 4+5-7 , 2024-2025 , there were 65-75 , 578-573 , 724-294 shares of common
stock outstanding and 82 , 488492 | 8H-450 public warrants outstanding. As of March 45-7 , 2624-2025 , there were 3723
holders of our common stock and 4+46 holders of our warrants of record. These numbers do not include an estimate of the
indeterminate number of beneficial holders whose shares and warrants may be held by brokerage firms and clearing agencies.
We have never declared dividends on our common stock and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the foreseeable
future. Any decisions to declare and pay dividends in the future will be made at the discretion of our Board and will depend on,
among other things, our results of operations, financial condition, cash requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors
that our Board may deem relevant. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities; Use of Proceeds from Registered Offerings On
Oetober28-May 1, 2622-2024 and November 3-1 , 2024, in accordance with the Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate of
Designation, the Company issued 7 and-8-, %92—2— 022 45 and 7 736. 65 we—nssued—a—to’ca-l—ef—&l%@—shares respectlvely, of
Serles A Convertlble Preferred Stock to AE-n : d

holders of record as of Aprll 15, %92—3—2024 and October 15,
%92—3—2024 respectlvely, as a dividend paid- in- kind on the Convertible Preferred Stock. The issuance is exempt from
registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, pursuant to Section 4 (a) (2) thereof. Purchases of Equity
Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers Page-46-Stock Performance Graph Not applicable. Item 6. [ Reserved ] Item 7.
Management’ s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations The following discussion and
analysis is provided as a supplement to, and should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10- K. Certain information contained in this discussion and
analysis includes forward- looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward- looking statements as a result of many factors. For information identifying important factors
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated in the forward- looking statements, please refer to Item
1A. “ Risk Factors ” and the" Cautionary Note Regarding Forward- Looking Statements ” sections of this Annual Report on
Form 10- K. Unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this section to the “ Company, ” “ Redwire, ” “ we, ” “us ”
or “ our ” refer to Redwire Corporation and its consolidated subsidiaries. Business Overview Redwire is a global leader in
mission critical space solutions and high- reliability space infrastructure for the next generation space economy. Our *“ Heritage
plus Innovation ” strategy enables us to combine decades of flight heritage with an agile and innovative culture creating new,
innovative technologies which are the building blocks of space infrastructure for government and commercial customers.
Redwire’ s primary business model is providing mission critical solutions based on core space infrastructure offerings for



government and commercial customers through long- duration projects. We are developing critical space infrastructure that
is impacting our Page 41terrestrial economy in areas, such as national security, global defense, telecommunications,
navigation and timing, and Earth observation. Our core space infrastructure offerings include a broad array of modern
products and services, which have been enabling space missions since the 1960s and have been flight- proven on over 200
spaceflight missions, including missions such as the National Aeronautics and Space Administration’ s (“ NASA ) Artemis
program, New Horizons and Perseverance, the Space Forces’ GPS, and the European Space Agency’ s (“ ESA ) Project for On-
Board Autonomy (“ PROBA ) programs. We are also a provider of innovative technologies with the potential to help transform
the cumomlu of space and create new markets for its c\plomlmn and commuudluduon RLL,LDI Dev LlOPlﬂLlll\ Selected

year- over- year —‘—Reveﬂﬂes-mefeasedé%ﬁnanclal performance metrlcs and operatlonal developments 101 the year
ended December 31, 2623-2024 , are described below. * Revenues increased 25 % for the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to the same period in %922—2023 . » Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues
decreased to 2823 % for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 from 44-28 % during the same period in 26222023 .  Net
loss deereased-increased 79-%-by $ 87. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 compared to the same period in
2622-2023 , impacted by $ 17. 7 million of net unfavorable EAC changes and $ 52. 0 million of non- cash loss related to
change in fair value of private warrants . - Net cash used by operating activities was $ 17. 3 million during the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to net cash prov ided b\ opualmg activ 111cx was—of% .2 mllllon during the yearended

: d-to 116 S-ae 0 ; g-thesame period in 2622-2023 .
*C OlllldLlLd del\lOU tnefeased-decreased year- over- year to S 296 7 mllllon as of December 31 2024, as compared to $ 372.
8 million as of December 31, 2023 . « The Company completed its tenth acquisition in August 2024 of Hera Systems . Inc.
(“ Hera ”), a spacecraft development company supporting the evolving requirements for national security missions
operating in contested space. * The Company expanded its global footprint and opened new facilities in California and
Poland (Redwire Poland sp z. o. 0.), respectively. * The Company as-was eempared-awarded the Air Force Research
Laboratory (“ AFRL ”) contract to $313-advance enhanced space- based capabilities for the warfighter . +-millionas-ofe
The Company provided the onboard computer for ESA’ s PROBA- 3 mission and completed the spacecraft integration
and testing, which launched in December 2024. « The Company successfully 3D- bioprinted the first live human heart
tissue through our 3D BioFabrication Facility onboard the ISS. » The Company secured a follow- on order for Roll- Out
Solar Arrays (“ ROSA ”) for Thales Alenia Space’ s telecommunications satellites. * The Company expanded its
spacecraft portfolio to 5 platforms for missions across every orbit: SabreSate; Thresher; Mako; Phantom and
Hammerhead. Subsequent to December 31, 2622-2024 , the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the
“ Merger Agreement ”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to acquire Edge Autonomy Intermediate Holdings, LL.C,
a Delaware limited liability company (together with its subsidiaries, “ Edge Autonomy ”) through a series of mergers set
forth in the Merger Agreement, for an aggregate purchase price of $ 925 million, subject to customary working capital,
cash and debt adjustments . MacroceonomieEnvironment Edge Autonomy is a leading provider of field- proven
uncrewed airborne system technology. Please refer to Note X — Subsequent Events of the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the subsequent acquisition. V¢ eontinue-to-evaluate
manage and assess our business based on performance on contracts, which are typically long- term and involves the
engoingimpaet-design, development and manufacturing of adverse-maeroeeonomie-eonditions-our core offerings and
related activities with varying delivery schedules. Therefore, the results of operations for a particular year, or year- over-
year comparison may not be indicative of future operating results. Substantially all of our contracts are accounted for
under the percentage- of- completion cost- to- cost method. As a result, revenues on contracts are recorded over time
based on progress towards completion for a particular contract, including the estimate of the profit to be earned at
completion. The following discussion of material changes in consolidated revenues should be read in tandem with the
subsequent discussion of changes in consolidated cost of sales because changes in revenues are typically accompanied by
a corresponding change in cost of sales due to the nature of the percentage- of- completion cost- to- cost method. Page 42
Net EAC Adjustments We record changes in costs estimated at completion (net EAC adjustments) using the cumulative
catch- up method of accounting. Net EAC adjustments can have a significant effect on reported revenues and gross
profit and the table below presents the aggregate amounts for the following periods: Year Ended (dollars in thousands)
December 31 ., among-others-2024December 31 , hetghtenedinflation-2023Gross favorable $ 12 | ristnginterestrates-062 $ 11
, 805 Gross unfavorable (29, 758) (15, 327) Total net EAC adjustments $ (17, 696) $ (3, 522) The Company evaluates the
contract value and cost estimates at completion for performance obligations no less frequently than quarterly, and more
frequently when circumstances significantly change. Changes in contract estimates occur for a variety of reasons
including, but not limited to, changes in contract scope, labor product1v1ty, the nature and technical complex1ty of the
work to be performed, availability and cost volatility in-e y d g y :
thathave-affeeted-the-Company—s-eestof eapital-materials , subcontractor and Vendor performance, volume assumptlons,
inflationary trends, and schedule and performance delays. We utilize information available to us at the time when
revising our estimates and apply consistent judgement across the full portfolio of programs. Refer to Note Q — Revenues
of the accompanymg notes to the consolldated financial eeﬂd-rt-teﬁ—&nd-statements for addltlonal mformatlon restlts




Aeqt&sr&ern—P&ge%esu%ts—e%eper&ﬁeﬁs—fer—lhc ycal ended December 31, "()"7» eempared—te—t-he—ye&eeﬂded-BeeeﬂabeH-l—

-Beeeﬂ‘lbei%—l—l’-e%} Ycal Ended S ( hdncc from prior year pcrlod % C hanUc Tom prior ycal pcnod (m 110usdnds cxccpl
percentages) December 31, 2024 % of revenuesDecember 31, 2023 % of revenuesDeeember3+revenuesRevenues $ 304 .
2022-101 100 % efreventesReventes-$ 243, 800 100 % $ +66- 60 , 301 5491009583251 25 52-% Cost of salesi85
sales259 , 646 85 185, 831 76 +3+73 , 815 40 854-82-53;-9774+CGross marginS7-profitd4, 455 15 57 , 969 24 28-(13 , 514)
(23) 695—1—8%9%44—1—92—()pudlmo expenses: Selling, general and administrative expensesé8-expenses71 , 398 23 68 , 525 28 2,
873 4 Transaction expenses9, 129 3 13 — 9 116 70, 342—44—61—123 Research and development6 128 8—1—79—(—39—’&&19%&01&

12 2 ’7’1‘7
CXPLIISCUSTO =y 2 4

2 479413381 ,149 23 Opclalmg income (loss) (42, 200) (14) (15, 548 (6 (-1-46—26 448—652 171 €9H—B9—999-€89-}
[nterest expense, netio-netl3 , 483 4 10 , 699 4 824952, 486-36-784 26 Other (income) expense, rett-net60, 648 20 1 , 503 1
59 (6, 145 3 67551H6++, 935 5H-H09-Income (loss) before income taxes ( 116, 331) (38) (27, 750) (11) (438-88 , 592-581
) 319 861084286y Income 1dx expense (benefit) (2, 020) (1) (486) — (F1 ,972-534 ) 316 (5)3-F486-(94-Net income
( oss) (114, 311) (38) (27, 264) (11) (436-87 , 626-047 ) 319 (8H1+03;356-(F9N-Net income (loss) attributable to
noncontrolling rﬁteres’fs—lnterests4 — (1) — 5 (500 3—2+67) Net income (loss) attributable to Redwire Corporation $ (2—7—,
%6—33—61—1—114 315) (38 ) % $ (13627 , 647263 ) (8+11 ) % $ +63;354-( 79-87, 052 ) 319 % Revenues increased by § 83-60 .
million, or 52-25 %, for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 . Thc
ycal over- ycal increase in rev enues was dﬂveﬂ—by—a-n—prlmarlly related to -rﬂerease-lncreases e-P$—43—3—n=n-1-l-teﬂ—rn—eeﬂtﬂ-bu-ted

average contract size and 1nc1cascd \% olumc of plOdLlCllOH in the power generation and fmereg-ravrw—pay}eads—structures and
mechanisms space infrastructure offerings . These Cost-of-Sales-Costofsalesinereased-increases were partially offset by $
54-17 . 6-7 million ;er-4+%;-of net unfavorable EAC adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 ;-as compared
to $ 3. 5 million of net unfavorable EAC adjustments for the same period in 2023. Please refer to Note Q — Revenues of
the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the Company’ s net
EAC adjustments. Cost of Sales Cost of sales increased $ 73. 8 million, or 40 %, for the year ended December 31, 2022
2024 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 . The year- over- year increase in cost of sales was primarily driven
by mcrcascd labor and subcontractor costs associated with revenae-growthrlarger contracts in power generation offerings
for which the-there were no related costs during the same period in 2023 and-$36-. Page 43 F-millien-ofecontributedeostof
salesfromthe-Spaee NV-Aequisttion—Gross Profit and Margin Gross margin-profit inereased-decreased $ 29-13 . 3-5 million,
or +62-23 %, for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , as compared to the year ended December 31, 2622-2023 . As a
percentage of revenues, gross margin was 15 % and 24 %-and+8-% for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022
, respectively . The year- over- year decrease in gross margin as a percentage of revenues was driven by changes in
contract mix, including larger contracts with lower margins and completion of certain higher margin contracts,
impacting the overall contract portfolio gross margin. The decrease is also partially due to a $ 17. 7 million negative
impact of net EAC adjustments for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to $ 3. 5 million of net unfavorable
EAC adjustments for the same period in 2023. Please refer to Note Q — Revenues of the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the Company’ s net EAC adjustments. Selling,
General and Administrative (“ SG & A ) Expenses SG & A expenses increased $ 2. 9 million, or 4 %, for the year ended
December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023 . The year- over- year increase in gress-margin-SG &

A expenses was primarily driven by an increase in -}ar-ge—ﬁ-xed-legal expenses, share based pﬂee—eeﬂtr-aet—aw&rds—as—a
pereeﬂ’fage-e-ﬁreveﬂues—eemp-}eﬁem compensatlon oftowg 4

gross-margirand marketing gross g Ofy - st i d-Admint t
-SG—&—:%—E*peﬁses—SG—&—A—c\pcnscs deereased—of % +2 . 8 million, er$ 2 7 mllhon and $0. 8 mllhon, respectlvely These
increases were partlally offset by a decrease in professmnal fees and insurance expense of § 3 %forthe-yearended

.4 mllhon As—a—pereeﬂf&ge-e%reveﬁues—SG—&—A

, tespeetively-2024

from 28 % during the same perlod in 2023 T his dcc1casc a-}se—lcﬂccls 1hc Company’ s commucd focus on cost discipline and

sllcamlmmg corp(ndlc overhead costs to enhance opcmlmu IC\ erage. Fhese-eostsavings-were-partially-offsetby-$128-millien

a—ransaction Expenses Transaction expenses deereased

1ncreased $ 3—9 2—1 1111111()ner—1-99—%— or the year cndcd December 31, 2623-2024 , as—eemp&red—te—t-he—ye&eeﬂded-Beeeﬂaber




2023 5. The increase is primarily due to costs incurred related to the Hera acquisition as well eempared-to-the-year-ended
-Beeeﬂabeﬁ-l—ze%z—’l:h-ts—rnefease—was» as pritnarily-pre- acquisition costs 1ncurred c0n51st1ng of due dlhgence and
additional expenses rclated to prospective acquisitions, including aninerease ot v changes
Tﬂ—Vaﬂab-l-e—lﬂ-fefeS-t—f&teS—eﬂ—the subsequent acqu1s1t10n of Edge Autonomy Gempany—s—debt—ebhg&t-rens—and—rnefeased

y . Please refer to Note X — Debt-Subsequent
Events of the accompanymg notes to the COHSOllddted financial stdtements for additional information related to the subsequent
acquisition. Research and Development Research and development expenses increased $ 1. 1 million, or 23 %, for the
year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily due to
strategic decisions to invest in future developments related to avionics, sensors and platforms, structures and
mechanisms, power generation technologies and microgravity payloads. Interest Expense, net Interest expense, net
increased $ 2. 8 million, or 26 %, for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to the year ended December 31,
2023. This increase was primarily related to an increase in borrowings on the revolving credit facility compared to 2023.
Please refer to Note J — Debt of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional
information related to the Company’ s debt obligations. Other (Income) Expense, net Other (income) expense, net deereased
increased fromnet-other-ineome-to-net-otherexpense-by § 4459 . 6-1 million s-for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , qs
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022-2023 . This year- over- year deerease-increase was primarily duetoa $ 2—52 .
million loss as a result of an increase in the fair value of the Company’ s private warrant liability for the year ended December
31,2623-2024 as compared to a $ 472 . 0 million loss during the same period in 2023, driven by a larger increase in the
Company’ s common stock price during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the increase during 2023. The
increase was also due toan$ 8. 0 million g&m—loss contlngency recognlzed for a lltlgatlon matter, for whlch t-he—there was

Please refer to Note N — Commltments and Contlngencles and Note D — Fair Value of Financial Instluments of the
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the-litigation matters and
private warrants , respectively and-eommitted-equity-faettity-. [ncome Tax Expense (Benefit) The table below provides
information regarding our income tax expense (benefit) for the following periods: Year Ended (in thousands, except
percentages) December 31, 2023Peeember-2024December 3 1, 2622Ineeme-2023Income tax expense (benefit) § (2, 020) $ (
486 ¥$F-972) Effective tax ratel. 7 % 1. 8 % Page 44 5-8%The deereasetnonrciiective tax rate for the year ended
December 31, 2—92—3—2024 —remamed materlally c0n51stent as compared to the year ended December 31, %922—2023 18

COHSOllddted fumnudl stutements for addmonal 1n10rmdt10n Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Noneontrollmo lnteIests The net
income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 remained-materialy
eonsistent-as-was eompared-with-de minimis. Please refer to Note U — Joint Venture of the same-petiodr2022
accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information . Supplemental Non- GAAP
[nformation During the third quarter of 2024, we changed the Supplemental Non- GAAP Information to present only
Adjusted EBITDA, whereas prior period disclosures also presented Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDA. Management
believes the presentation of Pro Forma Adjusted EBITDA no longer provides the same meaningful insights into the
Company’ s performance as it did during the initial years of the Company’ s formation. Prior period disclosures were
recast to conform to current presentation. There was no change in the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA. We use Adjusted
EBHBA-andPre-Ferma-Adjusted EBITDA to evaluate our operating performance, generate future operating plans, and make
strategic decisions, including those relating to operating expenses and the allocation of internal resources which are not
calculated in accordance with U. S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“ U. S. GAAP ) and are considered to be Non-
GAAP financial performance measures. These Non- GAAP financial performance measures are used to supplement the
financial information presented on a U. S. GAAP basis and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the
relevant U. S. GAAP measures and should be read in conjunction with information presented on a U. S. GAAP basis. Because
not all companies use identical calculations, Page-43-our presentation of Non- GAAP measures may not be comparable to other
similarly titled measures of other companies. Adjusted EBITDA is defined as net income (loss) adjusted for interest expense,
net, income tax expense (benefit), depreciation and amortization, impairment expense, transaction expenses aequisition-deat
€osts, acquisition integration costs, acquisition earnout costs, purchase accounting fair value adjustment related to deferred
revenue, severance costs, capital market and advisory fees, litigation- related expenses, write- off of long- lived assets, equity-
b%ed Compensatlon Commltted equlty facﬂlty transaction costs, debt fmdncms_ costs, galns on sale of joint ventures, and

epef&t—mg—peffeﬂﬁ&nee— The tdble below presents a reconcmdtlon 01‘ Adjusted EBITDA and—Pfe—Feﬂﬂa—Adjﬁsted—E—B-I—"PBA—to

net income (loss), computed in accordance with U. S. GAAP for the following periods: Year Ended (in thousands) December
31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Net-2023Net income (loss) $ (114, 311) $ (27, 264 ¥$-36;,-626-) Interest
expense, retto-netl3 , 483 10 , 699 8;220-Income tax expense (benefit) ( 2, 020) (486) 972 Depreciation and



amertizattont0-amortization11 , 692 10 , 724 Transaction H;288Impairment-expense-expenses —96;-623-Aequisttton-deat
eosts-(1) 9, 129 13 3;:23F-Acquisition integration costs (i) 609 546 3:-9+5-Purchase accounting fair value adjustment related to

deferred revenue (ii) — 15 439-Severance costs (iii) 867 313 +,3H-Capital market and advisory fees (iv) 6, 703 8, 607 5,547
Litigation- related expenses (v) 11, 011 1, 235 2-87FEquity- based compensation (vi) 11, 326 8, 658 +8;-+86-Committed equity
facility transaction costs (vil) — 259 45364-Debt financing costs (viii) — 17 +62-Gain on sale of joint ventures, net of costs
1ncurred (1x) (1 255) — Warrant hablhty change in fan value ad)u%tment (ﬁex ) 51,960 2, 011 HF8H-Adjusted EBHDALS;
g ; S a-Adjusted EBITDA § (806) $ 15, 347 $F-635)-.
Redwire mcurred acqumtlon costs mcludmg due drhgence mteoratron costs and additional expenses related to pre- acquisition
activity. Acquisition deal costs was reclassified as Transaction expenses to conform with current period presentation.
Page 45 ii. Redwire recorded adjustments related to the impact of recognizing deferred revenue at fair value as part of the
purchase accounting for previous acquisitions. iii. Redwire incurred severance costs related to separation agreements entered
into with former employees. iv. Redwire incurred capital market and advisory fees related to advisors assisting with transitional
activities associated with becoming a public company, such as implementation of internal controls over financial reporting, and
the internalization of corporate services, including, but not limited to, implementing enhanced enterprise resource planning
systems. v. Redwire incurred expenses related to the-202+-Aundit-Committee-investigattonandresulting-securities litigation as
farther-deseribed-, including a loss contingency, presented net of an anticipated insurance recovery, in the amount of § 7. 0
million recognized in 2024. Refer to Note N — Commitments and Contingencies of the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information . vi. Redwire incurred expenses related to equity- based
compensation under Redwire’ s equity- based compensation plan. vii. Redwire incurred expenses related to the committed
equity facility with B. Riley, which includes consideration paid to enter into the Purchase Agreement as well as changes in fair
value recognized as a gain or loss during the respective periods. viii. Redwire incurred expenses related to debt financing
agreements, including amendment related fees paid to third parties that are expensed in accordance with U. S. GAAP. Page44
ix . Redwire recognized a gain related to the sale of all its ownership in two joint ventures, presented net of transaction
costs incurred, as further described in Note U — Joint Venture of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial
statements X. Redw1re ad)u%ted the prrvate warrant hablhty to reflect change% n fan Value recogmzed asa gam or loss durmg

mel-uded—t-he—reaﬁts—e%Spaee—PﬁL Key Performance Indrcator% The followmg Key Performance Indrcator% (“ KPI@ ”) are used
by Management to assess the financial performance of the Company, monitor relevant trends and support financial, operational
and strategic decision- making. Management frequently monitors and evaluates KPIs against internal targets, core business
objectives as well as industry peers and may, on occasion, change the mix or calculation of KPIs to better align with the
business, its operating environment, standard industry metrics, or other considerations. If the Company changes the method by
which it calculates or preqente a KPI, pr101 period dlicloqureﬂ are recast to conform to current preqentamon Puring-the-first

metﬂes—wrt-h—md-ustfy-peefs—Book to- Bill Our book to- b111 ratio was as follows for he perrodq preiented Lait Twelve Months
(in thousands, except ratio) December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 26022Centraets-2023Contracts awarded $ 229,
789 $ 300, 042 -$—32—7,—935—Reveﬁttes%43—— Revenues304 , 101 243 , 800 +66;549-Book- to- bill rattet-ratio0 . 761. 232- 23 —64
Book- to- bill is the ratio of total contracts awarded to revenues recorded in the same period. The contracts awarded balance
includes firm contract orders, including time- and- material (“ T & M ”) contracts, awarded during the period and does not
include unexercised contract options or potential orders under indefinite delivery / indefinite quantity contracts. Although the
contracts awarded balance reflects firm contract orders, terminations, amendments, or contract cancellations may occur which
could result in a reduction to the contracts awarded balance. We view book- to- bill as an indicator of future revenue growth
potential. To drive future revenue growth, our goal is for the level of contracts awarded in a given period to exceed the revenue
recorded, thus yielding a book- to- bill ratio greater than 1. 0. Our book- to- bill ratio was 0. 76 for the LTM (*“ Last Twelve
Months ”) ended December 31, 2024, as compared to 1. 23 for the LTM ended December 31, 2023 ;as-eompared-te2-. For
B4-for-the LTM ended December 31, 2622-2024 , contracts awarded includes $ 21. 9 million of acquired contract value
from the Hera Systems acquisition, which was completed in the third quarter of 2024 . For the LTM ended December 31,
2023, none of the contracts awarded balance relate% to acqurred contract value. -Fer—t-he—l:"l“—M—eﬂded—Beeember—}-l—Z—GQ—Z—

ﬂ&e—femﬁh—qu&ﬁer—of%@%%—Page 45—46 Backlog The followmg table preient% our contracted backlog as of December 31, 2—92—3
2024 and December 31, 2822-2023 , and related activity for the year ended December 31, 2823-2024 as compared to the year
ended December 31, %92—2—2023 (in thousands) December 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 26220rganie-20230rganic
backlog, beginning balance $ 372,790 $ 313, 057 -$—1-3r9—742—0rgamc additions during the perted366-period207 , 704 300 , 042
327-635-Organic revenue recognized during the period (297, 699) (243, 800 H3+60;549-) Foreign currency transtatton3—
translation (1, 826) 3 , 491 6;-829-Organic backlog, ending ba}aﬁee37—2—~ balance280 , 969 372 , 790 343;-05FAcquisition-
related contract value, beginning balance — — Acquisition- related contract value acquired during the period21, 940 —
Acquisition- related additions during the period145 — Acquisition- related revenue recognized during the period (6, 402)



— Acquisition- related backlog, ending balaree-balancel5 —, 683 — Contracted backlog, ending balance $ 296, 652 $ 372,
790 $-343;-057-We view growth in backlog as a key measure of our business growth. Contracted backlog represents the
estimated dollar value of firm funded executed contracts for which work has not been performed (also known as the remaining
performance obligations on a contract). Our contracted backlog includes $ 16. 7 million and $ 19. 3 millienand-$37-4-million
in remaining contract value from T & M contracts as of December 31, 2023-2024 and as of December 31, 2022-2023 ,
respectively. Organic backlog change excludes backlog activity from acquisitions for the first four full quarters since the
entities’ acquisition date. Contracted backlog activity for the first four full quarters since the entities’ acquisition date is
included in acquisition- related contracted backlog change. After the completion of four fiscal quarters, acquired entities are
treated as organic for current and comparable historical periods. Organic contract value includes the remaining contract value as
of January 1 not yet recognized as revenue and additional orders awarded during the period for those entities treated as organic.
Acquisition- related contract value includes remaining contract value as of the acquisition date not yet recognized as revenue
and additional orders awarded during the period for entities not treated as organic. Organic revenue includes revenue earned
during the period presented for those entities treated as organic, while acquisition- related revenue includes the same for all
other entities, excluding any pre- acquisition revenue earned during the period. Fhere--- The ts-ne-acquisition- related backlog
activity presented in the table above as-alt-aeguired-entitieshave-is related to the Hera Systems acquisition completed fonr
fiseal-during third quarters— quarter of 2024 pest—aequisttion-. Although contracted backlog reflects business associated with
contracts that are considered to be firm, terminations, amendments or contract cancellations may occur, which could result in a
reduction in our total backlog. In addition, some of our multi- year contracts are subject to annual funding. Management fuly
expects all amounts reflected in contracted backlog to ultimately be fully funded. Contracted backlog from foreign operations in
Luxembourg and Belgium was $ 70. 5 million and $ 106. 0 million aad-$429-9-milien-as of December 31, 2623-2024 and
December 31, 28222023 , respectively. These amounts are subject to foreign exchange rate translations from euros to U. S.
dollars that could cause the remaining backlog balance to fluctuate with the foreign exchange rate at the time of measurement.
Liquidity and Capital Resources Our operatlons are prlmarlly funded with cash flows pr0V1ded by operatlng activities ;-and
access to eX1st1ng credlt fac1ht1es B Hi S s y d

2024 we had $ 39—33 8—7 mllhon in cash and Cash equwalents and $ -1-8—15 0 mllhon in avallable borrowmgs from our
existing credit facilities . Additionally, we had $ 15. 4 million in restricted cash which consists of a cash- collateralized
standby letter of credit for a submitted proposal. Included in the restricted cash balance is $ 7. 8 million of proceeds
received from third- parties that is refundable except in certain limited circumstances . Our primary requirements for
liquidity and capital are for the Company’ s material cash requirements, including working capital needs, satisfaction of our
indebtedness and contractual commitments, investment in expanding our breadth and footprint through acquisitions as well as
investment in facilities, equipment, technologies, and research and development for our growth initiatives and general corporate
needs. Page 47 Our ability to fund our cash needs is dependent upon the successful execution of our business strategy and future
operating results. Our future operating results are subject to, among others, general economic conditions, including as a result of
heightened inflation, rising interest rates and supply chain pressures, competitive dynamics in our target markets as well as
legislative and regulatory factors that may be outside of our control. As part of our business and debt management strategy, we
continuously evaluate opportunities to further strengthen our financial and liquidity position, including issuing the-issuanee-of
additional equity or debt securities, refinanee-refinancing or otherwise restraeture-restructuring our existing credit facilities, or
enter-entering into new financing arrangements. There can be no assurance that any of Page-46-these actions will be sufficient to
allow us to adequately service our debt obligations, meet our debt covenants, or that such actions will not result in an adverse
impact on our business. In the event that we require additional financing, we may not be able to fatse-secure such financing on
terms acceptable to us or at all. We believe our existing sources of liquidity will be sufficient to meet our working capital needs
and comply with our debt covenants for at least the next twelve months from the date on which our consolidated financial
statements were issued. Indebtedness Committed-Equity Faetlity-OnApri-4-Off- Balance Sheet Arrangements From time to
time , 2022-we are a party to certain off- balance sheet arrangements . such as standby letters of credit. Liabilities related
to the-these Company-entered-into-arrangements are generally not reflected in our consolidated balance sheets. We do not
expect an-any material impact on our cashflows, results of operations or financial condition to result from these off-
balance sheet arrangements. As of December 31, 2024, we had $ 86-15 . 6-4 million eemmen-stoekPurehase-Agreement(the
“Purehase-Agreement=)-with-of standby letters of credlt outstandlng for a submltted proposal whlch were secured by our
restrlcted cash Refer to Note B- €

P%ease—refeiete—Nete—B—Faﬂ—Va}ue-ef—Fmaﬁeial—}ﬁstrtﬂﬁeﬂts—of the accompanymg notes to the consohdated ﬁnan01a1 statements
for addmonal 1nformat1on related —Net—pfeeeeds—uﬂdeﬁ-he—Pt&ehase—Agreemeﬁt—to the-Company-will-depend-on-the-freqteney

i h i i ihity Contlactual Obhgatlom The followmg table presents our contractual
obhgatlons as of December 31, %92—3—2024 %924%925%9%6%924%92—8%%&0&47*%
20252026202720282029ThereafterTotalAdams Street Term Loan $346-$310$29,902$ —$ —$ — $ —$ 30, 522212
Adams Street Delayed Draw Term Loan150 456-14, 469 — — — — 14, 769-619 Adams Street Incremental Term Loan320 326



30, 948 — — ——31, 588268 Adams Street Revolving Credit Facility — 50 —2-, 000 — — — 42— 50, 000 2622-D & O
Financing Lean598-Loan486 — — — — — 598486 Total long- term debt maturities1, 266 125 37678687, 319 — — — 89
— 126, 477585 Future minimum operating lease payments4-paymentsS , 582-485 4, 6983-545 4 , 569-3-366 2 . 371861 |,
8521836 2 ., 57218858 21 ., 984-951 Future minimum finance lease paymentsS64-paymentsS71 479-363289-136-462 382 218
42 — 1,83+675 Total contractual obligations $ 6-7 , 524-322 § 5-130 , 357326 $ 944 , +94-748 § 3, 666-079 S 1, 988-878 § 1+-2
., 572-858 $ H46-150 , 292-As-of211 During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company entered into an economic
development agreement to serve as the anchor tenant at the Novaparke Innovation & Technology Campus in Floyd County,
[ndiana , the construction of which is anticipated to be completed during fiscal year 2025 . In accordance with the
agreement, the Company has eemmitted-to-enter-entered into a lease for a 30, 000 square foot property upeneempletionof
eonstrietionr. Constraetion-As of December 31, 2024, the Company had entered into two facility leases, including
Novaparke, which had not yet commenced but created significant future lease obligations in the amount of $ 3. 8 million.
The contracts were determined to be operating leases, whereby the Company is not antteipated-required to make rent
payments prior to the lease commencement dates while construction is completed on the underlying assets. Due to the
nature of the work and the amount of the Company’ s contribution to the construction period costs for the leases, the
Company was determined not to be eemplete-tnti-fiseal-year 2025at-whieh-time-thec owner of Company-will-enter-into-the
assoetatedlease-agreement-assets under construction as the landlords have substantially all of the construction period
risks . Page 47-48 Cash Flows The table below summarizes certain information from the consolidated statements of cash flows
for the following periods: Year Ended (in thousands) December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022€ash-2023Cash
and-, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year $ 30, 278 $ 28, 316 $28;,-523-Operating activities: Net income
(loss) (114, 311) ( 27, 264) Reconciling (136;-620) Nen—eashadjustments24—- adjustments to net income (loss) 75, 006 21 ,
700 94;:-966-Changes in working eapttalé-capital2l , 957 6 , 795 4;-063-Net cash provided by (used in) operating aetivitiest—
activities (17, 348) 1 , 231 345-65H-Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ( 7, 199) (8, 327 H3%382-) Net cash
provided by (used in) financing aetivities9-activities43 , 716 9 , 060 #6;-566-Effect of foreign currency rate changes on cash and
, cash equivalents and restricted cash (376) (2) 2—7’2—Net increase (decrease) in cash and-eashegquivalentst—, 962-7793-Cash
and-cash equivalents and restricted cash18, 793 1, 962 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 49, 071
$ 30, 278 Net cash used in operating activities was $ 28;-17. 3 million during the year ended December 3+6- 31 Net, 2024
compared to net cash pIO\ ided by opemtmg dctl\ mes was—of b 1.2 mllllon d-urmg—t-he—yea-ﬁeﬁéed—]%eeﬁ‘rber%—l%@%—aﬁ

o d A€ same-pertod-n ,resulting ina $ 32-18 . 9-6

mi hon deerease—mcrease in the use of cash year- over- yeal The Chanae was primarily due to a-an deefease—lncrease of $ 36-87

.2-0 million in cash used related to the Company’ s net loss and-nen—eash-adjustments-for the year ended December 31, 2024 in
comparison to 2023 , partially offset by ireemparisento-thesamepertod-in2622-and-an increase in cash provided by working
capital of $ 15. 2 million and increase of $ 53. 3 million in the effects of non- cash adjustments. The increase in cash
provided by working capital is primarily rclated to an inereases— increase tn-deferredrevente-of $ 22-9 . 7 million and $ 4. 4
million in other liabilities and accounts payable and accrued expenses, respectively, compared to a decrease of $ 1. 0
million and $ 3. 3 million in the same accounts for 2023, respectively. These working capital increases were partially offset
by ana tnefease-decrease in contract assets aﬁd—&eeeﬂ-rﬁs—reeewab-}e—of $ 7 1 mllllon compared toa decrease of $5.4 mllllon

t-he—ye&eeﬂded-BeeefnbeH-l—%)B eemp&red—te—t-he—s&rne—perted—m%@%% The deefease-mcreases in accounts }’)d\/dble and

accrued expenses is primarily a result of timing of payments and invoice receipt and the increase in other liabilities is
primarily related to the loss contingency recognized related to a litigation matter. Please refer to Note N — Commitments
and Contingencies of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements for additional information related
to litigation matters. The changes in contract assets were primarily driven by the timing of billable milestones during the
year ended December 31, 2024 compared to 2023. The increase in non- cash adjustments is primarily related to an
increase in the fair value of the outstanding private warrants of $ 52. 0 million during the year ended December 31, 2024
compared to 2023. Please refer to Note D — Fair Value of Financial Instruments of the accompanying notes to the
consolidated financial statements for additional information related to the fair value of warrants . [nvesting activities Net
cash used in investing activities decreased by $ 29-1 . 1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , as compared to the
same penod in 2—92—2—2023 The change was deefeas-e—is—prﬂﬁaﬂ-l-y—due to net proceeds of $ 33-4 . 2-6 million received from of

- the sale of is-no-eomparable-aetivity for-the yearended

-Beeeﬂabei%-l—Company S Jomt ventures %92—3—"Phts—was—part1dl y offset by an increase of $ 2. 6 million in capital
expenditures primarily related to licensed software for internal- use and $ 0. 9 million cash used, net of cash acquired related
to the Hera Systems acquisition . Financing activities Net cash provided by financing activities fer-increased by $ 34. 7

mllllon durmg tl 1e year ended December 31 2024 as compared to 7072 deereas-ed—$—67%—&n—lherreernp&red—te—t-l&e—s&me

e-ffset—by—an increase in net ploceeds received from debt 0f‘{> 16-37 . 9—1 mi hon du11n<y the year ended December 31,2623-2024
, compared to netrepayments-of$ +10 . 0 million in the-same-pertodin2622-2023 and advances from third- parties of § 7. 8
million . The increase in proceeds received from debt was driven primarily by increased draws from the Adams Street
Revolving Credit Facility during the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to 2023 eempared-to-the-same-pertodin2022-.
Foreign Currency Exposures Our operations in Europe Belgimand-uxembeurg-conduct transactions that are primarily
denominated in euros, which limits our foreign currency exposure. However, changes in exchange rates will affect the
Company’ s consolidated financial statements as expressed in U. S. dollars. Page 49 Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates



Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with U. S. GAAP, which requires us to make estimates,
assumptions and judgments that affect the amounts reported in our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes to
the consolidated financial statements. For the critical accounting estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial
statements, we make assumptions and judgments that can have a significant impact on net revenues, cost and expenses, and
other (income) expense, net, in our consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), as well as, on the
value of certain assets and liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets. We base our assumptions, judgments and estimates on
historical experience and various other factors Page-48-that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results
could differ materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. We believe the following accounting
policies are the most critical to the understanding of our consolidated financial statements and require the use of significant
management judgment. For a summary of our significant accounting policies, please refer to Note B — Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies of the accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. Goodwill, Intangible and Long- lived
Assets The Company allocates the purchase price of an acquired business to the underlying tangible and identifiable intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at acquisition date, with the excess recorded as
goodwill. Identifiable finite- lived intangible assets from acquired businesses primarily consist of technology, trademarks, and
customer relationships. The accounting for business combinations requires us to make significant estimates and assumptions,
especially with respect to goodwill, intangible assets, and contingent consideration, which can be affected by contract
performance and other factors over time. This may cause final amounts to differ materially from original estimates. Adjustments
to the fair value of purchased assets and liabilities after the initial measurement period are recognized in net earnings.
Impairment Testing The Company assesses goodwill and indefinite- lived intangible assets for impairment annually for
impairment as of October 1st, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate the carrying value may be impaired. Such
events or circumstances may include, but are not limited to: * deterioration in overall economic conditions; ¢ failure to reach our
internal forecasts could impact our ability to achieve our forecasted levels of cash flows;  adverse technological events that
could impact our performance; * volatility in equity and debt markets resulting in higher discount rates; and ¢ significant adverse
changes in the regulatory environment or markets in which we operate. Our goodwill and indefinite- lived intangible assets are
allocated to and tested for impairment at the reporting unit level, which is defined as an operating segment or one level below an
operating segment. The Company has feurfive reporting units, Mission Solutions, Space Components, Engineering Services,
Hera Systems and Redwire Europe, which were determined based on similar economic characteristics, financial metrics and
product and servicing offerings. We may use both qualitative and quantitative approaches when testing goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets for impairment. In circumstances where a qualitative analysis indicates that the fair value of a reporting
unit does not exceed its carrying value, a quantitative analysis is performed using an income approach. When performing a
quantitative analysis, the fair value of the Company’ s reporting units are generally determined using a combination of an
income approach based on a discounted cash flow (“ DCF ) model as well as a market approach based on guideline public
company revenues and earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization multiples. Determining the fair value
requires the exercise of significant judgments, including the amount and timing of expected future cash flows, long- term growth
rates, discount rates and relevant comparable public company earnings multiples and relevant transaction multiples. The cash
flows employed in the DCF analysis are based on the Company best estimate of future revenues, gross margins, operating
expenses, and cash flows with consideration for other factors, such as general market conditions, U. S. and foreign government
budgets, existing contracted and uncontracted backlog, subcontractor agreements, changes in working capital, long- term
business plans and historical operating performance. These estimates and judgments are based upon information available at the
time and have been deemed reasonable by management as of the measurement date. The discount rates utilized in the DCF
model are based on the respective reporting unit’ s weighted average cost of capital (“ WACC ), which takes into account the
relative weights of debt and equity components within the Company’ s existing capital structure and represents the expected
cost of new capital, adjusted as appropriate to consider the risk inherent in future cash flows of the respective reporting unit.
Actual results could differ from these assumptions. Page 50 During 2024 and 2023, the Company performed its annual
impairment tests for each of our reporting units and concluded there were no indicators that the fair value was more likely than
not below carrying value. Therefore, no quantitative assessment was performed and no goodwﬂl 1mpa1rrnent was recognlzed

durmg 2024 and 2023 —Buﬂng—ZGQQ— respectlvely

. Finite-
lived intangible assets and 1ong hved assets are amortized to expense over the1r estimated useful life on a strarght line basis or
over the period the economic benefits of the intangible asset are consumed. The Company evaluates its intangible and long-
lived Page-49-assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset or asset
group may be impaired. If events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset or asset group may be
impaired, the sum of the undiscounted expected future cash flows of the asset or asset group are compared to the asset or asset
group’ s carrying value. If the asset or asset group’ s carrying value exceed the sum of undiscounted cash flows, the Company
records an impairment loss equal to the excess of carrying amount over the estimated fair value of the asset or asset group.
During 2024 and 2023, the Company 1dent1f1ed no trlggerrng events and therefore no impairment assessment was performed on
1ts 1ntang1b1e and 1ong hved assets - g y-iden &0 eV afe-p ; pa ;

. Revenue Recognition The Cornpany engages in 1ong term
contracts 1nclud1ng ﬁrrn ﬁxed price (“ FFP ”), cost- plus ﬁxed fee (“ CPFF ”)and T & M for production and service activities.
The Company recognizes revenue for performance obligations over time using the cost- to- cost method for FFP and CPFF

contracts. Revenue from T & M contracts is recognized based on the number of direct labor hours expended in the performance



of a contract multiplied by the contract billing rate, as well as reimbursement of other direct billable costs. Revenue is
recognized over time for FFP and CPFF contracts (versus point in time recognition) due to the fact that the Company’ s
performance creates an asset with no alternative use to the Company and the Company has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date. The portion of the payments retained by the customer or advance payment is not considered a
significant financing component because it is used to facilitate inventory demands at the onset of a contract and to safeguard the
Company from the failure of the other party to abide by some or all of their obligations under the contract. Under the cost- to-
cost method, revenue is recognized based on the proportion of total costs incurred to total estimated costs- at- completion (*
EAC ”). An EAC includes all direct costs and indirect costs directly attributable to a program or allocable based on our program
cost pooling arrangements. Estimates regarding the Company’ s cost associated with the design, manufacture and delivery of
products and services are used in determining the EAC. We prepare EACs for our FFP and CPFF contracts and calculate
estimated revenues and costs over the life of our contracts. Accounting for long- term contracts requires significant judgment
relative to estimating total contract revenues and costs, in particular, assumptions relative to the amount of time to complete the
contract, including the assessment of the nature and complexity of the work to be performed. The Company’ s estimates are
based upon the professional knowledge and experience of its engineers, program managers and other personnel, who review
each long- term contract monthly to assess the contract’ s schedule, performance, technical matters and EAC. Factors considered
in these estimates include our historical performance, the availability, productivity and cost of labor, the nature and complexity
of work to be performed, availability and cost of materials, components and subcontracts, the risk and impact of delayed
performance and the level of indirect cost allocations. Changes in estimates are retrospectively applied and when adjustments in
estimated contract costs are identified, such revisions may result in current period adjustments to earnings applicable to
performance in prior periods. When total EACs on a contract exceed the total revenue, a provision for the entire loss is
determined at the contract level and is recorded in the period in which the loss is evident. Post- retirement Benefit Plans
Through the...... being realized upon settlement. Page 51 Private Warrants Classification of the Company’ s private warrants is
based on management’ s analysis of the guidance in ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and in a statement issued by the Staff
of the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding the accounting and reporting considerations for warrants issued by
special purpose acquisition companies entitled “ Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants
Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies. ” The Company determined that the private warrants meet the definition of a
derivative and, therefore, are classified as a liability measured at fair value, subject to remeasurement at each reporting period.
The Company measures the private warrant liability at fair value each reporting period with the change in fair value recorded as
other (income) expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Item 7A.
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk The Company is a smaller reporting company and is not required to
provide the information required under this Item 7A. Page $2-51 Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data INDEX
TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PageReport of Independent Reglstered Pubhc Accountlng Firm (PGA:GB
KPMG LLP, Houston, TX, Auditor Firm ID: 185) o
238)-55Consolidated-53Consolidated Balance -Shee’eséé@eﬁsehdated-SheetsMConsohdated Statements of Operatlons and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 58Censelidated-56Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) 59Censelidated
57Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows66Netes-FlowsS8Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements6HNeote
StatementsS9Note A — Description of the BusinesséHNote-BusinessS9Note B — Summary of Slgnlﬁcant Accounting
Polietes6HNote-PoliciesS9Note C — Business Combinations76Note-Combinations68Note D — Fair Value of Financial
Instruments72Note-Instruments68Note | — Accounts Receivable, ret75Nete-net71Note I — Inventory7SNote
Inventory71Note G — Property, Plant and Equipment, net76Note-net72Note H — Intangible Assets, net77Nete-net72Note [ —
Goodwill78Nete-Goodwill73Note | — Debt79Note-Debt74Note K — Leases8oNote-Leases7SNote | — WarrantsS2Note
Warrants77Note M — Income Faxes83Note— Taxes78Note N — Commitments and Centingenetes85Note
Contingencies80Note O — Convertible Preferred Stoek86Note-Stock81Note P — Sharcholders’ Eguity88Note-Equity83Note Q

— Revenues89Note-Revenues84Note R — Employee Benefit Plans9HNote-Plans8SNote S — Equity- Based Compensation94Note
- Compensation89Note T —ImpairmentExpensed8Note-t—— Net Income (Loss) per Common Sharet00Note-Share93Note U —
Joint Venture94Note V — Joint-Venturet06Note-Related Parties9SNote W — Related-PartiestotNote-Segment
Reporting96Note X — Subsequent Eventst02-Events96 Page 53-52 To the Sharcholders and Board of Directors Redwire
Corporation: Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet
sheets of Redwire Corporation and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in equity (deficit), and cash flows for the year-years then
ended, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year-years then ended, in conformity with U. S. generally accepted
accounting principles. Basis for Opinion These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’ s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit-audits .
We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U. S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB. We conducted our audit-audits in
accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.
The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.
As part of our audit-audits , we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’ s internal control over financial reporting.




Accordingly, we express no such opinion. Our aadit-audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to
those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements. Our audit-audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We
believe that our audit-audits provides— provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. /s / KPMG LLP We have served as the
Comp"my ] audltor smce 2023. Houston, Texas Mcuch 2—9—11 %9%4—2025 Pa;ae 53 54—"Fe—t-1‘te—Beafd-ef—Btfeetefs—aﬁé

satreht O age REDWIRE CORPORATION CONSOLIDATED BALANCE
SHEETS (ln thousands of U S dolhrs except share ddtd) Decembel 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 31,
2022 A ssetsCurrent-2023 AssetsCurrent asscts: Cash and-, cash equiv alents and restricted cash $ 49, 071 $ 30, 278 $28;3+6
Accounts receivable, net32-- net21, 905 32 |, 411 26;726-Contract assets36-- assets43 , 044 36 , 961 3+-04Hnventoryt
Inventory2 , 239 1, 516 4-469-Income tax reeetvable636-- receivable666 688-636 Prepaid nsuraneet-insurance975 1 , 083 25
246-Prepaid expenses and other current assetsé-assets8 , 025 6 , 428 5;-687Total current assetst09-assets125 , 925 109 , 3 13 965
+67Property, plant and equipment, net of accumulated deplecmtlon 0f$9,628 and $ 6, 538 and-$3-, 932—fespeetwel-y-lé
respectivelyl7 , 837 15, 909 +2,-76+Right- of- use assetst3-assets15 , 277 13 , 181 +3;:+63-Intangible assets, net of
accumulated amortization of $ 25,920 and $ 18, 509 and-$H- %47—fespeet-wel-y62—respectlvely61 788 62 , 985 66; 87
Goodwillé5-Goodwill71 , 161 65 , 757 64-618-Equity method vestments3— investments — 3 | 613 3;269-Deferred tax
assets72 — Other non- current assets5H-assets557 999-511 Total assets $ 292,617 $ 271, 269 -$—2§-7’,—69-8—Liabilities,
Convertible Preferred Stock and Equity (Deficit) Current liabilities: Accounts payable $ 32, 127 $ 18, 573 $37584Netes
payable-te-sellers—-060-Short- term debt, including current portion of long- term debtl, 266 1, 378 25-578-Short- term
operating lease Habtlities3-liabilities4 , 354 3 | 737 3;244-Short- term finance lease Habtities439-- liabilities473 209-439
Accrued expenses32— expenses24 , 192 32 | 902 36;:-58+-Deferred revenueS2-revenue67 , 201 52 , 645 29-8+7Other current
habtities2-liabilities19 , 730 2 , 362 3;:-666-Total current habilittesH2-liabilities149 , 343 112 , 036 94;-739-Long- term debt,
net86-netl24, 464 86 , 842 F4;745-Long- term operating lease habtitiest2-liabilities13 , 444 12 , 302 42,-676-Long- term
finance lease habilitiesHliabilities980 1 . 137 579-Warrant habihties3-liabilities55 , 285 3 , 325 :-344-Deferred tax habilities2
liabilities582 2 , 402 3;255-Other non- current habilities400-liabilities428 566-400 Total liabilities $ 344,526 $ 218, 444 $48%;
808-Commitments and contingencies (Note N — Commitments and Contingencies) Page 56-54 REDWIRE
CORPORATIONCONSOLIDATED €ORPORAHON-CONSOHDATED-BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands of U. S.
dollars, except share data) December 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Cenvertible-2023Convertible preferred
stock, $ 0. 0001 par value, 125,292, 00 shares authorized; 108, 649. 30 and 93, 890. 20 ard-84;250-00-issued and outstanding
as of December 31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 26022-2023 |, respectively. Liquidation preference of $§ 599, 412 and $ 187, 780
and-$162-5006-as of December 31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 2022-2023 , respectively (1). $ 136, 805 $ 96, 106 $76;365
Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit): Preferred stock, $ 0. 0001 par value, 99, 874, 708 shares authorized; none issued and outstanding
g , $0.0001 par value, 500, 000,
000 shares authorized; 67, 002, 370 and 65, 546, 174 and-64:280,63+-issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2023-2024
and December 31, 2622-2023 , respectively7 -7 Treasury stock, 728, 739 and 353, 470 and+45-8H-shares, at cost, as of
December 31, 2623-2024 and December 31, 2022-2023 | respectively ( 3, 573) (951 H38+) Additional paid- in eapttaH88
capital161, 619 188 , 323 $9&126-Accumulated deficit ( 348, 106) (233, 791 H266;528-) Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) 1,339 2, 903 2,-076-Total shareholders’ equity (deficit) ( 188, 714) (43, 509) ¢6;70H-Noncontrolling interests228
--- interests 226—— 228 Total equity (deficit) ( 188, 714) (43, 281 H6;4F5-) Total liabilities, convertible preferred stock and
equity (deficit) $ 292, 617 $ 271, 269 $257-698+(1) Please refer to Note O — Convertible Preferred Stock for additional
information. The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. Page 5755
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (In thousands of U. S.
dollars, except share and per share data) Year Ended December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Reventes
2023Revenues $ 304, 101 $ 243, 800 $460;-549-Cost of salest85-sales259 , 646 185 , 831 434;-854-Gross margin5F-profitd4,
455 57 , 969 28;-695-Operating expenses: Selling, general and administrative expenseséS-expenses71 , 398 68 , 525 76,342




Transaction expensest3-3;23Hmpairment-expense-expenses9 (H—96-, 623-129 13 Research and devetopmentd
development6 , 128 4 . 979 4;-94+Operating income (loss) ( 42, 200) (15, 548 HH46;:448-) Interest expense, netHo-netl3 , 483

10, 699 &-249-Other (mcome) expense, neth-net60, 648 1 , 503 61-6—9—75)—Income (loss) before income taxes ( 116, 331) ( 27
750 H38;592-) Income tax expense (benefit) ( 2, 020) ( 486 HFEH97F2) Net income (loss) (114, 311) (27, 264 3136:-620-) Net
income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling tterests-interests4 (1 3H3-) Net income (loss) attributable to Redwire Corporation (
114, 315) (27, 263 ¥436;61+F) Less: dividends on Convertible Preferred Steek20-Stock41, 052 20 , 021 5-760-Net income
(loss) available to common shareholders $ ( 155,367) $ (47, 284 3$-(32,377) Net income (loss) per common share: Basic and
diluted $ (2.35) $ (0. 73 ¥$2-09-) Weighted- average shares outstanding: Basic and ditated64-diluted66 , 146, 155 64 , 654,
153 637324;4+6-Comprehensive income (loss): Net income (loss) attributable to Redwire Corporation $ ( 114, 315) $ (27, 263
F$-H30,617) Foreign currency translation gain (loss), net of tax838-tax ( 1, 987-407) 830 Total other comprehensive income
(1055) net of ta*&?y@—tax( 1, 9-8—7’—407) 830 Total complehenswe income (loss) $ (115, 722) $ ( 26, 433) $-328-630)HPlease

e & 3 atton—Page 5856 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY (DEF lClT) (In thousands of U S. dollars, except share data) Common StockTreasury
StockAdditionalPaid- inCapital AccumulatedDeficitAccumulated OtherComprehensivelncome (Loss) Total Shareholders’
Eqmty (Dehclt Noncontrollmg IntelestsTotal Eqmty (Dehclt SharesAmountShﬂre%AmountBalance as—e-ﬁBeeeﬂabeH—l—

H1H98F Netineome-(toss)————— (130, 6+H— 136, 6-H(3H(136,-626) Other I2440+—— 53— 53—
S13-Balanee-as of December 31, 202264, 280, 631 § 6 141, 811 § (381) $ 198, 126 § (206, 528) $ 2, 076 § (6, 701) $ 226 $ (6,
475) Equity- based compensation expense — — — — 8, 658 — — &, 658 — 8, 658 Common stock issued under the committed
equity facility497, 392 — — — 1,280 — — 1, 280 — 1, 280 Common stock issued for share- based awards768, 151 1 — —
— ——1—1 Shares repurchased for settlement of employee tax withholdings on share- based awards — — 211, 659 (570)
— —(570) — (570) Convertible preferred stock paid- in- kind dividend — — — — (19, 741) — — (19, 741) — (19, 741)
Foreign currency translation, net of tax — — — — — — 827 827 3 830 Net income (loss) — — — — — (27, 263) — (27,
263) (1) (27, 264) Balance as of December 31, 202365, 546, 174 $ 7 353,470 $ (951) § 188, 323 § (233, 791) § 2,903 §$ (43,
509) $ 228 $ (43, 281) Equity- based compensation expense — — — — 11, 326 — — 11, 326 — 11, 326 Common stock
issued for share- based awardsl1, 456, 196 — — — 2, 669 — — 2, 669 — 2, 669 Shares repurchased for settlement of
employee tax withholdings on share- based awards — — 375, 269 (2, 622) — — — (2, 622) — (2, 622) Convertible
preferred stock paid- in- kind dividend — — — — (40, 699) — — (40, 699) — (40, 699) Sale of joint ventures — — — —
(164) (164) (225) (389) Foreign currency translation, net of tax — — — — — — (1, 400) (1, 400) (7) (1, 407) Net loss —
———— (114, 315) — (114, 315) 4 (114, 311) Balance as of December 31, 202467, 002,370 $ 7 728, 739 $ (3, 573) $ 161,
619 $ (348,106) $ 1,339 $ (188, 714) $ — $ (188, 714) Page 59-57 CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In
thousands of U. S. dollars) Year EndedDecember 31, 2023Beeember-2024December 3 |, 2622€ash-2023Cash flows from
operating activities: Net income (loss) $ (114, 311) $ (27, 264 3$-36,620-) Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities: Depreciation and amortization expenset6-expensell , 692 10 , 724 H5-288
Amortization of debt issuance costs and diseount608—- discount857 496-608 Equity- based compensation expenseS-expensell ,
326 8 , 658 +6-(Gain) loss on sale of joint ventures (1 , 786-303) — (Gain) loss on change in fair value of committed equity
faetity255—-- facility 63+— 255 (Gain) loss on change in fair value of warrants2-warrants51 , 960 2 , 01 | (++-784)-Deferred
provision (benefit) for income taxes ( 1, 803) ( 925) (-8%3—89—I-mp&rfmeﬂt—e*peﬂse—96—6%3—lncome hom equity method
investments — (245 H58-) Non- cash lease expense327-expense227 264-327 Non- cash interest expense525---- expense 696-—
525 thefOtherZ , 050 (238) 208-Changes in assets and liabilities: (Increase) decrease in accounts reeetvable-receivablel4 ,
670 (5, 562 H6;646-) (Increase) decrease in contract assets ( 7, 138) (5, 442) $83~(Increase) decrease in inventory ( 734) (44) (
9F8Increase) decrease in prepaid insuraneet-insurancel08 1, 157 579<(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other
assets (1, 901) (928) 266-Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued expenses-expenses4 , 365 (3, 280) (H-Increase
(decrease) in deferred revenue22-revenued , 207 22 , 736 &;270-Increase (decrease) in operating lease liabilities ( 342) (325) —
Increase (decrease) in other habtities-liabilities9 , 722 (960) ;-760-Increase (decrease) in notes payable to sellers — (557) —
Net cash provided by (used in) operating aetivittest— activities (17, 348) 1, 231 345-657-Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (881) — {33-Net proceeds from sale of joint ventures4 , 236598 —
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (6 , #et-399) (5, 620 3;626-) Purchase of intangible assets ( 4, 517) (2, 707 3526
) Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities ( 7, 199) ( 8, 327 H3%-382) Cash flows from financing activities: Proceeds
received from debt36-debtd5 | 69622-971 36 , 696 Repayments of debt ( 8, 863) (26, 683 H23;658-) Payment of debt issuance
fees to third parties ( 780) ( 163 H5254-) Repayment of finance leases ( 479) (395) €55)>-Proceeds from third- party
advances7, 820 — Proceeds from issuance of common steekd-stock2 , 669 1 , 241 2;-956-Payment of committed equity facility
transactlon costs — 571) Payments of é}éﬂ—Pfeeeed‘s—ffeﬁa—lisuance e-ﬁcosts related to convertible preferred stock — 85256
g teee vertible-preferred-stoel(52 34;:-833-) Shares repurchased for settlement of employee
tax Wlthholdmgs on shale based awards 2, 622) (570 )—(—3—8—1—) Payment of contingent earnout — (443) —Net cash provided
by (used in) financing aeﬁﬂ&es9—act1V1tles43 716 9 , 060 F6;-566-Effect of foreign currency rate changes on cash and-, cash
equivalents and restricted cash (376) (2) 2—7’2—Net increase (decrease) in cash and-easheguivalentst-, 962-7793-Cashand-cash
equivalents and restricted cash18, 793 1, 962 Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of pertod28-period30




,278 28 , 316 20;-523-Cash and-, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 49, 071 $ 30, 278 $28;3+6-Page
G66REDWARE-SSREDWIRE CORPORATIONNOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Tabular amounts
in thousands of U. S. dollars, except percentages, unit, share, and warrant amounts) Redwire Corporation (the “ Company )
provides mission critical space solutions and high- reliability space infrastructure for the next generation space economy. The
Company develops and provides core space infrastructure offerings for government and commercial customers through long-
duration projects. These core offerings include technologies and production capability for avionics and-, sensors and payloads ;
power generation; structures and mechanisms; radio frequency (* RF ”) systems; spacecraft platforms, payloads and missions;
and microgravity payloads. The Company serves both U S. and 1nternat10nal customers Wlth these core offerlngs that have civil
space, national security and commercial apphcatlons withp h
goveraments-. Basis of Presentation The accompanying consolldated ﬁnanmal staternents have been prepared in accordance with
United States Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“ U. S. GAAP 7). All intercompany balances and transactions have
been eliminated in consolidation. The Company uses a fiscal year ending on December 3 1st of each year. The Company
consolidates all entities that are controlled by ownership of a majority voting interest. Additionally, there are situations in which
consolidation is required even though the usual condition of consolidation does not apply. Generally, this occurs when an entity
holds an interest in another business entity that was achieved through arrangements that do not involve voting interests, which
results in a disproportionate relationship between such entity’ s voting interests in, and its exposure to the economic risks and
potential rewards of, the other business entity. This disproportionate relationship results in what is known as a variable interest,
and the entity in which the Company has the variable interest is referred to as a Variable Interest Entity (“ VIE ). An entity
must consolidate a VIE if it is determined to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE. The primary beneficiary has both (1) the
power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact the entity’ s economic performance and (2) the obligation
to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. Please refer to Note
VU — Joint Venture for additional information. Use of Estimates The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.
S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
disclosures of contingent liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting periods. Management has prepared these estimates using the most current and best available information
that are considered reasonable under the circumstances. However, actual results could differ materially from those estimates.
Accounting policies subject to estimates include, but are not limited to, valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, contingent
consideration, revenue recognition, income taxes, certain equity- based compensation awards, post- retirement benefit plans,
paid- in- kind dividends, and warrant liabilities. Segment Information Operating segments are defined as components of an
entity for which separate financial information is available and that is regularly reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“ CODM ”) in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The Company’ s CODM is its Chief
Executive Officer. The Company has concluded that it operates in one operating segment and one reportable segment, space
infrastructure, as the CODM reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for purposes of making operating
decisions, allocating resources, and evaluating financial performance. Please refer to Note W — Segment Reporting for
additional information. The Company utilizes the acquisition method of accounting for all transactions and events in which it
obtains control over one or more other businesses (even if less than 100 % ownership is acquired), to recognize the fair value of
all assets acquired and liabilities assumed and to establish the acquisition date fair value as of the measurement date. While the
Company uses its best estimates and assumptions as part of the purchase price allocation process to accurately value assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the business combination date, the estimates and assumptions are inherently uncertain and
subject to refinement. As a result, during the measurement period, which may be up to one year from the business combination
date, the Company records adjustments to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, with the corresponding offset to goodwill.
For changes in the valuation of intangible assets between the preliminary and final purchase price allocation, the related
amortization is adjusted in the period it occurs. Subsequent to the measurement period, any adjustment to assets acquired or
liabilities assumed is included in Page §9 operating results in the period in which the adjustment is identified. Transaction costs
that are incurred in connection with a business Page-6+-combination, other than costs associated with the issuance of debt or
equity securities, are expensed as incurred. Contingent consideration is classified as a liability or as equity on the basis of the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument; contingent consideration payable in cash is classified as a liability.
The Company recognizes the fair value of any contingent consideration that is transferred to the seller in a business combination
on the date at which control of the acquiree is obtained. Contingent consideration payments related to acquisitions are measured
at fair value each reporting period using Level 3 unobservable inputs (as defined in the Fair Value of Financial Instruments
policy below). When reported, any changes in the fair value of these contingent consideration payments are included in
contingent earnout expense on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Please refer to Note
C — Business Combinations for additional information related to the Company’ s business combinations. The Company
measures certain financial assets and liabilities, including, but not limited to, contingent consideration, at fair value. A hierarchy
of valuation techniques is based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobservable. Observable
inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while unobservable inputs reflect the Company’ s market
assumptions. These two types of inputs have created the following fair- value hierarchy: Level 1: Quoted prices for identical
instruments in active markets; Level 2: Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or
similar instruments in markets that are not active, and model- derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant
value drivers are observable in active markets; and Level 3: Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more
significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable. Foreign Currency Translation The Company’ s consolidated
financial statements are presented in U. S. dollars (*“ USD *), which is the functional currency of the Company. The local
currency of our operations in Luxembourg and Belgium, the euro, is considered to be the functional currency of those




operations. Assets and liabilities of the Company’ s foreign subsidiaries, where the functional currency is the local currency, are
translated into USD at exchange rates effective as of the balance sheet date. Revenues and expenses are translated using average
exchange rates in effect for the periods presented. Balance sheet translation adjustments are reported in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss). Realized gains and losses on foreign currency transactions are included in other (income)
expense, net on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash
and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, cash balances with banks and similar institutions and all highly liquid investments
with an original maturity of three months or less. Restricted cash includes cash balances which are restricted as to
withdrawal or usage by contractual agreement and consists of a cash- collateralized standby letter of credit for a
submitted proposal. The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported
on the consolidated balance sheets to the consolidated statements of cash flows for the following periods: December 31,
2024December 31, 2023Cash and cash equivalents $ 33, 712 $ 30, 278 Restricted cash (1) 15, 359 — Total cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash $ 49, 071 $ 30, 278 (1) Amount includes $ 7. 8 million of proceeds received from third-
parties that is refundable except in certain limited circumstances and is also included as other current liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets. Page 60 The table below presents supplemental cash flow information during the following
periods: Year EndedDecember 31, 2023BDeeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Supplemental-2023Supplemental cash flow
information: Cash paid (received) during the period for: Interest $ 12, 159 $ 9, 082 $-6;868-Income taxes-taxes240 Non-
cash investing and financing activities: Convertible Preferred Stock dividends paid- in- kind $ 40, 699 $ 19, 741 $—Capital
expenditures not yet pateH-paid2 , 069 1, 321 +;-269-Equity-finaneing-transactioneosts-not-yet-paid—=622-Concentration of
Credit Risk Financial instruments which potentrally subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of
cash and cash Page-62-cquivalents, certificates of deposit, accounts receivable and contract assets. The Company places its cash
and cash equivalents with financial institutions of high- credit quality. At times, such amounts may exceed federally insured
limits. Cash and cash equivalents on deposit or invested with financial and lending institutions was $ 33. 7 million and $ 30. 3
million aad-$283-millten-, as of December 31, 2023-2024 and December 31, 2822-2023 , respectively. The Company provides
credit to customers in the normal course of business. The carrying amount of current accounts receivable and contract assets are
stated at cost, net of an allowance for deubtfut-aeeounts-credit losses . The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its
customers’ financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended when deemed necessary. The Company maintains an
allowance for deubtful-aeeounts-credit losses to provide for the estimated amount of accounts receivable that will not be fully
collected. The allowance is based on the assessment of the following factors: customer creditworthiness, historical payment
experience, age of outstanding accounts receivable and any applicable collateral. Inventory Inventory is stated at the lower of
cost or net realizable value. Cost is calculated on a first- in, first- out (“ FIFO ) basis. Inventory may consist of raw materials,
work- in- process, and finished goods. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated costs of completion and selling expense. Inventory is impaired when it is probable that inventory values exceed
their net realizable value. Changes in these estimates are included in cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income (loss). Property, Plant and Equipment Property, plant and equipment are the long- lived, physical
assets of the Company, acquired for use in the Company’ s normal business operations and not intended for resale by the
Company These assets are recorded at cost. Renewals and betterments that increase the useful hves of the assets are capitalized.

; ; ; G ¢—The Company
occasronally desrgns and burlds its own machrnery The cost of these projects, 1ncludmg drrect material and labor, and other
indirect costs directly attributable to the construction, are capitalized as construction in progress. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction in progress until the related assets are completed and placed in service. Depreciation is based on the
estimated useful lives of the assets using the straight- line method and is included in selling, general and administrative expenses
or cost of sales based upon the asset; depreciation and amortization expense includes the amortization of assets under finance
leases. Expected useful lives for property, plant and equipment are reviewed at least annually. Estimated useful lives are as
follows: Estimated usefalife----- useful life in yearsComputer equipment3Furniture and fixtures7Laboratory equipment3-
10Vehicles5- +0Eeasehotd-7Leasehold improvementsshorter of 5 or lease termAssets subject to finance leaselease term Page 61
As assets are retired or sold, the related cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any resulting
gain or loss is included in other (income) expense, net in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income
(loss). The Company regularly evaluates its property, plant and equipment for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. If the Company determines
that the carrying amount of an asset or asset group is not recoverable based upon the undiscounted expected future cash flows of
the asset or asset group, the Company records an impairment loss equal to the excess of carrying amount over the estimated fair
value of the asset or asset group. During 2024 and 2023, the Company identified no triggering events and therefore, no

quantrtatrve 1mpa1rment assessment was performed on its long lived assets. Bt&mg—Z@QQ,—t-he—Gempaﬂy—tdeﬂﬁ-ﬁed—tﬂggeﬂﬁg

The Company is obhgated under certain
operating and fmance leases for its facilities, Vehrcles and ofﬁce equrpment The Company assesses whether an arrangement is a
lease or contains a lease at inception of the arrangement. For arrangements considered leases, the Company assesses the lease
for finance or operating classification and records a right- of- use (“ ROU ”) asset and lease liability as of the commencement
date. The Company uses the date of initial possession as the lease commencement date, which is generally when the underlying
asset becomes available for the Company’ s specific use. The Company’ s operating leases are included in right- of- use assets,
short- term operating lease liabilities and long- term operating lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company’
s finance leases consist primarily of vehicles and are included in property, plant and equipment, net, short- term finance lease
liabilities and long- term finance lease liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. ROU assets represent the Company’ s right




to use the underlying asset for the lease term and are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.
Lease liabilities represent the present value of the Company’ s obligations to make payments arising over the lease term. The
present value of the lease payments is calculated using the incremental borrowing rate as of the lease commencement date,
which reflects the fixed rate the Company would have to pay to borrow an amount equal to the future minimum lease payments
over a similar term. Operating lease expense includes the sum of imputed interest expense and the amortization of ROU assets.
For finance leases, interest is recognized and presented separately in interest expense, net on the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss). The lease term includes renewal options which are reasonably certain to be
exercised. Lease and non- lease related components, such as common area maintenance costs, obligations to return the
underlying asset to its original condition, or costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end of the term, are
accounted for separately. Certain leasing arrangements contain predetermined fixed escalation of minimum rents and / or require
variable payments, such as insurance and tax payments. Variable lease payments which depend on an index or other rate are
initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date and included in the measurement of the ROU asset and
lease liability. The subsequent change in lease payments as a result of a change in the index or other rate are recognized as
expense in the period in which the payment occurs. The Company does not have any material restrictions or covenants in its
lease agreements, sale leaseback transactions or residual value guarantees. Leases with an initial term of twelve months or less
are not recorded on the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets and are recognized as lease expense on a straight- line basis in
the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). During 2024 and 2023, the Company identified no
trrggerrng events and therefore no quantltatrve 1mpa1rment assessment was performed on its rlght- of- use assets —Buﬂng—ZOQ%—

asere tote patrmen : natinformation IntanglbleAssets
1nc1ud1ng Goodwrll The assets and hablhtres of acqulred businesses are recorded under the acquisition method of accountrng at
their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets include those acquired from the Company’ s various
business combinations as well as licensed software for internal- use. Licensed software is acquired solely to meet the Company’
s internal needs which provides the right to take possession of the software and is hosted on the Company’ s specific hardware
components, as well as the capitalization of qualifying costs during the application development stage. Indefinite- lived
intangible assets include tradenames and in- process research and development (“ IPR & D ). Finite- lived intangible assets
include customer relationships, technology, trademarks, and internal- use software. Finite- lived intangible assets are reported at
cost, net of accumulated amortization, and are either amortized on a straight- line basis over their estimated useful lives or over
the period the economic benefits of the intangible assets are consumed. IPR & D is recognized as an Page 62 indefinite- lived
intangible asset until completion or abandonment of the related project, then reclassified as a finite- lived intangible asset and
amortized over the remaining useful life. Acquired intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized, but are
subject to annual impairment testing or more frequently if events or a change in circumstance indicate that it is more likely than
not that the asset is impaired. This testing compares carrying value to fair value and, when appropriate, the carrying value of
these assets is reduced to fair value. The Company performs an impairment test of finite- lived intangibles whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate their carrying value may be impaired, consistent with the methodologies previously disclosed
for Property, plant and equipment. Goodwill is the amount by which the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities Page-64-assumed in a business combination on the date of acquisition. The Company’
s goodwill has been allocated to and is tested for impairment at a level referred to as the reporting unit. The Company has fout
five reporting units, Mission Solutions, Space Components, Engineering Services , Hera Systems and Redwire Europe, which
were determined based on similar economic characteristics, financial metrics and product and servicing offerings. The Company
tests goodwill for impairment annually as of October 1st or when events and circumstances indicate that it is more likely than
not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. The Company first assesses goodwill for impairment on
a qualitative basis to determine if a quantitative assessment is necessary. In circumstances where the qualitative analysis (Step 0)
indicates that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit does not exceed its carrying value, the Company
would perform a quantitative analysis (Step 1) and the goodwill impairment loss, if any, is measured as the amount by which a
reporting unit’ s carrying amount exceeds its fair value, not to exceed the carrying amount of goodwill. In general, the Company
performs a quantitative test for most reporting units at least once every three years, or more frequently if deemed necessary by
Management. The Company estimates the fair value of each reporting unit using a combination of a discounted cash flow (*
DCF ”) analysis and market- based valuation methodologies such as comparable public company trading values and values
observed in recent business acquisitions. Determining fair value requires the exercise of significant judgments, including the
amount and timing of expected future cash flows, long- term growth rates, discount rates and relevant comparable public
company earnings multiples and transaction multiples. The cash flows employed in the DCF analysis are based on the Company
best estimate of future revenues, gross margins, operating expenses, and cash flows with consideration for other factors, such as
general market conditions, U. S. and foreign government budgets, existing contracted and uncontracted backlog, subcontractor
agreements, changes in working capital, long- term business plans and historical operating performance. The discount rates
utilized in the DCF analysis are based on the respective reporting unit’ s weighted average cost of capital, which takes into
account the relative weights of debt and equity components within the Company’ s existing capital structure and represents the
expected cost of new capital, adjusted as appropriate to consider the risk inherent in future cash flows of the respective reporting
unit. The carrying value of each reporting unit includes the assets and liabilities employed in its operations, goodwill and
allocations of certain assets and liabilities held at the corporate level. The Company compares the fair value of a reporting unit to
its carrying value, including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying value, goodwill of the reporting
unit is not impaired. If the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value, a goodwill impairment
loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess. During 2024 and 2023, the Company performed its annual impairment



tests and concluded there were no indicators that the fair value of any reporting unit was more likely than not below carrying
value. Therefore, no quantitative assessment was performed and no goodwill impairment was recognized during 2024 and 2023

—During2022-, respectively the-Companyp
. Equity Method Investments [nvestments where the Company has the ability to

exercise significant influence, but does not have control of the investee, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting
and presented as equity method investments on the consolidated balance sheets. Significant influence typically exists if the
Company has a 20 % to 50 % ownership interest in the investee. Under this method of accounting, the Company’ s share of the
net earnings or losses of the investee is included in other (income) expense, net on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss) since the activities of the investee are not closely aligned with the operations of the Company’ s
business. The Company evaluates its equity method investments for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amounts of such investments may be impaired. If a decline in the value of an equity method
investment is determined to be other than temporary, a loss is recorded in earnings in the current period. Please refer to Note ¥
U — Joint Venture for additional information. Page 63 Derivative Financial Instruments The Company evaluates its convertible
instruments, options, warrants and other contracts to determine if those contracts or embedded components of those contracts
qualify as derivatives. The classification of derivative instruments, including whether such instruments should be recorded as
assets, liabilities, or equity, is reassessed at the end of each reporting period. For equity- linked financial instruments, the
Company must determine whether the underlying instrument is indexed to its own common stock in order to classify the
derivative instrument as equity. Otherwise, the derivative asset or liability, including embedded derivatives discussed below, is
recognized at fair value with subsequent changes in fair value recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss). Page-65-Classification of the Company’ s private warrants is based on management’ s analysis of
the guidance described above and a statement issued by the Staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“ SEC *)
regarding the accounting and reporting considerations for warrants issued by special purpose acquisition companies entitled *
Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting Considerations for Warrants Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies.
The Company determined that the private warrants meet the definition of a derivative and, therefore, are classified as a liability
measured at fair value, subject to remeasurement at each reporting period. The Company measures the private warrant liability
at fair value each reporting period with the change in fair value recorded as other (income) expense, net in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Hybrid instruments Hybrid instruments issued in the form of a share
requires bifurcation of embedded features if (a) the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative instrument
are not clearly and closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract, (b) the hybrid instrument that
embodies both the embedded derivative instrument and the host contract is not re- measured at fair value under otherwise
applicable generally accepted accounting principles with changes in fair value reported in earnings as they occur and (c) a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded derivative instrument would be considered a derivative instrument.
The nature of the host instrument is therefore evaluated to determine if it is more akin to a debt- like or equity- like host. In this
assessment, the Company considers the stated and implied substantive features of the contract as well as the economic
characteristics and risks of the hybrid instrument. Each term and feature is then weighed based on the relevant facts and
circumstances to determine the nature of the host contract. Terms and features of the hybrid instrument (i. e. embedded
derivatives) are then assessed to determine if they must be bifurcated and separately accounted for as freestanding derivatives.
Examples of embedded derivatives include, among others, conversion options, redemption features, make- whole provisions,
contingent increases in dividend rates and participation rights. Accounting for convertible instruments and contracts in the
Company’ s own equity requires an evaluation of the hybrid security to determine if liability classification is required. Liability
classification is required for freestanding financial instruments that are not debt in legal form and are: (1) subject to an
unconditional obligation requiring the issuer to redeem the instrument by transferring assets (i. e. mandatorily redeemable), (2)
instruments other than equity shares that embody an obligation of the issuer to repurchase its equity shares, or (3) certain types
of instruments that obligate the issuer to issue a variable number of equity shares. Securities classified in temporary equity are
initially measured at the proceeds received, net of issuance costs and excluding the fair value of bifurcated embedded
derivatives (if any). Subsequent measurement of the carrying value is not required until such time that the contingencies are
resolved and reclassification as a liability is required. The Company’ s contracts are subject to revenue recognition using a five-
step model, which involves (i) identification of the contract, (ii) identification of performance obligations in the contract, (iii)
determination of the transaction price, (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the previously identified performance
obligations, and (v) revenue recognition as the performance obligations are satisfied. During step one of the five- step model,
the Company considers whether contracts should be combined or separated, and based on this assessment, the Company
combines closely related contracts when all the applicable criteria are met. The combination of two or more contracts requires
judgment in determining whether the intent of entering into the contracts was effectively to enter into a single contract, which
should be combined to reflect an overall profit rate. Similarly, the Company may separate an arrangement, which may consist of
a single contract or group of contracts, with varying rates of profitability, only if the applicable criteria are met. Judgment is
involved in determining whether a group of contracts may be combined or separated based on how the arrangement and the
related performance criteria were negotiated. The conclusion to combine a group of contracts or separate a contract could change
the amount of revenue and gross profit recorded in a given period. Page 64 A performance obligation is a promise in a contract
to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer. A contract’ s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance
obligation and recognized as revenue when the performance obligation is satisfied. The Company’ s contracts with customers
generally do not include a right of return relative to delivered products. In certain cases, contracts are modified to account for
changes in the contract specifications or requirements. In most instances, contract modifications are accounted for as part of the




existing contract. Certain contracts with customers have options for the customer to acquire additional goods or services. In most
cases, the pricing of these options are reflective of the standalone selling price of the good or service. These options do not
provide the customer with a material right and are accounted for only when the customer exercises the option to Page-66
purchase the additional goods or services. If the option on the customer contract was not indicative of the standalone selling
price of the good or service, the material right would be accounted for as a separate performance obligation. The Company’ s
revenues are derived from the design and sales of components for spacecraft and satellites and the performance of engineering,
modeling and simulation services related to spacecraft design and mission execution. Each promised good or service within a
contract is accounted for separately, if they are distinct. Promised goods or services not meeting the criteria for being a distinct
performance obligation are bundled into a single performance obligation with other goods or services that together meet the
criteria for being distinct. The appropriate allocation of the transaction price and recognition of revenue is then applied for the
bundled performance obligation. The Company has concluded that its service contracts generally contain a single performance
obligation given the interrelated nature of the activities which are significantly customized and not distinct within the context of
the contract. Once the Company identifies the performance obligations, it determines the transaction price, which includes
estimating the amount of variable consideration to be included in the transaction price, if any. The Company’ s contracts
generally do not contain penalties, credits, price concessions, or other types of potential variable consideration. Prices are fixed
at contract inception and are not contingent on performance or any other criteria. The Company engages in long- term contracts
for production and service activities and recognizes revenue for performance obligations over time. The Company considers the
nature of these contracts and the types of products and services provided when determining the proper accounting for a
particular contract. These contracts include both firm- fixed- price (“ FFP ) and cost reimbursable contracts. The Company’ s
cost reimbursable contracts typically include cost- plus fixed fee (“ CPFF ) and time- and- material (“ T & M ”) contracts.
These long- term contracts involve the design, development, manufacture, or modification of components for spacecraft and
satellites. For FFP and CPFF contracts, revenue is recognized over time (versus point in time recognition), as the Company’ s
performance creates an asset with no alternative use to the Company and the Company has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date, and the customer receives the benefit as the Company builds the asset. For T & M contracts, the
Company recognizes revenue in the amount for which the Company has a right to invoice the customer based on the control
transferred to the customer. For long- term contracts, the Company typically recognizes revenue using the input method, using a
cost- to- cost measure of progress. The Company believes that this method represents the most faithful depiction of the
Company’ s performance because it directly measures value transferred to the customer. Contract estimates are based on various
assumptions to project the outcome of future events that may span several years. These assumptions include, but are not limited
to, the amount of time to complete the contract, including the assessment of the nature and complexity of the work to be
performed; the cost and availability of materials; the availability of subcontractor services and materials; and the availability and
timing of funding from the customer. The Company bears the risk of changes in estimates to complete on a fixed- price contract,
which may cause profit levels to vary from period to period. For cost reimbursable contracts, the Company is reimbursed
periodically for allowable costs and is paid a portion of the fee based on contract progress. In the limited instances where the
Company enters into T & M contracts, revenue recognized reflects the number of direct labor hours expended in the
performance of a contract multiplied by the contract billing rate, as well as reimbursement of other direct billable costs. For
long- term contracts, the Company recognizes anticipated contract losses as soon as they become known and estimable.
Accounting for long- term contracts requires significant judgment relative to estimating total contract revenues and costs, in
particular, assumptions relative to the amount of time to complete the contract, including the assessment of the nature and
complexity of the work to be performed. The Company’ s estimates are based upon the professional knowledge and experience
of its engineers, program managers and other personnel, who review each long- term contract monthly to assess the contract’ s
schedule, performance, technical matters and estimated cost at completion. Changes in estimates are applied retrospectively and
when adjustments in estimated contract costs are identified, such revisions may result in current period adjustments to earnings
applicable to performance in prior periods. For long- term contracts, the portion of the payments retained by the customer is not
considered a significant financing component. At contract inception, the Company also expects that the lag period between the
transfer of a promised good or service to a customer and Page 65 when the customer pays for that good or service will not
constitute a significant financing component. Many of the Company’ s long- term contracts have milestone payments, which
align the payment schedule with the progress towards completion on the performance obligation. On some contracts, the
Company may be entitled to receive an advance payment, which is not considered a significant financing component because it
is used to facilitate inventory demands at the onset of a contract and to safeguard the Company from the failure of the other
party to abide by some or all of their obligations under the contract. Page-67Contract Balances Contract balances result from the
timing of revenue recognized, billings and cash collections, and the generation of contract assets and liabilities. Contract assets
are presented as such on the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets and represent revenue recognized in excess of amounts
invoiced to the customer and the right to payment is not solely subject to the passage of time. Contract liabilities are presented as
deferred revenue on the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets and relate to advanced payments and billings in excess of
revenues recognized and are recognized into revenue as the Company satisfies the underlying performance obligation, either
over time as costs are incurred or as control is transferred to the customer. Remaining Performance Obligations The Company
includes in its computation of remaining performance obligations customer orders for which it has accepted signed sales orders.
The definition of remaining performance obligations excludes T & M contracts accounted for under the “ right to invoice ”
practical expedient. Advertising Costs All advertising, promotional and marketing costs are expensed when incurred and are
included in Selling, general and administrative expenses within the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss). The table below presents the advertising cost for the following periods: Year EndedDecember 31, 2023Deeember
2024December 3 |, 2022Advertising-2023Advertising costs $ 1,499-976 $ 1, 306-199 Rescarch and Development Costs



Research and development costs are primarily made up of labor charges, prototype material, and development expenses.
Research and development costs are expensed in the period incurred. Post- retirement Benefit Plans As a result of the Space
NV acquisition, the Company sponsors various post- retirement benefit plans for certain non- U. S. employees including three
cash balance plans: one defined benefit pension plan with risk- based coverage for death and disability benefits (collectively, the
“ Base Plan ) and two supplementary pension bonus plans that provides variable remuneration linked to employees’
performance (the “ Performance Plans"). These cash balance plans are defined benefit plans which provide for post- retirement
benefits based on employee and employer contributions and prescribed rates of return in accordance with Belgium Regulation.
The Company’ s policy is to cover 100 % of all benefit obligations associated with supplementary pensions, bonus pensions, and
other post- retirement benefits (i. e., death and disability) through group insurance policies. Accordingly, the Company
recognizes the net funded status on a plan- by- plan basis as either an asset recorded within other non- current assets or a liability
recorded within other non- current liabilities within the consolidated balance sheets. The net funded status is measured on a
plan- by- plan basis as the difference between the fair value of each plan’ s assets and the benefit obligation. The net funded
status is measured annually, or more frequently, upon the occurrence of certain events such as a significant plan amendment,
settlement, or curtailment. Fair value is determined on a plan- by- plan basis and obligations are computed based on service and
contributions to date, using actuarial valuations that are based in part on certain key economic assumptions, including the
discount rates and the expected long- term rate of return on plan assets. The assumptions made in this analysis affect both the
calculation of the benefit obligations and the calculation of net periodic benefit costs in subsequent periods. The fair value of
plan assets includes amounts contributed by the employee and employer and amounts earned from investing the contributions,
less benefits paid. Assumptions are reviewed on an annual basis, unless circumstances require an interim remeasurement of any
of our plans. Differences between the actual return and expected return on plan assets during the year and changes in the benefit
obligation for the Company’ s defined benefit pension plans due to changes in the annual valuation assumptions generate
actuarial gains or losses. The Company has elected to immediately recognize actuarial gains or losses for each plan as a
component of net periodic pension cost. Page 66 Please refer to Note R — Employee Benefit Plans for additional information
related to the Company’ s defined benefit plans. Equity- based Compensation The Company’ s equity- based compensation
plans are classified as equity plans and compensation expense is generally recognized over the vesting period of stock awards.
The Company issues stock awards in the form of incentive units, non- qualified stock options, time- based restricted stock units
and-, performance- based restricted stock units and eligibility to participate in the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the «
ESPP ”) . The fair value of incentive units and stock options are Page-68-calculated on the grant date using the Black- Scholes
Option Pricing Model (“ OPM ”). Given the absence of adequate historical data, the Company uses the simplified method to
estimate the term of stock options granted to employees. The fair value of the time- based restricted stock units are calculated
based on the closing market price of the Company’ s common stock on the grant date. The fair value of the performance- based
restricted stock units are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation model on the grant date. The vesting of the incentive units is
contingent on service- based, performance- based, and market conditions and, as such, the recognition of compensation expense
is deferred until it is probable the performance conditions will be satisfied. Once it is probable that the performance conditions
will be satisfied, unrecognized compensation expense is recognized based on the portion of the requisite service period that has
been rendered. If the requisite period is complete, compensation expense is recognized regardless of market conditions being
met. For non- qualified stock options, time- based restricted stock units and performance- based restricted stock units, the
Company recognizes the grant date fair value as compensation expense on a straight- line method over the vesting period
(typically three years) and recognizes forfeitures as they occur . The ESPP authorizes the grant of rights to employee
participants to purchase the Company’ s common stock through payroll deductions, up to 15 % of their eligible
compensation. The plan is a compensatory plan as it allows participants to purchase stock equal to 85 % of the fair
market value of the Company’ s common stock at the beginning or end of each offering period, whichever is less (the «
Discounted Value ). The ESPP is accounted for as an equity classified award. The Company recognizes the fair value of
the ESPP award at the start of the offering period as compensation expense on a straight- line method over the offering
period. The fair value of the ESPP award is comprised of the value of Discounted Value and the value associated with the
variability in the Company’ s common stock price during the offering period, which is estimated using the Black- Scholes
model . The Company computes its provision for income taxes using the asset and liability method, under which deferred tax
assets and liabilities are calculated based on the basis difference for financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities
using enacted tax rates for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. All deferred income taxes are classified as
non- current in the Company”’ s consolidated balance sheets. The Company records a valuation allowance against net deferred
tax assets if, based upon the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized. The Company assesses the deferred tax assets for recoverability on a quarterly basis. The Company recognizes a tax
benefit only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the
technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the financial statements from such positions are then measured
based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50 % likelihood of being realized upon settlement. The Company recognizes
interest and penalties accrued on any unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. Emerging Growth
Company Section 102 (b) (1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “ JOBS Act ) exempts emerging growth
companies from being required to comply with new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is,
those that have not had a Securities Act of 1933 registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting
standards. The JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and
comply with the requirements that apply to non- emerging growth companies but any such an election to opt out is irrevocable.
The Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or



revised and it has different application dates for public or private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company,
can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may make
comparison of the Company’ s financial statements with another public company that is neither an emerging growth company
nor an emerging growth company that has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because Page
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Plonouncements In Novembel 2023 the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2023- 07, Seoment Reportmo (TOplC 280): Improv ements to
Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires a public entity to disclose significant segment expenses and other segment
items on an annual and interim basis, provide in interim periods all disclosures about a reportable segment’ s profit or loss and
assets that are currently required annually and require a public entity that has a single reportable segment to provide all the
disclosures required by the amendments in the ASU and existing requirements under Topic 280. Additionally, it requires a
public entity to disclose the title and position of the CODM. The ASU does not change how a public entity identifies its
operating segments, aggregates them, or applies the quantitative thresholds to determine its reportable segments. The Company
adopted ASU 2023- 07 effective December 31, 2024, using a retrospective transition method. Adoption of this guidance
enhanced the footnote disclosures with no impact on the Company’ s results of operations, cash flows and financial
condition. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU No. 2024- 03, Income
Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income — Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220- 40). The ASU
requires disclosure, in the notes to financial statements, of specified information about certain costs and expenses,
including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation, and intangible asset amortization included in
each relevant expense caption. Additionally, the amendment requires a qualitative description of the amounts remaining
in the relevant expense captions that are not separately disaggregated quantitatively, and to disclose the total amount of
selling expenses and, in annual reporting periods, an entity’ s definition of selling expenses. For public business entities,
the new guidance is effective for fisealyears-annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023-2026 , and interim
reporting periods withinfisealyrears-beginning after December 15, 2024-2027 , with early adoption permitted. An A-publie
entity shewld-may apply the amendments tn—t-hrs—A—S-U—prospectlvely for reporting periods after the effective date or
retrospectively to any or all prior periods presented in the financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of adoption, which is expected to have an impact on disclosures enly with no impact on the Company’ s results of operations,
cash flows and financial condition. In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023- 09, Income Taxes (Topic 740):
Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. The ASU requires a public business entity (“ PBE ”) to disclose, on an annual basis, a
tabular rate reconciliation using both percentages and currency amounts, broken out into specified categories with certain
reconciling items further broken out by nature and jurisdiction to the extent those items exceed a specified threshold. In
addition, all entities are required to disclose income taxes paid, net of refunds received disaggregated by federal, state / local,
and foreign, as well as by jurisdiction, if the amount is at least 5 % of total income tax payments, net of refunds received. For
PBEs, the new guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, with early adoption permitted. An
entity may apply the amendments in this ASU prospectively by providing the revised disclosures for the period ending
December 31, 2025 and continuing to provide the pre- ASU disclosures for the prior periods, or may apply the amendments
retrospectively by providing the revised disclosures for all periods presented. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of' adoption, which is expected to have an impact on disclosures with no impact on the Company’ s results of operations, cash



flows and financial condition. QinetiQ-Space- NV-Aequisitton-On Oetober3+August 30 , 2022-2024 , the Company acquired
100 % of the equity interests tn—QmeﬁQ—Spaee—N%of Hera Systems, Inc. (“ Hera Space INV-") , a spacecraft developer
focused on specialized missions for $36-national security space customers . 3-miion{(€37-millien)-Hera’ s primary
operations include developing high- performance spacecraft to support the evolving requirements for national security
missions operating in eash-contested space . The-Hera' s advanced platform incorporates cyber- secure communications,
resilient power systems, highly accurate pointing, extensive maneuverability and massive on- board computing power
supportlng mlsswn- and payload- speclﬁc machme learnlng This aequmhon s-uppeﬁs-ls not materlal 1nd1v1dually to the
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expenses are mcluded in transaction expenses on 1hc eonsolldaled sldlcmums of operallons and comprehensive income ( 0sS)
atrd-are-a a able-above-. Cash and-, cash equivalents and
restricted cash , accounts receivable, contract assets, inventories, prepaid expenses and other current assets, accounts payable,
accrued expenses, deferred revenue and other current liabilities are reflected on the consolidated balance sheets at amounts that
approximate fair value because of the short- term nature of these financial assets and liabilities. Page 68 The fair value of the
Company’ s debt approximates its carrying value and is classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy as it is based on
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seHefs—On Aprll 14, 2022 the Company entered 1nt0 a common qtoek Purchaqe Agreement (the “ Purcha%e Agreement yand a
Registration Rights Agreement with B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC (“ B. Riley ). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the
Company kas-had the right, but not the obligation, to direct B. Riley to purchase a specified amount of shares (each, a *
Purchase ”) over the 24- month period from Commencement (as deﬁned in the Purchaqe Agreement) —Sh&fes—mﬁied-te—B—Rr}ey

amount of any %aleq to B erey, Wthh depend on a Varrety of factors 1nelud1ng, among other things, market conditions, the
trading price of the Company’ s common stock, and determinations by the Company as to appropriate sources of funding for its
business and operations. However, B. Riley’ s obligation to purchase shares ts-was subject to certain conditions. In all instances,
the Company mas-could not sell shares of its common stock under the Purchase Agreement if it would result in B. Riley
beneficially owning more than 4. 99 % of its common stock at any one point in time. At inception, the Company evaluated the
Purchase Agreement with B. Riley and determined that the committed equity facility was not indexed to the Company’ s own
common stock and, therefore, measures the derivative asset at fair value based on the consideration transferred to B. Riley in
exchange for its irrevocable commitment to purchase up to $ 80. 0 million in shares of the Company’ s common stock.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of the derivative asset are dependent upon, among other things, changes in the closing
share price of the Company’ s common stock, the quantity and purchase price of shares purchased by B. Riley during the
reporting period, the unused capacity under the committed equity facility as of the balance sheet date and the cost of raising
other forms of capital. As certain inputs are not observable in the market, the derivative asset is classified as a Level 3
instrument within the fair value hierarchy. The Company adjusts the previous fair value estimate of the committed equity facility
at each reporting period based on changes in the weighted average purchase price of shares purchased by B. Riley during the
period, the unused capacity available under the committed equity facility, expected stock price volatility and other
macroeconomic factors which impact the cost of raising comparable forms of capital. As disclosed above, on April 14, 2024,
the Purchase Agreement with B. Riley expired in accordance with its terms and was not extended. As a result, the
Company no longer recognized a derivative asset related to the committed equity facility after April 14, 2024. Pursuant to
the Purchase Agreement, the purchase price for each share of common stock is equal to 97 % of the volume weighted average
price (“ VWAP ) on the applicable purchase date, which results in a 3 % fee on the purchase of the Company’ s common stock.
The Company did not sell shares to B. Rlley Bﬁﬂﬁg—durlng the year ended Deeember 31, %92—3—2024 and —t-he—eem-paﬂy—qold

2021, the Company issued 7, 732, 168 prlvate warrants in a transaction exempt from registration under %ecurrtreﬁ regulations.
The warrants, which are not listed for trading on a stock exchange, entitle the holder to purchase one share of the Company’ s
common stock at an exercise price of $ 11. 50 per share, subject to adjustment. The warrants will expire on September 2, 2026,
at 5: 00 p. m., New York City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The private warrants were established as a liability
at issuance. Classification of the private warrants as liability instruments was based on an analysis of the guidance in accordance
with U. S. GAAP and in a statement issued by the Staff of the SEC regarding the accounting and reporting considerations for
warrants issued by special purpose acquisition companies entitled “ Staff Statement on Accounting and Reporting
Considerations for Warrants Issued by Special Purpose Acquisition Companies. ” The Company considered whether the private
warrants display the three characteristics of a derivative, and concluded the private warrants meet the definition of a derivative.
However, the private warrants fail to meet the equity scope exception and thus are classified as a liability measured at fair value,
subject to remeasurement at each Page-#3-reporting period. The changes in fair value of the private warrant liability were an
increase of $ 2-52 . 0 million and a-deerease-of$ 472 . 80 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-,
respectively. These changes in fair value are recognized as other (income) expense, net in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income (loss). Page 69 The private warrants were valued using a modified Black- Scholes OPM.
As certain inputs are not observable in the market, the private warrants are classified as Level 3 instruments within the fair value
hierarchy. The table below presents the fair value per warrant and the valuation assumptions under the Black- Scholes OPM:
December 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Fair-2023Fair value per share $6-7 . 43-15 $ 0. 4743 Warrants
outstanding7, 732, 168 7, 732, 168 Exercise price $ 11. 50 $ 11. 50 Common stock price $ 16. 46 $ 2. 85 $34--98-Expected
option term2-terml . 67 years3-years2 . 67 yearsExpected volatitity74-volatilityS2 . 70 % 74 . 20 %-66-—76-"% Risk- free rate of
return4. 86-18 % 4. +6-00 % Expected annual dividend yield — % — % The table below presents the Company’ s financial
instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis: December 31, 2023-2024 Balance Sheet LocationLevel 1Level 2Level
3TotalLiabilities: Private warrantsWarrant liabilities $ — $ — $ 55, 285 § 55, 285 Total liabilities $ — $ — $ 55,285 $



55, 285 December 31, 2023Balance Sheet LocationLevel 1Level 2Level 3TotalAssets: Committed equity facilityPrepaid
expenses and other current assets § — $ — § — § — Total assets $ — $ — $§ — $ — Liabilities: Private warrantsWarrant

liabilities § — $ — § 3, 325 § 3, 325 ContingenteonsiderationNotespayable-toseHers——————Total liabilities § — $ —§

3,3258$3,325 There were no changes in the fair value of Level 3 ﬁnancnal assets dur1ng the year ended December 31

F ac1htyTotal Level 3December d g€ S
Beeember-31, 2022 $216$ 216 Add1t10ns —_ Change% in fan value (216 216) Settlements — December 31,2023 —8§
— Page 70 Liabilities: Contingent ConsiderationPrivateWarrantsTotalLevel 3December 31, 20242022 $ 1, 000 $ +9-1 , 898
314 $ 26-2 , 898-314 Additions — — — Changes in fair value — 2 (7, 011 2 7843+, 784-011 Settlements (1, 000 ) — (1,
000) December 31,2023 $ —$ 3,325 $ 3, 325 Addltlons _ Changes in fair value — 51 960 51, 960 Settlements —
— — December 31, 2622-2024 $ g Addittons S

45-000)0—;-000)y Deeember34,2023-5 — § 3—55 325—285 $ 3—55 325285 The accounts receiv able net bal"tnce was as
follows: December 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Billed-2023Billed receivables $ 18,450 $ 28, 926 $25:-548

Unbilled receivables3, 455 3, 485 +5268-Total accounts recewable net $ 21,905 $ 32, 411 $26;726-Accounts receivable are
recorded for amounts to which the Company is entitled and has invoiced to the customer. Unbilled receivables, presented in the
table above, consist of unbilled amounts under time- and- material (“ T & M *) contracts where billing and payment is subject
solely to the passage of time. Substantially all accounts receivable as of December 31, 2623-2024 are expected to be collected in
2024-2025 . The Company does not believe there is a significant exposure to credit risk as the majority of the Company’ s
accounts receivable are due from U. S. and foreign governments or large prime contractors of such government entities. As a
result, the allowance for credit losses was not material as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, respectively . The
inventory balance was as follows: December 31, 2023Beeember-2024December 3 1, 2022Raw-2023Raw materials $ 1, 812 $ 1,
452 $995-Work in preeessé4— processd27 474-64 [nventory $ +2 , 546239 $ 1, 469-516 Page #5-71 Property, plant and
equipment, net were as follows: December 3 1, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Untted-2023 United
StatesEuropeTotalUnited StatesEuropeTotalComputer equipment $2, 690 $ 695 $ 3,385 $ 1, 755 $ 559 $ 2, 314 $-Furniture
and fixturesl, 409 36 1, 445 256-$252-$-1 ;- 508 Furniture-and-fixtarest—, 181 39 1, 220 18623811400 Laboratory
equipmentS-equipment6 , 879 728 7, 607 5, 086 594 5, 680 36464834429 casehold improvements2, 576 4, 410 6, 986 2,
764 4,683 7,447 Vehicles81 — 81 — — — 2:-229-4-475-6-764-Finance lease ROU assets — 2, 313 2, 313 — 2, 004 2, 004
Construction in processS, 648 — 5, 648 3 944-944-Construettonrinproeess3-, 782 — 3, 782 +5468—15-408-Property, plant
and equipment, grosst4-gross19 , 283 8, 182 27, 465 14 , 568 7, 879 22, 447 9:-664+-6;192+5;-793-Less: accumulated
depreciation ( 6, 147) (3, 481) (9, 628) (4, 631) (1, 907) (6, 538 HZEFEI24F)35-0832-) Total property, plant and equipment,
net $13,136 $4,701 $ 17,837 59,937 $ 5,972 § 15, 909 $6;846-$5945-$42, 761+ There was no impairment recognized
related to property plant and equ1pment durmo the year ended December 31 2024 and 2023 —Bt&rﬂg—t-he—ye&r—eﬂded—Beeerﬂber

The table below presents the depreciation expense

related to property plant and equ1pment fot the followm;a pe11od§ Year Ended December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December
31, 2022Pepreetation-2023Depreciation cxpense $ 3-4 , 542-067 § 3, 512 325Page-76-The mtan(nble assets gross carrying

amount and accumulated amortization were as follows: December 31,

2024GrosscarryingamountAccumulatedamortizationNetcarryingamountWeighted averageuseful lifein yearsFinite- lived
intangible assets: Customer relationships $ 39, §24-606 $ ( 6-8 , 184403 ) $ 33-31 , 643-203 2+Fechnotogy32-21Technology33 ,
864379 (812 ,833-351 ) 2421, 028 15Trademarks3, 172 (2, 050) 1, 122 68494488 9Internal- use software heenses3
licenses8 , 256-760 ( +3 , 8H-116 ) +5 , 445411644 6In - process internal- use software2, 68+491 — 2, 88+491 [ndefinite-
lived intangible assets: Cosmos Tradename300 — 300 HR-&B—————Total intangible assets $ 8+87 , 494-708 $ (4825,
569920 ) $ 62-61 , 985-788 Page 72 December 31, 2022-2023
GrosscarryingamountAccumulatedamortizationNetcarryingamountWeighted averageuseful lifein yearsFinite- lived intangible
assets: Customer relationships $ 39, 593-824 § (4-6 , 637181 ) § 35-33 , 556-643 2+Feehnotogy36-21Technology32 ., 954-861 (
5-8 ., 042-833 ) 25-24 , 942-028 13 Frademarks3-15Trademarks3 , 172 (1, 278-684 ) 1, $94-488 Hnternal-9Internal - use
software heenses2-licenses3 , 387256 ( 920)-1, 467-811) 1, 445 4In- process internal- use software2, 081 — 2, 081
3ndefintte— Indefinite - lived intangible assets: Cosmos Tradename300 — 300 HR-&BHH2—H2-Total intangible
assets $ 78-81 , H8-494 § (+H-18 , 247509 ) $ 66-62 . 8H-985 There was no impairment recognized related to intangible assets

during the year ended December 31 2024 and 2023 —Bt&tﬁg—t-he—yea-r—eﬂded—Beeember—Zv—l— respectlvely %92—2—ﬂ&e-€eﬁapa-ny

The table below presents the amortization expense related to mtan(nble assets fot the followm;a pe11od§ Year Ended December
31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Amertizationr2023Amortization cxpense $ 7, 242-625 § 7, 212 963Page77+The
table below presents the future amortization expense on intangible assets as of December 3 1, 2623-2024 : ¥earTotal2024
YearTotal2025 $ 67 , 108 81+6-26255;-96820265-20266 , 465473 2027520276 , H1+-077 26284-20285 , 743-597 20295, 238
Fhereafter32- Thereafter28 , 564504 Total future amortization expense on intangible assets § 66-58 , 684-997 The changes in
the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows: Gross GoodwillAccumulated ImpairmentNet GoodwillBalance efgeedwill-as



31,2022 $ 114 534 $ (49 916) $ 64 618 Meaiurement perlod ad)u%tment Space NV545 — 545 Change arising from impact of
foreign currency808 (214) 594 Balance of goodwill as of December 31, 2023 $ 115, 887 $ (50, 130) $ 65, 757 Puring the-year
ended-Goodwill arlslng from acqulsltlons6 629 — 6, 629 Change arising from 1mpact of forelgn currency (1 438) 213 (1

ARV,

-R—S-S— -mel-udmg—pefseﬁﬂel-9l7) $ 71, 161 an

There was no 1mpa1rment recognized related to goodwill durlng the year ended

adjustment-to-goodwill-as-of the-aequisition-date—
December 31, 2024 and 2023 —Bufmg—t-he—year—eﬂded—Beeefﬁbeﬁ-l— respectlvely %GQQ—H&e—Geﬁﬁaaﬂy—reeegfﬂzed—mpaﬁmeﬂf

e Page -7’-8—73 The table below preient%
detalls of the Company s debt as of the followmg penods and the effectlve interest rate as of December 31, 2023-2024 :
Effective interest rateDecember 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Adams-2023Adams Street Term eant2-Loanl1 .
2746 % $ 30,522-212 $ 30, 522 @%dms%%e%ﬁm&vmg—@fecﬁaeﬁﬂ%&é—ﬂ—l%—@%—Adame Street Delayed Draw
Term Eeant2-Loanll . 2746 14, 619 14, 769 +4;-819-Adams Street Incremental Term Feand2-Loanll . +4-29 31, 268 31, 588
3+Adams Street Revolving Credit Facility13. 53 50 , 695-000 12, 000 D & O Financing Leanst-Loans2 . 92-21 486 598 45
F98-Total debt89-debt126, 585 89 , 477 #8;-938-Less: unamortized discounts and issuance eestst-costs855 1 , 257 +-6+5-Total
debt, net88-netl125, 730 88 , 220 F%4-323-Less: Short- term debt, including current portion of long- term debtl, 266 1, 378 2:-578
Total long- term debt, net $ 124, 464 $ 86, 842 -$—74—745%dafﬁs—$freet—€apt&rl—€fedﬁ1*greeﬁieﬂ{—0n October 28, 2020, the
Company entered into a credit agreement with Adams Street Capital (the “ Adams Street Credit Agreement ), the terms of
which were subsequently modified by various amendments through December 31, 2623-2024 . As amended, the Adams Street
Credit Agreement includes (i) a $ 31. 0 million term loan commitment, (ii) a $ 15. 0 million delayed draw term loan, (iii) a $ 32.
0 million incremental term loan, and (iv) a $ 36-65 . 0 million revolving credit facility commitment, all of which mature on
October 28, 2026. During the year ended December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company borrowed $ 3545 . 50 million and repaid $
23-7 . 50 million , respectively, on the revolving credlt facility. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the Company had $ 42-15 . 0
million of beﬁewmgs—eutetﬂaﬂd-mg—remalmng capacity under the Company’ s revolving credit facility and-the-remaining
eapaeity-was$180-milller. As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the outstanding principal on the Adams Street Credit Agreement
incurs cash interest in accordance with the prime rate plus the apphcable rates as set forth in the table below: Eurocurrency
RateBase RateTerm loans6. 00 % 5. 00 % Revolving credit facility: Aggregate principal of $ 5. 0 million or less 6. 00 5. 00
Aggregate principal in excess of $ 5. 0 million7. 50 6. 50 As amended in March 2022, AE Industrial Partners Fund II, LP (*° AEI
) and certain of its affiliates (the “ AEI Guarantors ), provided a limited guarantee for the payment of outstanding revolving
loans in excess of $ 10. 0 million, with a $ 15. 0 million cap in the aggregate. In the event that the AEI Guarantors are required
to make payments to the lenders under the Adams Street €apttal-Credit Agreement pursuant to the terms of the limited
guarantee, each AEI Guarantor would be subrogated to the rights of the lenders. In connection with the limited guarantee, the
Company agreed to pay to the AEI Guarantors ;-a fee equal to 2 % of any amount actually paid by such guarantors under the
limited guarantee. The fee is waivable by the AEI Guarantors at their discretion. As amended in August 2022, the outstanding
principal on the term loans and revolving loans under the Adams Street Credit Agreement incurs additional interest to be paid-
in- kind (“ PIK ) of 2. 00 % per annum, which is accrued and added to the outstanding principal balance until the Company is
in compliance with the consolidated total net leverage ratio. The requirement to comply with the consolidated total net leverage
ratio was suspended through September 30, 2023, and such compliance resumed with the fiscal quarter ending December 31,
2023. In addition, the Company was required to maintain a minimum liquidity covenant of $ 5. 0 million measured on the last
day of each fiscal month commencing with the month ending September 30, 2022 through September 30, 2023. During the
second quarter of 2023, in accordance with the provisions of the Adams Street Credit Agreement, as amended, the Company met
certain requirements to end the incremental 2. 00 % per annum PIK interest, effective May 1, 2023. The previously suspended
requirement to comply with the consolidated total net leverage ratio , as discussed above, is no longer in effect and the Company
is required to comply with the consolidated total net leverage ratio as of December 31, 2023-2024 . Page 79-74 There was no %

O 5-mithemrand-$0—Fmithierraccrued PIK interest on the Adams Street Credit Agreement recorded during the year ended
December 31, 2024 and $ 0. S million during the year ended December 31, 2023 and2022respeetively-. [n June 2023, the
Company entered into the Sixth Amendment to the Adams Street Credit Agreement, in which the LIBOR- based interest rate
applicable to borrowings under the Adams Street Credit Agreement was replaced with a SOFR- based interest rate in advance of
the cessation of LIBOR , which occurred on June 30, 2023. In December 2023, the Company entered into a Seventh
Amendment to the Adams Street Credit Agreement, in which the commitments under the revolving credit facility increased from
$25. 0 million to $ 30. 0 million. In June 2024, the Company entered into an Eighth Amendment to the Adams Street
Credit Agreement (“ Eighth Amendment ), in which the commitments under the revolving credit facility increased from
$ 30. 0 million to §$ 45. 0 million. Pursuant to the Eighth Amendment, the Company is required to maintain an aggregate
principal amount of outstanding revolving credit loans in an amount no less than $ 10. 0 million. In August 2024, the
Company entered into a Ninth Amendment to the Adams Street Credit Agreement (“ Ninth Amendment ), in which the
commitments under the revolving credit facility increased from $ 45. 0 million to $ 65. 0 million. Pursuant to the Ninth
Amendment, the aggregate principal amount of outstanding revolving credit loans the Company is required to maintain




increased from no less than $ 10. 0 million to no less than $ 30. 0 million. The Adams Street €apital-Credit Agreement, as
amended, contains certain customary representations and warranties, affirmative and other covenants and events of default,
including among other things, payment defaults, breach of representations and warranties, and covenant defaults. As of
December 31, 2024 and December 31 2023 ﬁﬂd—292—2— the Company was in Comphance with its cov enant requnements as

On September 3, 2023 the Company entered into a $ l 2 m1lhon loan with AFCO Credit Corporatlon (the 2023 D &O
Financing Loan ”) to finance the Company’ s directors and officers insurance premium. The 2023 D & O Financing Loan has an
interest rate of 7. 39 % per annum and a maturity date of March 3, 2024. In March 2024, the Company repaid the full
outstanding principal and interest on the 2023 D & O Financing Loan. On August 28, 2024, the Company entered into a
$ 1. 0 million loan with AFCO Credit Corporation (the “ 2024 D & O Financing Loan ”) to finance the Company’ s
directors and officers insurance premium. The 2024 D & O Financing Loan has an interest rate of 7. 53 % per annum
and a maturity date of March 3, 2025. The maturities of the Company’ s long- term debt outstanding as of December 31, 2623
2024 are as follows: 20242025262620272028ThereafterFotalAdams—--- 20252026202720282029Thereafter TotalAdams
Street Term Loan $346-$ 310 $29,902$ —$ —$ — $ —$ 30, 522-212 Adams Street Delayed Draw Term Loan150 +56-14,
469 — — — — 14, 769-619 Adams Street Incremental Term Loan320 320-30, 948 — — — — 31, 588268 Adams Street
Revolving Credit Facility — 50 —32-, 000 — — — 42— 150, 000 2622-D & O Financing Lean598-Loan486 — — — — —
598486 Total long- term debt maturities $ 1, 378266 $ 125 786-$87, 3195 — $ — § — $ 89— $ 126 , 477585 The table
below presents the interest expense on debt, including the amortization of discounts and issuance costs for the following
periods: Year EndedDecember 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622nterest-2023Interest expense on debt § 13,484 $
10, 702 $-8;226-The Company has entered into and acquired long- term leasing arrangements for the right to use various classes
of underlying assets, including facilities, vehicles and office equipment. Certain facility leases contain predetermined fixed
escalation of minimum rents at stated rates ranging from 2. 00 % to 4-25 . 00 % per annum and three leases with annual
escalations based on certain price indices. In Page 75 addition, certain facility leases include renewal options that could extend
the lease term for up to an additional tenfifteen years. The office equipment lease contains a renewal option that could extend
the lease to consecutive 60- day terms and a purchase option. Page-86-Total Lease Costs The following table summarizes total
lease costs for the period: Year EndedDecember 31, 2623BDeeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Finanee-2023Finance lcase cost:
Amortization of ROU assets $ 518 $ 434 $-54-Interest on lease Habiitiesd8-liabilities122 6-98 Operating lease costs4, 637 4,
251 3;:339-Variable lease eosts29——costs48 29 Short- term lease eosts230-25+-costs475 230 Total lease costs $ 5, 800 $ 5, 042
$-3,-650-Total lease costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses and cost of sales on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). There was no impairment recognized related to ROU assets during
the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively . As of Buring-the-year-ended-December 31, 2022-2024 , the
Company feeegmzed—m‘rp&rfment—e*peﬂse—had two facility leases that had not yet commenced but require significant future
lease obligations in the amount of $ 96-3 . 6-8 million ;efwhteh-$2- Fmiltltonrrelated The contracts were determined to
eertairROU-be operating leases, whereby the Company is not required to make rent payments prior to the lease
commencement date while construction is completed on the underlying asset. Due to the nature of the work and the
amount of the Company’ s contribution to the construction period costs for each lease, the Company was determined not
to be the owner of the assets wrt-hrn—under constructlon as the landlords have substantlally all of the constructlon perlod

Hmpairment-. Supplemental Balance Sheet lnf011nat10n The followmg table preients supplemental balance sheet 1nform"tt10n
related to the Company’ s operating and finance leases: December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 20220perating
20230perating [ casesFinance LeasesOperating LeasesFinance Lease§R1ght of- use assets, net reflected in the following
balance sheet line items: Property, plant and equipment, net $ — § 1, 554392 § — § 899-1, 551 Right- of- use assetst3-assets15
, 48277 — 13,463-181 — Total right- of- use assets $ 15,277 $1,392 $ 13, 181 $ 1, 551 $43;403-$899-Current lease
balance reflected in the following balance sheet line items: Short- term operating lease liabilities $ 3-4 , 737354 § — §$ 3, 244
737 § — Short- term finance lease liabilities — 473 — 439 —299-Non- current lease balance reflected in the following balance
sheet line items: Long- term operating lease habilttest2-liabilities13 , 362-444 — 12, 676-302 — Long- term finance lease
liabilities — 980 — 1, 137 —579-Total lease liabilities $ 17, 798 $ 1,453 $ 16, 039 $ 1, 576 $45;884-$878-Page 8+76 Other
Supplemental Information The following table presents other supplemental information related to the Company’ s leases: Year
EndedDecember 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 20220perating-20230perating [ casesFinance LeasesOperating
LeasesFinance LeasesCash paid for lease liabilities $ 2,460 $ 601 $ 4, 273 § 492 $3,-876-$61-Right- of- use assets obtained in
exchange for new lease Hiabtlities3-liabilities5 , 813 457 3 , 418 1, 167 8;-6+5944-Weighted average remaining lease term (in
years) 4. 03. 34. 43. 84831 Weighted-8Weighted average discount rate6-rate7 .8 % 8.1 % 6 . 3 % 8. 4 %65-6%93%
Future Lease Obligations As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the future annual minimum lease payments for lease liabilities are as
follows: YearOperating LeasesFinance feases2624-Leases2025 $ 4-5 , 582-485 § 564-571 20254-20264 , 545 462 698479
26263;-569-36320273-20274 , 371+-289-366 382 2628120282 , 852136-861 218 20291, 836 42 El"—hefea-fter—l—ThereafterZ 572
858 — Total lease payments18— payments21 , 984-951 1, 83+-675 Less: imputed interest2-interestd , 945-255-153 222 Present
value of lease liabilities $ +6-17 , 939-798 § 1, 576-453 Public Warrants Each public warrant entitles the registered holder to



purchase one share of common stock at a price of $§ 11. 50 per share, subject to adjustment. Pursuant to the warrant agreement, a
warrant holder may exercise its warrants only for a whole number of shares of common stock. This means only a whole warrant
may be exercised at a given time by a warrant holder. The warrants will expire on September 2, 2026, at 5: 00 p. m., New York
City time, or earlier upon redemption or liquidation. The Company may call the public warrants for redemption as follows: (1)
in whole and not in part; (2) at a price of $ 0. 01 per warrant; (3) upon a minimum of 30 days prior written notice of redemption;
and (4) only if the last reported closing price of the common stock equals or exceeds $ 18. 00 per share for any 20 trading days
within a 30- trading day period ending on the 3rd trading day prior to the date on which the Company sends the notice of
redemption to the warrant holders. If the Company calls the public warrants for redemption, management will have the option to
require all holders that wish to exercise the Company public warrants to do so on a *“ cashless basis. ” The exercise price and
number of shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in certain circumstances including a
consolidation, combination, reverse stock split or reclassification of shares of the Company’ s common stock or other similar
event. In no event will the Company be required to net cash settle the warrant shares. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and
2622, there were 8, 188, 811, respectively, public warrants issued and outstanding. The terms and provisions of the public
warrants above also apply to the private warrants. If the private warrants are held by holders other than the original holders or
their respective permitted transferees, the private warrants will be redeemable by the Company and exercisable by the holders
on the same basis as the public warrants. The original holders and their respective permitted transferees Page 77 have the option
to exercise the private placement warrants on a cashless basis. Page-82-As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2622-, there
were 7, 732, 168, respectively, private warrants issued and outstanding. Refer to Note D — Fair Value of Financial Instruments
for information on the Level 3 inputs used to value the private warrants. The table below presents the current and deferred
components of income tax expense (benefit) for the following periods: Year EndedDecember 31, 2023Deeember
2024December 3 1, 2022€urrent-2023Current : Federal $ — § — State-State67 (73) 33-Foreign5+2--- Foreign 259-(284) 512
Total current income tax expense (benefit) (217) 439 292-Deferred: Federal48—- Federal ( 122 6;317) 48 State62-- State271
62 Foreign (1,963-952 ) Feretgn-(1, 035) +6-Total deferred income tax expense (benefit) ( 1, 803) (925 38;264-) Total income
tax expense (benefit) $ ( 2, 020) $ (486 y$F-972) A reconciliation of the U. S. federal statutory income tax expense to actual
income tax expense is as follows: Year EndedDecember 31, 2023Beeember-2024December 3 1, 2022Ineeme-2023Income
(loss) before income taxes $ (116, 331) $ (27, 750 3$-38;,-592-) Federal statutory income tax rate21. 0 % 21. 0 % Expected
federal provision (benefit) for income taxes at the federal statutory income tax rate ( 24, 430) (5, 828 329464~ State income
tax (benefit), net of federal tax benefit ( 3, 159) ( 1, 190 H+5;394-) Change in fair value of warrants422-warrants10 3-, 912 422

%%Neﬂdedﬁeﬂb}ema&rfmeﬁ&e-ﬂgeedﬁﬂ—}e—%a—%rmanent differeneest36-differences314 226-136 Tax (benefits) / non-
deductrble expenses related to equrty based eeﬁapeﬁsa&eﬂ%4———— compensatmn (636) 984 Acqu1s1t10n costs219 — Change in

498—9%he1=1—82—61—359)—T0tal income tax expen%e (benefit) $ ( 2, 020) $ (486 )—$—€7—9—7—2—) Effectrve tax ratel 7% 1 8 % S—The

effective tax rate for 2024 differs from the U . &-S. federal income tax rate of 21. 0 % primarily due to the revaluation of

the warrants and the valuation allowance. The effective tax rate for 2023 differs from the U. S. federal income tax rate of 21.
0% prrmarrly due to equrty based Compenqatron state income tax expen%e sand the Valuatron allowance fPhe—effeeﬁve—taHa’fe

deduet—rb-le—tmpﬂ-rﬁﬁeﬁt—e-ﬁgeedwﬂ-l—Page 8—3—78 The table below presenti the Componentq of deferred tax as%ets net and deferred
tax liabilities: December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 1, 2022Peferred-2023Deferred tax assets: Accrued expenses and
reserves $ 456 $ 1, 992 $4;-997-Capitalized research and development expenses2-expensesd , 528 2 | 241 +482-Tax credit
earryforwards240-carryforwards243 236-240 Deferred revenuel, 367 1, 217 —Net operating loss earryforwards26
carryforwards38 , 676 20 , 371 +9;363-Interest ehsal-}ewaﬁeeé-dlsallowancelo 007 6 , 640 4;-646-Equity- based
eompensationt-compensation2 , 643 1, 580 5-053-Lcase liability4, 956 4, 454 4—}}93—Other assetsS4-assets62 +9-54 Total
deferred tax assets38-assets62 , 938 38 , 789 35;423- ess: valuation allowance ( 45, 324) (23, 821 339;-643-) Deferred tax
assets, net of valuation al-lewaﬁee—l—4—allowance17 , 614 14 | 968 +6;HH08-Deferred tax liabilities: Right- of- use asset $ ( 4, 291)
$ (3, 725) $3; 584 Peferredrevente—5498)-Depreciation and amortization (13, 616) (13, 523) {3 H2-Other ( 217) (
122 3H59+) Deferred tax liabilities ( 18, 124) ( 17, 370 349;365-) Total net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ ( 510) $ (2, 402 ¥$
35255) The Company considers whether it is more- likely- than- not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be
realized in assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets. The ultimate realization of the deferred tax assets is dependent upon
the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which the net operating loss (“ NOL ) and tax credit
carryforwards are available. The Company recorded a valuation allowance against substantially all of the domestic net deferred
tax assets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2022-, respectively. The Company intends to continue to maintain the
valuation allowance until there is sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all or some portion of these valuation allowances.
The table below presents the change in valuation allowance for the following periods: Valuation allowance as of December 31,
2024-2022 $ (54519, 013 ) [ncome tax expense (484, 498-808 ) Valuation allowance as of December 31, 20222023 § (49-23
,643-821) Acquired deferred tax assets (5, 350 ) Income tax expense (416 , 868-153 ) Valuation allowance as of December
31,2023-2024 $ (2345 , 824324 ) As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company had $ #5-130 . 3-6 million of net operating
losses resulting in U. S. federal, state (net), and foreign deferred tax assets of $ 4527 . 84 million, $ 3-7 . 62 million, and $ 4. 0
—9-million, respectively. The $ 45-130 . 8-6 million in U. S. federal net operating loss carryforwards may be carried forward
indefinitely to reduce future taxable income for U. S. federal tax purpo%es Whrle certain state and forelgn net operatrng loss
carryforwards will begin to expire in 2638-2039 an g O55-ea : g . Page 84
79 The table below presents changes in reserves for unrecognrzed income tax beneﬁt% for the followrng perrods Year

EndedDecember 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Unreeognized-2023Unrecognized tax benefits, beginning of




period $ 1, 380 $ 1, 380 Increase (decrease) for tax positions taken related to a prior pertod———1Inerease-(deerease)-fortax
pes-rt—teﬁs—takeﬂ—dﬂfmg—t-he—etﬁeﬂt—perlod — — Unrecognized tax benefits, end of period $ 1, 380 $ 1, 380 During the year
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, the Company did not recognize certain tax benefits from uncertain tax positions
within the provision for income taxes. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the Company’ s estimated gross unrecognized tax
benefits were $ 1. 4 million, of which $ 1. 3 million, if recognized, would favorably impact the Company’ s future earnings. The
Company believes there will be no material changes to unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelve months. Due to
uncertainties in any tax audit outcome, estimates of the ultimate settlement of our unrecognized tax positions may change and
the actual tax benefits may differ from the estimates. During December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, the Company did not
recognize any interest and penalties in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The
Company and its subsidiaries file income tax returns in various U. S. and foreign jurisdictions. As of December 31, 2623-2024 ,
the Company is subject to examination by the IRS for tax years beginning in 2626-2021 . The Company is open to state income
tax examinations until the applicable statute of limitations expires, generally four years after tax return filing; however, the
ability for the taxing authority to adjust tax attribute carryforwards will continue until the applicable statute of limitations
expires after tax attribute utilization or expiration. Contingencies in the Normal Course of Business Under certain contracts with
the U. S. government and certain governmental entities, contract costs, including indirect costs, are subject to audit by and
adjustment through negotiation with governmental representatives. Revenue is recorded in amounts expected to be realized on
final settlement of any such audits. The Company is subject to litigation, claims, investigations and audits arising from time to
time in the ordinary course of business. Although legal proceedings are inherently unpredictable, the Company believes that it
has valid defenses with respect to any matters currently pending against it and intends to defend itself vigorously. Excluding
pending matters disclosed below, the outcome of these matters, individually and in the aggregate, is not expected to have a
material impact on the Company” s consolidated financial statements. The Company has established reserves for matters for
which the Company believes that losses are probable and can be reasonably estimated. For matters, including certain of
those described herein, where the Company has not established a reserve, the ultimate outcome or resolution cannot be
predicted at this time, or the amount of ultimate loss, if any, cannot be reasonably estimated. These matters are subject
to many uncertainties and the outcome of the individual claims is not predictable with certainty. It is possible that
certain of the actions, claims, inquiries or proceedings, including those discussed herein, could be decided unfavorably to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries involved. Accordingly, it is possible that an adverse outcome from such a
proceeding could exceed the amount accrued in an amount that could be material to the accompanying consolidated
financial position, results of operations or cash flows in any particular reporting period. The Company recognizes legal
expenses When 1nculred 8 unless otherw1se dlsclosed below, as sellmé, general and administrative expense in the consohddted

elesed— On December 17, 2021 the Company, our (hd1rmdn and (hlef Executive Officer, Peter Cannito, and then current, but
now former Chief Financial Ol‘hcer, William Read, were named as defendants in a putative class action complaint filed in the
United States District Court for the Middle District of Florida. That litigation is captioned Lemen v. Redwire Corp. et al., Case
No. 3: 21- cv- 01254- TJC- PDB (M. D. Fla.). On March 7, 2022, the Court appointed a lead plaintiff. On June 17, 2022, the
lead plaintiff filed an amended complaint. In the amended complaint, the lead plaintiff alleges that the Company and certain of
its directors and officers made misleading statements and / or failed to disclose material facts about the Company’ s business,
operations, and prospects, allegedly in violation of Section 10 (b) (and Rule 10b- 5 promulgated thereunder) and Section 20 (a)
of the Exchdnoe Act As relief, the plamtlﬁs are seel{llm, amon,(: other things, compensatory damages. Fhe-defendants-beheve
OfS withottm d o 8 sty-On August 16, 2022, the defendants moved to dismiss
the comphmt in its entnety, and such motion was demed by the C ourt on March 22, 2023. A—fe&soﬁab-le—On November 15,
2024, the Company and plaintiffs filed a joint motion for a stipulated order to settle this litigation pursuant to a
settlement agreement entered into among the parties. Under the terms of the agreement, Redwire will pay $ 8. 0 million
to settle claims brought on behalf of purchasers of Redwire’ s publicly traded Page 80 shares from March 25, 2021,
through March 31, 2022. Redwire has also agreed to certification of a settlement class to facilitate resolution of claims.
The Company has consistently denied the accusations and entered into this proposed settlement, which is not an
admission or concession of liability, to avoid the costs and risks inherent in continued litigation. The settlement would
resolve all claims against Redwire Corporation and other defendants in this matter. The settlement has received
preliminary approval from the court but remains subject to final court approval. The Company has recognized a loss
contingency of $ 8. 0 million and a § 1. 0 million anticipated insurance recovery as of December 31, 2024, which is its best
estimate of probable the-ameunt-ofany-pessible-loss ertange-of-and recovery based on the current circumstances. The loss
eanot-be-made-at-this-time-contingency and anticipated recovery is included as other current liabilities and prepaid and
other current assets in the consolidated balance sheets, respectively, and other (income) expense, net in the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) . Page-85-On January23-May 25 . 2623-2022 , a plaintiff
commenced derlvatlve lltlgatlon in the Unlted States Dlstrlct Court for the District of Delaware on behalf of the Company
€ he—4 stot he-U—against Peter Cannlto, Les Danlels, Reggie
Brothers, Joanne Isham, Kn'k Konert Jonathan Ballff and John S. < 2 i
violations-of-Seetion-Bolton. That litigation is captioned Yingling v. Cannito, et al., Case No. | of: 22- cv- 00684- MN (D.
Del.). The complaint’ s allegations are similar to the-those Sherman-Aet-and-of the class Seetiorraction lawsuit filed in




December S-ofthe-ClaytonrAet—On-Septenber29,2623-2021 , the DOJnotified-namely, that statements about Redwire’ s

business and operations were misleading due to alleged material weaknesses in the Company’ s eeunset-financial
reporting internal controls. The plaintiff alleges the defendants violated Section 10 (b) (and Rule 10b- 5 promulgated
thereunder) and Section 20 (a) of the Exchange Act, breached their fiduciary duty by allowing misleading disclosures to
be made, and caused the Company to overpay compensation and bonuses tied to the Company’ s financial performance.
As relief, the plaintiffs are seeking, among other things, compensatory and punitive damages. This litigation had
previously been stayed pending resolution of the class action lawsuit filed on December 17, 2021. Since that this-matter is
elosed-now before the court for approval of a settlement agreement, the stay in the Yingling matter has automatically
lifted. The defendants believe the allegations are without merit and intend to defend the lawsuit vigorously. The matter is
currently in the early stages of discovery and the Company is currently unable to predict the likely outcome of the
proceedings or estimate the range of reasonably possible losses, which may be material. However, the amount of any
reasonable possible loss or range of loss is expected to be recoverable through the Company’ s D & O insurance policy .
The Company has acquired and plans to continue to acquire businesses with prior operating histories. These acquisitions may
have unknown or contingent liabilities, which the Company may become responsible for and could have a material impact on
the Company’ s future operating results and cash flows. In addition, the Company may incur acquisition costs, regardless of
whether or not the acquisition is ultimately completed, which may be material to future periods. During the year- ended
December 31, 2023, the Company entered into an economic development agreement to serve as the anchor tenant at the new
Novaparke Innovation & Technology Campus in Floyd County, Indiana , the construction of which is anticipated to be
completed during fiscal year 2025 . In accordance with the agreement, the Company has committed to enter into a lease for a
30, 000 square foot property upeneompletion-ofeonstruettorr. As of December 31, Construetionis-notantieipated-to-be
eomplete-untitfiseal-year 26252024 , at-whiehtime-the Company wilt-had enter-entered into the associated lease agreement-.
Refer to Note K — Leases for additional information. Letters of Credit The Company has entered into letters of credit
issued on our behalf by financial institutions secured by restricted cash. Letters of credit generally are available for draw
down in the event we do not fulfill our contractual obligations. The Company had outstanding letters of credit of $ 15. 4
million as of December 31, 2024. The Company had no outstanding letters of credit as of December 31, 2023 . The table
below presents activity of the Company’ s Series A Convertible Preferred Stock: SharesAmountBalance as of December 31,
262284202393 ., 890. 250-- 20 —60-5 76-96 , 365-106 Dividends paid- in- kaned2-kind14 , 759. 10 640-- 40 -—2619-, 74+-699
Balance as of December 31, 202393-2024108 , §96-649 . 26-30 $ 96-136 , +66-805 Page 81 On October 28, 2022, the Company
filed a Certificate of Designation describing the terms and conditions of newly issued Series A Convertible Preferred Stock of
the Company, par value 0. 0001 (the “ Convertible Preferred Stock ), with 88, 000. 00 total shares constituting the series. On or
around the same date, the Company entered into investment agreements with (i) AE Industrial Partners Fund II, LP (“ AEI Fund
I ) and AE Industrial Partners Structured Solutions I, LP (“° AEI Structured Solutions ”, and together with AEI Fund II, (“ AEI
), (ii) BCC Redwire Aggregator, LP (“ Bain Capital ™) and (iii) various investors (collectively, the “ Additional Investors, ”
and together with AEI and Bain Capital, the “ Investors ). Pursuant to the investment agreements, the Company sold an
aggregate of 81, 250. 00 shares (““ Purchased Shares ) of Convertible Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of $ 81.
25 million, or $ 76. 4 million net of issuance costs. On October 31, 2023, the Company filed a Certificate of Amendment of
Certificate of Designation of the Company (the" Amendment to the Certificate of Designation"), which was filed solely to
increase the amount of shares designated as Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $ 0. 0001 per share, to 125, 292. 00. On May
1,20623-2024 and November 1,2623-2024 , in accordance with the Convertible Preferred Stock Certificate of Designation, the
Company issued 67 , 939-022 . 66-45 and 6-7 , 606-736 . 54-65 shares, respectively, of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock to
holders of record as of April 15, 2623-2024 and October 15, 2823-2024 , respectively, as a dividend paid- in- kind (“ PIK ) on
the Convertible Preferred Stock. As the Company has the option of paying dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock in
either cash or in kind, the PIK dividend is recorded at fair value as of the respective declaration date. The fair value of the PIK
dividend as of April 15, 2623-2024 and October 15, 2023-2024 was $ 9-12 . 8-6 million and Page-86-5 +6-28 . 71 million,
respectively, which was recorded against additional paid- in- capital since the Company has an accumulated loss. The fair value
of the May 2623-2024 and November 2023-2024 PIK dividends was calculated using the accrued value per share after a
remaining term of 2. 5 years and 3-2 . 5-0 years, respectively, on an as- converted basis, or $ 1, 495-793 per share and $ +3 , 623
633 per share, respectively. The investment agreements contain customary representations, warranties and covenants of the
Company and Investors. Bain Capital Director and Nominees For so long as Bain Capital has record and beneficial ownership of
at least 50 % of the Purchased Shares issued to it as of November 3, 2022, Bain Capital will have the right to designate one
member to the Company’ s Board of Directors (the “ Board ™). Convertible Preferred Stock Features No holder of Convertible
Preferred Stock may transfer any of their shares to any unaffiliated person for twelve (12) months following the closing date of
the applicable investment agreement, except for certain exceptions, including that Bain Capital and AEI may transfer shares to
each other. Bain Capital and AEI have been provided customary preemptive rights with respect to the Convertible Preferred
Stock and, after the seventh anniversary of their respective closing dates, for so long as each holder has record and beneficial
ownership of at least 50 % of the Purchased Shares initially issued to them, may cause the Company to retain an investment
banker to identify and conduct a potential sale of the Company. The Convertible Preferred Stock is convertible into shares of
common stock at an initial conversion price of $ 3. 05 per share, subject to customary anti- dilution and price protective
adjustments. The Company previously obtained the requisite shareholder approval for the conversion of the Convertible
Preferred Stock into common stock above the 19. 99 % Limitation (as defined below). On June 20, 2023, the Company filed
with the SEC a Schedule 14C information statement pursuant to Section 14 (¢) of the Exchange Act, which provided notice of
the approval of, (i) the conversion of the Convertible Preferred Stock into shares of common stock in excess of 19. 99 % of the
63, 852, 690 shares outstanding as of October 28, 2022 immediately after giving effect to such conversion (the “ Conversion



Cap ) and (ii) voting rights of the aggregate number of votes to which all holders of outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred
Stock are entitled to vote in excess of 19. 99 % of the aggregate number of votes to which all shareholders of the Company were
entitled to vote as of October 28, 2022 (including the holders of shares of Preferred Stock) (the ““ Voting Cap ” and, together
with the Conversion Cap, the ©“ 19. 99 % Limitation ). As of December 31, 2023-2024 , the 93-108 , 896-649 . 26-30
outstanding shares of Convertible Preferred Stock were convertible into approximately 34-36 , 452-416 , 478-297 shares of the
Company’ s common stock. The holders of Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to vote with the holders of common stock,
on an as- converted basis. In addition, holders of Convertible Preferred Stock have the right, at their option and at any time, to
convert their shares into shares of common stock. Each share of Convertible Preferred Stock will mandatorily convert upon
achieving thresholds related to the Company’ s market capitalization and profitability metrics and the Company is required to
make an offer to repurchase the outstanding Convertible Preferred Stock upon a fundamental change. Page 82 Dividends on the
Convertible Preferred Stock can be paid in either cash or in kind in the form of additional shares of Convertible Preferred Stock
(such payment in kind, “ PIK ) , at the option of the Company, subject to certain exceptions. If paid in cash, such dividends
will be paid at a rate of 13 % per annum, subject to certain adjustments and exceptions or, if the Company issues PIK dividends,
at a rate of 15 % per annum, subject to certain adjustments and exceptions. Each holder of Convertible Preferred Stock has been
given certain registration rights pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, dated October 28, 2022. As of December 31,
2023-2024 , the accumulated but not declared or paid dividends on the Convertible Preferred Stock were $ 2. 8-4 million. Based
on an evaluation of the investment agreements, the Company determined that the Convertible Preferred Stock is contingently or
optionally redeemable and, therefore, does not require liability classification. However, due to the Convertible Preferred Stock
being redeemable at the option of the holder or upon a fundamental change, which includes events that are not fully within the
Company’ s control, it was determined that the Convertible Preferred Stock should be classified as one line item in temporary
(mezzanine) equity on the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. Liquidation Preference The Convertible Preferred Stock
ranks senior to the Company’ s common stock. In the event of any liquidation or winding up of the Company, the holders of the
Convertible Preferred Stock shall be entitled to receive in preference to the holders of the Company’ s common stock the greater
of (a) the greater of (i) two times the Initial Value, defined as $ 1, 000 per share and (ii) the Initial Value plus accrued and
unpaid dividends, whether or not declared, and (b) the amount that would have been received based on the if- converted Page-8%
Accrued Value, defined as Initial Value plus accrued and unpaid dividends, whether or not declared. As of December 31, 2024,
and December 31, 2023 ;and-2622-, the liquidation preference of the Convertible Preferred Stock was $ 599. 4 million and $
187. 8 miltienand-$162-5-million, respectively. On September 2, 2021, the Company approved the authorization to issue up to
500, 000, 000 shares of common stock at a $ 0. 0001 par value per share and 100, 000, 000 shares of preferred stock at a $ 0.
0001 par value per share. Committed Equity Facility with B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC On April 14, 2022, the Company
entered into the Purchase Agreement and a Registration Rights Agreement with B. Riley. Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement,
the Company has the right, but not the obligation, to direct B. Riley to purchase a specified amount of shares (each, a “ Purchase

) over {-he—a 24 month period from Commencement (a% defined in the Pmchaqe Agreement) —Sh&fes—tsaaed—te—B—Rr}ey—tmdef

equity-facility-as-of Deeember34,2623-. The Company had 67,002, 370 and 65, 546 174 and—64—289—63-1—9hare§ of common
stock outstanding as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. D1V1dend Rights Subject to applicable law and
the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of the Company’ s preferred stock or any class or series of stock
having a preference over or the right to participate with the Company’ s common stock with respect to the payment of dividends,
dividends may be declared and paid ratably on the Company’ s common stock out of the assets of the Corporation that are
legally available for this purpose at such times and in such amounts as the Company’ s Board in its discretion shall determine.
Voting Rights Each outstanding share of the Company’ s common stock is entitled to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote
of shareholders. Holders of shares of common stock do not have cumulative voting rights. Conversion or Redemption Rights



The Company’ s common stock is neither convertible nor redeemable. Page-88-Liquidation Rights Upon the Company’ s
liquidation, the holders of the Company’ s common stock are entitled to receive pro- rata the Company’ s assets that are legally
available for distribution, after payment of all debts and other liabilities and subject to the prior rights of any holders of the
Company’ s preferred stock then outstanding. Page 83 The Company had no shares of preferred stock outstanding as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023 ard-2622-, respectively. The Company’ s Board may, without further action by the Company’ s
shareholders, from time to time, direct the issuance of shares of preferred stock in series and may, at the time of issuance,
determine the designations, powers, preferences, privileges and relative participating, optional or special rights as well as the
qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption
and liquidation preferences, any or all of which maybe--- may be greater than the rights of the Company’ s common stock.
Satisfaction of any dividend preferences of outstanding shares of the Company’ s preferred stock would reduce the amount of
funds available for the payment of dividends on shares of the Company’ s common stock. Upon the affirmative vote of a
majority of the total number of directors then in office, the Company’ s Board may issue shares of the Company’ s preferred
stock with voting and conversion rights which could adversely affect the holders of shares of the Company’ s common stock.
Please refer to Note O — Convertible Preferred Stock for further information on the Company’ s Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock. The table below presents revenues by customer grouping for the following periods: Year Ended December 31,
2023Peeember-2024December 3 |, 2022€441-2023Civil space $ 88, 814 $ 102, 594 $-63,-803-National seeurity59-security76 ,
831 59 , 053 43;-996-Commercial and ether82— other138 , 456 82 , 153 53:-640-Total revenues $ 304, 101 $ 243, 800 $166;
549-The table below presents revenues based on the geographic location of the Company’ s customers for the following periods:
Year EndedDecember 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 202285-2023U . S. $ 150, 131 $ 172, 903 Europel53 $142-, 867
-Eufepe-?‘G-759 70 814 Other211 83 -l—7—29§—9t-her8—3—47—7—Total revenues $ 304, 101 $ 243, 800 $3+66;549-TFhe-majority-ofthe

A ets—Customers comprising 10 % or more of revenues are presented
below for the followmg perrodq Year Ended December 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 1, %GQ%GustemeieZOZSCustomer
A (1)$31,055$ 39, 314 $+F33+Customer B (1) — 33, 621 —Gustemef@ﬂ%—Z@—G‘PS—Cuqtomer D (1) 107, 605 —
Fo5Fotal $72,-935-$-58,884-(1) While revenue may have been generated during each of the periods presented, amounts are
only disclosed for the periods in which revenues represented 10 % or more of total revenue. Page-89-The table below presents
the contract assets and contract liabilities included on the consolidated balance sheets for the following periods: December 31,
2023December-2024December 3 |, 2022Centraet-2023Contract assets $ 43, 044 $ 36, 961 $3+-64+Contract liabilities $ 67,
201 $ 52, 645 Page 84 $29,-817-The increase in contract assets was primarily driven by revenue growth and the timing of
billable milestones occurring during the year ended December 31, 2623-2024 . The increase in contract liabilities during 2623
2024 was prrmarrly drrven by the tlmlng of large brllable mrleatone% occurrmg durlng eloser-to-the-end-of pertod-that-were-in

g ednrthe year ended December 31,

2024. Revenue recognlzed in the year ended December 31, 2024 that was 1ncluded in the contract liability balance as of
December 31, 2023 was $ 49. 4 million. Revenue recognized i in the year ended December 31 2023 that was included in the
contract llablllty balance as ofDecember 31 2022 was $ 28. 4 m v :

S - mlllron The Company evaluateq
the contract Value and cost estimates at complet1on (“ EAC ) for performance oblrgatronq at least quarterly and more frequently
when circumstances significantly change. Due to the nature of the work required to be performed on many of the Company’ s
performance obligations, the estimate of total revenue and cost at completion is complex, subject to many variables and requires
significant judgment by management on a contract- by- contract basis. As part of this process, management reviews information
including, but not limited to, labor productivity, the nature and technical complexity of the work to be performed, availability
and cost volatility of materials, %ubcontractor and Vend01 per formance Volume as%umptronq mﬂatronary trendq and achedule
and performance delays. & ; e-COns ereasingly-mere-signifiean
gﬁeﬂ—th&eufrent—maefeeeﬁﬂem*e—eﬂ*rfeﬁmeﬂt—When the Company S estlmate of total cost% to be mcurred to aatl%fy a
performance obligation exceeds the expected revenue, the Company recognizes the loss immediately. When the Company
determines that a change in estimate has an impact on the associated profit of a performance obligation, the Company records
the cumulative positive or negative adjustment to the statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Changes in
estimates and assumptions related to the status of certain long- term contracts may have a material effect on the Company’ s
operating results. The below table summarizes the favorable (unfavorable) impact of the net EAC adjustments for the following
periods: Year Ended December 31, 2023Beeember-2024December 3 1, 2022Net-2023Net EAC adjustments, before income
taxes $ (17, 696) $ ( 3, 522 ¥$9,953-) Net EAC adjustments, net of income taxes ( 17, 395) ( 3, 459 39;:376-) Net EAC
adjustments, net of income taxes, per diluted share (0. 26) (0. 05) t6—35)-The ehange-nnet unfavorable EAC adjustments in
2024 were primarily due to additional unplanned labor, design and test cycles required to meet customer requirements
in the Company’ s spacecraft platforms and missions, structures and mechanisms, avionics, sensors and payloads, and
power generation space infrastructure offerings. These net unfavorable EAC adjustments were partially offset by
favorable contract adjustments resulting from contract close- outs and modifications in RF systems. The net unfavorable
EAC adjustments in 2023 swas-were primarily due to increased production costs as it relates to the development of new
technologies within the Mission Solutions reporting unit, which were partially offset by the release of contract reserves during
t-he—yea-reeﬁded-and favorable contract ad]ustments resultmg from contract modlﬁcatmns As of December 31 %(-)2—3—2024 a

3—1—292—3— the aggregate amount of the transacuon price allocated to remaining performance obllgatlons was $ 353279 .59
million. The Company expects to recognize approximately 58-80 % of its remaining performance obligations as revenue within
the next 12 months and the balance thereafter. Page-96-401 (k) Plans The Company maintains-maintained one qualified 401 (k)



plan for its U. S. employees as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 , respectively , the Redwire 401 (k) plan. During the year
ended December 31 %92—3—2024 the Company matched employee contrlbutlon% 50 % up to 8 % for the Redw1re 401 (k) plan.
The : v ==

ﬂé—p%ﬁrwa&mefged—mte—bhe—RedWﬁe-%{—ﬂé—p}aﬂ—The-table below presents the expense for matchlng COHtI’lbuthl’N for the
following periods: Year EndedDecember 3 1, 2623Beeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Fotal-2023Total expense for matching

contributions $ 2, 367672 $ 2, 802-367 Page 85 Post- Retirement Benefit Plans The Company sponsors various post- retirement
benefit plans through its wholly- owned subsidiary, Space NV, including three cash balance plans: one defined benefit pension
plan with risk- based coverage for death and disability benefits (collectively, the “ Base Plan ”’) and two supplementary pension
bonus plans that provides variable remuneration linked to employees’ performance (the “ Performance Plans ™). These cash
balance plans are defined benefit plans which provide for post- retirement benefits based on employee and employer
contributions and prescribed rates of return in accordance with Belgium Regulation. Accordingly, all Space NV employees are
eligible to participate in the supplementary pensions immediately upon entry into service and until the legal retirement age. The
Company is also required to maintain dormant accounts for former employees who have elected not to transfer plan
contributions to their new employer. In addition, Belgium Regulation currently provides for statutory minimum guaranteed
returns on employee and employer contributions up to a specified annual rate. The Company has taken actions to mitigate the
risk related to its post- retirement benefit plans through pension risk transfer transactions whereby the Company subscribes to
group insurance policies, which are funded by employee and employer premiums (contributions) determined at the beginning of
each plan year. Although under the majority of these group insurance policies the Company is relieved of a substantial portion of
its responsibility for the associated obligations, the Company ultimately remains responsible for paying benefits under the plans
in the event that the insurance company defaults on its obligations in future periods. Under the Company’ s group insurance
policies, the insurance company guarantees minimum statutory reserves, employee and employer contributions, and specified
annual rates of return. Combined employee and employer contributions are invested by the insurance company in Branch 21
investment funds in accordance with Belgium Regulation, which are mainly comprised of fixed income assets, which are
commingled with the plan assets of other group insurances for the purpose of providing guaranteed returns. The insurance
company has fiduciary responsibility for making investment decisions and there is no contractual requirement to legally separate
the plan assets by individual account or group policy. As a result of the foregoing, the Company has determined that the unit of
account is the insurance contract and therefore, on a plan- by- plan basis, recognizes the net funded status as either an asset
recorded within other non- current assets or a liability recorded within other non- current liabilities within the consolidated
balance sheets. A net liability is recorded to the extent that the benefit obligation exceeds the fair value of plan assets or a net
asset is recorded to the extent that the fair value of plan assets exceeds the benefit obligation. As of December 31, 2023 and
2622-, the Company maintained two dormant post- retirement benefit plans for former ROS employees who have chosen not to
transfer their contributions to a new employer as of the respective date. The Company’ s obligations as of December 31, 2023
under these plans were not significant individually or in the aggregate and, as such, are not included in the following tables. Page
S51+-During 2024, the Company sold all its ownership interest in ROS and as a result, the Company has no obligations
under these plans as of December 31, 2024. Refer to Note U — Joint Venture for additional information. The following
table provides a summary of the funded status of the Company’ s post- retirement benefit plans and the presentation of such
balances within the consolidated balance sheets: December 31, 2023 BDeeember-2024December 3 1, 2622Base-2023Base
PlanPerformance PlansBase PlanPerformance PlansProjected benefit obligations $ 6, 867 $ 3,233 $ 6, 649 $ 3, 077 $5;963-$2;
486-Fair value of plan assets6, 622 3, 050 6, 423 2, 903 5:-7952,352-Funded (underfunded) status $ ( 245) $ (183) $ (226) $
(174 ¥$-68)y$34-) Consolidated Balance Sheet line item amounts: Other non- current liabilities $ ( 245) $ (183) $ (226) $
(174 ¥$-468)-$434-) There were no projected benefit obligations included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 and2022-, respectively. Page 86 Funded Status The following table provides a
reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and net funded (unfunded) status of our qualified defined benefit pension plans
and our retiree medical and life insurance plans: Base PlanPerformance PlansChange in benefit obligationsBeginning balance as
of December 31,2022 $ 5, 963 $ 2, 486 Service cost328 449 Interest cost231 92 Employee contributions235 — Benefits paid
(155) — Actuarial (gain) loss (136) (32) Foreign currency translation183 82 Ending balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 6, 649 $
3,077 Service cost316 301 Interest cost248 110 Employee contributions259 — Benefits paid (76) — Actuarial (gain) loss
(84) (48) Foreign currency translation (445) (207) Ending balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 6, 867 $ 3, 233 Change in
plan assetsBeginning balance as of December 31, 2022 $ 5, 795 § 2, 352 Expected return on plan assets230 103 Employee
contributions245 — Employer contributions386 444 Benefits paid (155) — Actuarial gain (loss) (115) (65) Expenses paid (140)
(9) Foreign currency translation177 78 Beginning balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 6, 423 $ 2, 903 Expected return on
plan assets255 104 Employee contributions259 — Employer contributions463 291 Benefits paid (76) — Actuarial gain
(loss) (110) (47) Expenses paid (162) (6) Foreign currency translation (430) (195) Ending balance as of December 31, 2024
$ 6,622 $ 3, 050 Funded (underfunded) status as of December 31 2023 $ 6—42—3—(226) $ 2—993—(174) Funded (underfunded)
status as of December 31, 2022-2024 $-( 168-245 ) $-( 183 e H
74 Page 92-87 Income Statement Information The following table pr0V1de§ the components of net perlodlc beneﬁt cost and
other amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of operations during the periods presented: Year Ended-Deecember
EndedDecember 3 |, 2623 Fwo-MonthsEnded-Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622Base-2023Base PlanPerformance PlansBase
PlanPerformance PlansNet periodic benefit cost: Service cost $ 316 $ 301 § 328 $ 449 $43-$—Interest eest234-cost248 110
231 92 3544-Expected return on plan assets ( 255) (104) (230) (103 H344-) Amortization of net actuarial (gain) tess-loss26
(1) (22) 32 334-Net periodic benefit cost $ 335 $306 $ 307 $ 470 $4+-$4-Fair Value Measurements The benefit obligations




and assets of the Company’ s defined benefit pension plans are measured using actuarial valuations, which are derived based on
the terms of the insurance contract and other key assumptions provided for under Belgium Regulation. The assumptions made in
this analysis affect both the calculation of the benefit obligations as of the measurement date and the calculation of net periodic
pension costs in subsequent periods. When reassessing these assumptions, the Company considers past and current market
conditions and makes judgments about future market trends. The Company also considers factors such as the timing and
amounts of expected contributions to the plans and expected benefit payments to plan participants. The following disclosures
include information related to key assumptions used to determine the projected benefit obligation and plan assets, which drive
the net funded status recognized on the Company’ s consolidated balance sheets. Assumptions are reviewed at least annually
and adjusted as appropriate. The following tables provide the assumptions used to determine the fair value of projected benefit
obligations and the net periodic benefit cost, as they pertain to the Company’ s cash balance plans as of December 31, 2024 and
2023 and2622- December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 1, 2022Base-2023Base PlanPerformance PlansBase
PlanPerformance PlansDiscount rate3. 54 % 3. 01 %- 3. 28 % 3. 90 % 3. 45 %- 3. 67 %3-75%3-65" Expected return on
plan assets3. 54 % 3. 01 %- 3. 28 % 3. 90 % 3. 45 %- 3. 67 %3+7F5%3—65" Retirement age6565- 676565 statements— 67
For the calculation of the projected benefit obligation,all statutory minimum reserves are based on premiums paid by the
employee and employer,plus guaranteed returns provided for under Belgium Regulation.Under the terms of the insurance
contracts,all minimum reserves are provided 100 % coverage while the return on plan assets is guaranteed for an additional
amount plus opportunities for profit sharing as determined by the insurance entity. The difference between historical guaranteed
rates of return and the guarantee provided by the insurance entity plus any profit sharing allocated to the participant accounts
results in an unfunded or funded status that represents the Company’ s projected benefit obligation for the respective plans. The
amount of plan assets includes amounts contributed by the employee and employer and amounts earned from investing the
contributions, less benefits paid. In accordance with the Company’ s group insurance policies, contributions are invested in
commingled investment funds, consisting of underlying equity and fixed income securities, respectively. In accordance with
Belgium Regulation, a member of a supplementary pension plan whose employment contract comes to an end has the right to
transfer their vested reserves to the pension institution of their new employer, contingent upon certain conditions. Accordingly,
the best evidence of fair value for plan assets is the cash surrender value, which is classified as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The fair value of the insurance contracts was determined by the insurance company’ s valuation models and
represents the value the Company would receive upon surrender of these policies as of the measurement date. Page 93-88 The
following table presents the fair value of the plan assets, represented by the Company”’ s investment in insurance contracts as of
the respective dates: December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Base-2023Base PlanPerformance PlansBase
PlanPerformance PlansInsurance contracts at cash surrender value $ 6, 622 $ 3,050 $ 6, 423 $ 2, 903 $-5;795-$2,352-The
Company’ s exposure to actuarial gains or losses is limited due to the fact that the assumptions underlying the actuarial analysis,
including those presented in the table above, are provisioned for under Belgium Regulation. Similarly, the guarantees provided
by the insurance company are based on minimum statutory reserve requirements which results in the same discount rate used to
determine both the fair value of the projected benefit obligation as well as the expected (guaranteed) rate of return on plan
assets. Investment Policy The providers of the Company’ s group insurance policies have the fiduciary responsibility for making
investment decisions related to the assets of the Company’ s defined benefit pension plans. Investment objectives for the assets
of these plans are (1) to minimize the net present value of expected funding contributions; (2) to ensure there is a high
probability that each plan meets or exceeds our actuarial long- term rate of return assumptions; and (3) to diversify assets to
minimize the risk of large losses. The nature and duration of benefit obligations, along with assumptions concerning asset class
returns and return correlations, are considered when determining an appropriate asset allocation to achieve the investment
objectives. Investment policies and strategies governing the assets of the plans are designed to achieve investment objectives
within prudent risk parameters and in accordance with Belgium Regulations. Risk management practices include the use of
external investment managers; the maintenance of a portfolio diversified by asset class, investment approach and security
holdings; and the maintenance of sufficient liquidity to meet benefit obligations as they come due. Contributions and Estimated
Future Benefit Payments The required funding of our qualified defined benefit pension plans is determined in accordance with
Belgium Regulation. The following table presents contributions made by the employee and employer for the period presented as
well as the following year: Year Ended December 31, 2024Year 2023 Fwo-Menths-Ended December 31, 2022Centributions
2023Contributions by: Base PlanPerformance PlansBase PlanPerformance PlansEmployee $ 259 § — $ 245§ —$35$—
Empleyer386-- Employer463 291 386 444 63——Contributions expected to be made in 2624-2025 : Employee $ 269-263 $ —
251 Empteyerd453-Employerd470 —449 The following table provides the projected timing of payments for benefits earned to
date and benefits expected to be earned for future service by current active employees under our defined benefit plan: YearBase
PlanPerformance Plans2624-Plans2025 $ 92-85 § — 202573—2026459-2026452 — 2027 — — 2028424-2028411 —
2029552 620 Years %92-9—2030 %933—1—20341 783-3-371 2 , 730 Incentive Units 274-The-Company-has-three-equity—based
deseribed-betow—1he Company s former parent, AE Red Holdings, LLC (formerly known as

Redw1re Holdlngs LLC ) (“ Holdlngs ”) sadopted a written compensatory benefit plan (the “Class P Unit Incentive Plan ) to
provide incentives to existing or new employees, officers, managers, directors, or other service providers of the Company or its

sub51d1arles in the form ofﬂoldlngs Class P Unlts (“ Incentive Units ). -I-ﬂeen%rve—Uﬂtts—have—a—pafﬁetp&&eﬂ—t-hfeshe}d-e%+




amended ﬂ&e—@l&ss—P—U-mt—I-ﬂeeﬁt—rve—P-}aﬂ—se—t-}wt—the Tranche [and the Tranche 111 Ineentlve UIlltS became fully vested in 2021
,—upeﬂ—ﬂ&e—e}esmg-ef—t-he—Mefgeh Holdings also amended the Class P Unit Incentive Plan so that the Tranche II Incentive Units

would vest on any liquidation event, as defined in the Class P Unit Incentive Page 89 Plan, rather than only upon consummation
of the sale of Holdmés sub]ect to the market- based condition stlpulated in the Class P Unit Incentive Plan prlOI to its

ﬁvel—ve—meﬁt-hs—ffeﬁﬁhe—med-rﬁe&ﬁefrd&te—All compensatlon expense fe}&ted-te—l-ﬂeeﬂt-rve—Hﬂ-rts—W'ls recoomzed durln}c 2021 dnd
2022 —As-and as of December 31, 2023-2024 , Tranches [ and I1I were fully vested and swhite-Tranche II is still subject to the
market- based vesting condition. Shares of the Company’ s stock reserved for grants under the 2021 Omnibus Incentive
Plan (the “ Plan ”) were 11, 786, 489 and 10, 475, 566 as of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.
Incentive stock options may only be granted to employees and officers employed by the Company. The Plan appoints the
Board, the Compensation Committee or such other committee consisting of two or more individuals (collectively, the «
Committee ) appointed by the Board to administer the Plan. Stock Options The Company’ s Plan authorizes the grant of
stock options (incentive and non- qualified) to purchase shares of the Company’ s common stock with a contractual term of 10
years. The options vest over a three- year term as follows: 33. 3 % on the first anniversary of the grant date, 33. 3 % on the
second anniversary of the grant date, and 33. 4 % on the third anniversary of the grant date. Vesting is contingent upon
continued employment or service to the Company; both the vested and unvested portion of an option will be immediately
forfeited and canceled if employment or service ceases to the Company. The Company recognizes equity- based compensation
expense for the options equal to the fair value of the awards on a straight- line basis over the requisite service period and
recognizes forfeitures as they occur. Page-95-The fair value of options granted under the Plan #as-is estimated on the grant date

under the Black- Scholes OPM using-the-foHowing-assumptions:2022-GrantsExpeeted-. The Company did not grant any
eption-options feﬂﬁeunder the Plan durmg the years )—6E—xpeefed—ve-}&ﬁ-l-&y59—ended December 31 2024 and 2023,
respectively . P e

presents the aetl\flty of stock optlons under the Plan -Sha-fesWetg-hted—Number 0f OptlonsWelghted Average Grant Date Fair
V'llue per ShareWeléhted Avemge Exe1c1se Price per ShareWeléhted Avemge Remaining Contractudl Term (Years)

-E*ptfed—GOExplred (13, ()()1) 28 9. 86 Forfelted (37 999) 2 81 7 74 Outstanding as of December 31, 20232, 102, 591 § 2. 69
$7.20 7. 42-As-42Exercised (188, 751) 1. 87 8. 24 Expired (105, 568) 1. 77 9. 99 Forfeited (65, 330) 2 43 5. 98 Outstanding
as of December 31, 20241, 742,942 $2. 64 $ 6. 96 7. 04 As of December 31, 2623-2024 , the total unrecognized compensation
cost related to unvested stock options granted under the Plan was $ 4+-0 . 6-2 million and is expected to be recognized over a
weighted- average period of -0 . 2-5 years. As of December 31, 2023-2024 , there were 1, 485487 , 319468 stock options that
were vested and exercisable. Performance- based Restricted Stock Units The Plan authorizes the grant of performance- based
restricted stock units (“ PSUs ). The PSUs generally vest upon completion of a three- year period (* performanee-Performance
pertod-Period ). The number of shares, if any, that are ultimately awarded is contingent upon the Company’ s closing price per
share at the end of the perfermanee-Performance period-Period and continued employment or service to the Company. The
performance share payout is based on a market condition, and as such, the awards are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation
model on the grant date (~medel>-. The model generates the fair value of the award at the grant date, which is then
recognized as expense on a straight- line basis over the vesting period. The Company recognizes forfeitures as they occur. On
July 3-11 , 2623-2024 andFualy3+-2623-, the Company granted 764821 , 897-365 shares and-5-600-shares;respeetively;of
PSUs to certain officers, managers and other eligible employees pursuant to the Plan. The PSU award allows the grantee to earn
between 0 % and 200 % of the award based on the Company’ s closing price per share at December 31, 2025. The grant date
fair value of these awards was $ 3-12 . +5-66 per share. Page 90 The fair value of PSUs granted under the Plan was estimated on
the grant date using the Monte Carlo simulation model with the following assumptions: 2623-2024 Grants2023



GrantsValuation date stock price $ 7.45 $ 2. 63 Remaining term of performance peri0d2. 47 years2. 49 yearsExpected
volatilityStvolatility71 . 50 % 81 . 00 % Risk- free rate of return4 . 34 % 4 . 70 % Expected annual dividend yield — % — %
Page 96 As of December 31,...... $ 2. 63 per share. The table below presents the activity of performance- based restricted stock
units under the Plan: Restrieted-Number of SharesWeighted-PSUsWeighted - Average Grant Date Fair Value per
ShareWeighted- Average Remaining Contractual Term (in Years) Aggregate Intrinsic Walaebnvested-ValueOQutstanding as of
December 31, 262442023706 , 097 H7-556-5 +4-3.152.0 $ 2, 012 Granted821 36512 . 66 +8-$1H-Vested — —
Forfeited (67 , 500) 596-GrantecH5710;-596-3. 50 Outstanding 27-Vested-(694;153)-9-9+Feorfeited(45+-6 15881+ YUnvested
as of December 31, 20222-20241 , 282459 , 778962 §$ 8. 48 1. 6 -3014-3-5 424 , 031 As 526-Grantedd; 846, H2 262 Vested
999,810y 644 Forfeited(297,865)- 633 Unvestedas-of December 31, 26232851, 215-$3-891-2 $- 8,126 As-of December
342623-2024 , total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested PSUs restrieted-stoekanits-gcranted under the Plan was
$ 89 .82 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted- average period of 1. 6-Page 96 As of December
31,2023,total unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested PSUs granted under the Plan was $ 1.8 million and is
expected to be recognized over a weighted- average period of 2.0 ycars .The Company had 706,097 PSUs outstanding as
of December 31,2023.There were no forfeitures related to PSUs during the year ended December 31,2023 .Restricted stock
units awarded under the Plan follow the same vesting conditions as the options described above and are generally subject to
forfeiture in the event of termination of employment prior to vesting dates.The Company recognizes equity- based compensation
expense for the restricted stock units equal to the fair value of the awards on a straight- line basis over the requisite service
period and recognizes forfeitures as they occur.On May 23-25 , 2624-2023 ,the Company granted +25-20S , 526-765 restricted
stock units of the Company’ s common stock to non- employee directors.The restricted stock units vest on the one year
anniversary effrom the grant date,subject to the director’ s continued service on the Board. The weighted average grant date fair
value of these awards was $ 4-2 . 78-43 per share.On July H-3 | 2624-2023 and-Atgust30;2024- the Company granted 958-1 ,
640 635-and148-, +48-347 restricted stock units srespeetively-to certain officers,managers and other eligible employees with-a
.The restricted stock units follow the same vestlng conditions as the optlons descrlbed above The grant date 1&11 \% aluc 01

these awards was % -7—2 63 45—aﬂd—$-6—7§—p01 share —fespeet—l-ve}y—

expected to be recognlzed over a welghted- average perlod of 1. 7 years. On September 28 2021 the Company s Board
adopted the Redwire Corporation 2021 ESPP which authorizes the grant of rights to purchase common stock of the
Company to employees, officers and directors (if they are otherwise employees) of the Company. Shares of the Company’
s stock reserved for grants under the ESPP were 2, 680, 999 and 2, 025, 537 as of December 31, 2024 and December 31,
2023, respectively. The ESPP appoints the Compensation Committee to administer the ESPP. Under the ESPP, there is
an enrollment period for each offering, when each eligible employee for that offering period has the option to enroll for
that offering period, which allows the eligible employee to purchase shares of the Company’ s common stock at the end
of the offering period. Each offering period under the ESPP is generally for five months, which can be modified from
time to time. Subject to limitations, each participant will be permitted to purchase a number of shares determined by
dividing the employee’ s accumulated payroll deductions for the offering period by the applicable purchase price, which
is equal to 85 % of the fair market value of the Company’ s common stock at the beginning or end of each offering
period, whichever is less. A participant must designate in the enrollment package the percentage (if any) up to 15 % of
compensation to be deducted during that offering period for the purchase of stock under the ESPP, subject to certain
limitations. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had two completed and no active offering period. The ESPP is
considered a compensatory plan with the related compensation cost expensed over the five month offering period. The
Company utilizes the Black- Scholes OPM to compute the fair market value of shares under the ESPP for each offering
period. As of December 31, 2024, 276, 538 shares had been purchased and 2, 404, 461 shares were available for future
sales under the ESPP. Page 9792 The table below presents the equity- based compensation expense recorded for the following
periods: Year EndedDecember 31, 2623Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2622€0s5t2023Cost of salestreentive-tnits-saleSESPP §
237 $ — $48+-Stock eptiensHF-options15 63-117 Restricted stock waits2-unitsl , 903 2 | 540 2,386-Performance- based
restricted stock wnttst3-units43 —13 Total cost of sales § 2, 676-198 § 2, 6—39—670 Selling, general and administrative
expensesineentiveunits-expensesESPP § 142 § — $2,171-Stock options1, 578155 1, 578 Restricted stock units3-units5 , 117
3, 982 4;46%-Performance- based restricted stock antts428—- units2 —, 714 428 Total selling, general and administrative
L\pLHSLS % 9 128 $ 5, 988 -$-8—1§-6—T01d qullly based LOlllanSdllOH L\pLHSL % 11, 326 $38, 658 $—1—9—7~86—’Phe—t&b-}e-be}ew




% g g v as-of Deeember312022Page-99-The table below
presents a reconciliation of the basic and diluted net income (loss) per share that were computed for the following periods: Year
Ended December 31, 2023Deeember-2024December 3 |, 2022Numerator-2023Numerator : Net income (loss) attributable to
Redwire Corporation $ ( 114, 315) $ (27, 263 3$-36,617) Less: dividends on Convertible Preferred Steek28-Stock41, 052 20
, 021 :766-Net income (loss) available to common shareholders $ ( 155, 367) $ (47, 284 ¥$-(32,377) Denominator:
Weighted- average common shares outstanding: Basic and dilutedé4-diluted66 , 146, 155 64 , 654, 153 63;3244+6-Net
income (loss) per common share: Basic and diluted $ (2. 35) $ (0. 73 ¥$2-99-) Basic and diluted net income (loss) per
common share are calculated by dividing net income (loss) available to common shareholders (the numerator) by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding (the denominator) during the period. Net income (loss) available to common
shareholders (the numerator) is calculated by deducting both dividends declared and accumulated, regardless of the form of
payment, during the period from Net income (loss) attributable to Redwire Corporation as presented on the consolidated
statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Basic net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing
net income (loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted- average number of common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted- average number of common shares and common equivalent shares outstanding for the periods
presented using the treasury- stock method or, for participating securities, the if- converted method or two- class method,
whichever is more dilutive. Common equivalent shares outstanding includes the dilutive effects from the assumed issuance,
exercise or conversion of warrants, equity- based awards, and the Convertible Preferred Stock, except when antidilutive. Page
93 Because the Company had a net loss for all periods presented, the Company did not have any dilutive securities and / or other
contracts that could, potentially, be exercised or converted into shares of common stock and then share in the earnings of the
Company. As a result, diluted net income (loss) per common share is the same as basic net income (loss) per common share for
the periods presented. Please refer to Note D — Fair Value of Financial Instruments , Note L — Warrants , Note O — Convertible



Preferred Stock, and Note S — Equity- Based Compensation for additional information on the Company’ s warrants, Convertible
Preferred Stock, and equity- based compensation awards, respectively. The Company, through its wholly- owned subsidiary,
Space NV, partietpates-participated in a joint venture operation with SES Techcom S. A. (*“ Techcom ) for the purpose of
performing maintenance and operations services (“ M & O Services ) for the European Space Agency (“ ESA ™), among
others. Pursuant to a shareholders agreement dated June 28, 2007, this joint venture was created under the form of two
companies: Redu Space Service SA / NV (“ RSS ”) and Redu Operation Services SA / NV (“ ROS ”) , both of which are
organized under Belgian law. Total authorized share capital for RSS and ROS was € 250 thousand. The Company kas-had an
ownership interest in RSS and ROS of 48 % and 52 %, respectively, while Techcom kas-had ownership interests in RSS and
ROS of 52 % and 48 %, respectively. Voting rights, board representation and distribution of residual returns are proportionate to
these equity interests. M & O Services provided under the joint venture include development, operation and maintenance of
satellite communication systems and ground facilities as well as in- orbit testing and educational support services on delivered
infrastructure. These services are jointly performed with ROS serving as a subcontractor to RSS. Pursuant to an agreement dated
April 1, 2022 (the “ Transfer Agreement ), all M & O activities were transferred from ROS to RSS, including personnel, and

the subcontractor relatlonihlp between ROS and RSS was terminated on the same date. -P&ge—l—@@—"Phe—aeqmsﬁeﬁ—ef—Spaee—N%ﬁ

joint venture automatlcally terﬂa-rﬂates—termmated on the earher of: (1) the explratlon ofthe M & O Serv1ce agreement Wlth
ESA, unless other business is conducted by either company at the time of expiration, (ii) complete withdrawal of ownership
interests held by Space NV or Techcom, or (iii) unanimous consent by the sharcholders that both RSS and ROS are dissolved. In
May 2024, Space NV (“ seller ) and Techcom (“ purchaser ”) entered into a share purchase agreement (the “ SPA
Agreement ), whereby the seller sold to the purchaser all the shares owned by the seller in both ROS and RSS for total
cash consideration of $ 4. 9 million (€ 4. S million), effectuating a complete withdrawal of ownership interests held by
Space NV, and terminating the joint ventures, resulting in an aggregate gain on the sale of joint ventures of $ 1. 3
million. As of June 30, 2024, the Company had no remaining ownership interest in ROS and RSS. As a result of the sale,
the Company reclassified $ 0. 2 million out of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) related to the accumulated
translation adjustments of ROS and RSS. The reclassified accumulated translation adjustments are included in other
(income) expense, net on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Prior to the SPA
Agreement, the Company exhibits-had significant influence over the joint venture operations and reeetves-received a
management fee in exchange for administrative services. Both RSS and ROS are-were accounted for under the VIE model due
to insufficient equity investment at risk to finance operations without subordinated financial support. Additional information
with regard to these entities is provided below. Consolidated Variable Interest Entity ROS was formed with an initial issued
share capital of € 0. 1 million representing 1, 000 shares of € 100 par value each. The shares were fully paid upon incorporation
with Space NV and Techcom owning 52 % and 48 %, respectlvely ROS’ s board of dll‘eCtON 1S compoged of ﬁve membem
elected for renewable terms of 2 years. Prlor As-prev presentatton-tnder-the A S-prop
to the SPA Agreement equity-ownership-with h as -
Company evaluated its interests in the Jomt Venture and determlned that Space NV had a Varlable interest in ROS as of
December 31, 2023 ard-2622-. Due to their power to direct activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic
performance, Space NV was determined to be the primary beneficiary and, therefore, consolidated ROS as of December 31,
2023 and2022- Total assets and total liabilities for ROS were $ 0. 5 million and $ 0. 1 million, respectively, as of December 31,
2023 . As a result of the SPA Agreement , the Company evaluated its interests in the joint venture and determined that
Space NV no longer had a variable interest in ROS. Therefore, the Company deconsolidated ROS as of June 30, 2024,
resulting in a $ 0 +—-6-mithenand-$3- | million gain , respeetively-which is included in other (income) expense , as-net on
the consolidated statements of Beeember3+,2622-operations and comprehensive income (loss) . Net income from ROS for
the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-was de minimis fer-diselosure-. Page 94 Nonconsolidated Variable
Interest Entity RSS was adse-formed with an initial issued share capital of € 0. 1 million representing 1, 000 shares of € 100 par
value each. The shares were fully paid upon incorporation with Techcom and Space NV owning 52 % and 48 %, respectively.
RSS’ s board of dll‘eCtON is compoged of ﬁve membem elected for renewable terms of 2 years. Prior As-previoustynoted;

6 rate-t0 the SPA Agreement equtty-ownership-with-Teecheomholdinga
ﬂ‘rajeﬂt-y—as-e-PBeeem-beH-l— the%@%—&ﬂd—%@%—Z—’Phe—(ompany determined that Space NV was not the primary beneficiary of
RSS due to Techcom having the power to direct the activities of the VIE that most significantly impact its economic
performance. As a result of having ownership greater than 20 % but less than 50 % and holding two of five board seats, Space
NV has-had the ability to exercise significant influence over the entity. Accordingly, RSS s-was accounted for as an equity
method investment. Net income (loss) from RSS was de minimis for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company
recognized a loss from RSS of $ 0. 2 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 and-reminal-. Net income (loss) from RSS
during-is included in the-other yearended-Deeember3+-(income) expense . net on the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income (loss). As a result of the SPA Agreement, the Company determined it no longer had a
variable interest in RSS. Therefore, the Company derecognized the carrying value of the equity method investment as of
June 30, 2622-2024 , resulting in a gain of $ 1. 2 million . which is included in other (income) expense, net on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The carrying value of the equity method investment
was $ 3. 6 million ard-$3—3-milhenas of December 31, 2023 and2022respeetively-. A customer of the Company, Related
Party A, was a related party as Kirk Konert, a member of the Company’ s Board, also serves on the board of directors for
the customer effective as of the second quarter of 2022. Peter Cannito, the Company’ s Chairman ané-, CEO ;-and President

: , also serve-served on the board of directors for the customer from effeetive-as
of-the iecond quarter of 2022 through the fourth quarter of 2024 . A customer of the Company, Related Party B, was a related




party as AEI acquired a majority interest in the customer during the fourth quarter of 2022 and Kirk Konert, a member of the
Company’ s Board, also serves on the board of directors for this customer. Page+6+-The table below presents details of the
Company’ s related party transactions included on the consolidated balance sheets and the consolidated statements of operations
and comprehensive income (loss) for the following periods: As ofDecember 31, 2023Beeember-2024December 3 1,
2022Aeeounts-2023Accounts receivable: Related Party A § —40 $ — Related Party B4-B748 4, 849 258-$ 788 §$ 4, 849 $258
Y ear EndedReventies-EndedDecember 31, 2024December 31, 2023Revenues : Beeember3+2023Deeember31+2022Related
---- Related Party A $ 1,428 $ 955 $4;-962-Related Party B8-B9, 072 8 , 250 F-$ 10 , 665-500 $ 9, 205 $9;-627In the normal
course of business, the Company participates in related party transactions with certain vendors and customers where AEI
maintains a significant ownership interest and / or can exhibit significant influence on the operations of such parties. For the
years— year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and-2022-, respectively , transactions with olhu companies in AEI’

investment portfolio, not separately disclosed, did not have a material impact on the Company’ s consolidated f manudl
statements. Please refer to Note O — Convertible Preferred Stock, for related party transactions associated with the Company’ s
Convertible Preferred Stock. Page 95 The Company operates in one operating segment and one reportable segment, space
infrastructure. The space infrastructure segment develops and provides core space infrastructure offerings including
technologies and production capability for avionics and sensors; power generation; structures and mechanisms; radio
frequency systems; platforms, payloads and missions; and microgravity payloads. The accounting policies of the space
infrastructure segment are the same as those described in the summary of accounting policies. The CODM assesses
performance and decides how to allocate resources based on consolidated net income (loss) that is also reported on the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as consolidated net income (loss). The measure of
segment assets is reported on the consolidated balance sheets as total consolidated assets. The CODM also uses
consolidated gross profit to evaluate income generated from segment assets (return on assets) in deciding whether to
reinvest profits into the space infrastructure segment or into other parts of the entity, such as for acquisitions.
Consolidated gross profit is reported on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) as
gross profit. Consolidated net income (loss) and gross profit are used to monitor budget versus actual results. The
monitoring of budgeted versus actual results is used in assessing performance of the segment and in establishing
management’ s compensation. All expense categories on the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income (loss) are significant and there are no other significant segment expenses that would require disclosure or are
regularly provided to the CODM. Assets provided to the CODM are consistent with those reported on the consolidated
balance sheets with particular emphasis on the Company’ s available liquidity, including its cash, cash equivalents and
restricted cash. The Company has no intra- segment sales or transfers as it operates in one operating segment and one
reportable segment. Information evaluated---- related to subseguentevents-after-the eonselidated-Company’ s products and
services and geographical distribution of revenues is disclosed in Note Q — Revenues. On January 20, 2025, the Company
entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the “ Merger Agreement ”’) with Edge Autonomy Ultimate Holdings, LP,
a Delaware limited partnership (“ Seller ”’), Edge Autonomy Intermediate Holdings, LL.C, a Delaware limited liability
company (together with its subsidiaries, “ Edge Autonomy ), Echelon Merger Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation and a
direct wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company and Echelon Purchaser, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and
a direct wholly- owned subsidiary of the Company, pursuant to which the Company will, via the mergers set forth in the
Merger Agreement (the “ Mergers ), acquire Edge Autonomy, a leading provider of field- proven uncrewed airborne
system (“ UAS ”) technology. The aggregate purchase price (the “ Closing Purchase Price ”’) payable by Redwire at the
closing of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement (the “ Closing ”) is $ 925 million, subject to
customary working capital, cash and debt adjustments. The Closing Purchase Price would be paid using $ 150 million in
cash and $ 775 million in shares of common stock, par value $ 0. 0001, of the Company (“ Redwire Common Shares ”),
based on the volume- weighted average trading price on the New York Stock Exchange (“ NYSE ”) for the 30 trading
days ending on January 17, 2025 of $ 15. 07 (the “ Issuance Price ). The Company may finance the cash portion of the
Closing Purchase Price, at its option, with cash on its balance sheet , availability under its existing credit facility, proceeds
from new debt facilities and / or the proceeds of a new equity offering. If a portion of the proceeds of such debt and / or
new equity offering, along with Edge Autonomy’ s available cash, would also be utilized to repay Edge Autonomy’ s
outstanding indebtedness and to fund transaction expenses, such amount utilized would reduce the Closing Purchase
Price. If the Company determines, at its option, to undertake a new equity offering of Redwire Common Shares
consummated prior to Closing (the “ Equity Financing ”), the amount of cash to be paid at Closing would be increased
and the equity consideration decreased by an equal amount if the net proceeds of any Equity Financing exceed certain
amounts. In addition, if the Company elects to raise cash in an Equity Financing, the Issuance Price would be increased
or decreased depending on the per share price of such Equity Financing. The issuance of the Redwire Common Shares to
the Seller at the Closing would be made in reliance on an exemption from the registration provisions of the Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, set forth in Section 4 (a) (2) thereof, relating to sales by an issuer not involving a public offering.
The obligations of each of the parties are subject to specified conditions, including, among other things: (i) receipt of the
approval from the Company’ s stockholders and (ii) the receipt of all required antitrust and foreign investment
approvals and clearances, or, where applicable, the expiration or termination of waiting periods. The Merger Agreement
contains termination rights for each of the Company and Seller, including in the event that (i) the Closing has not
occurred by July 21, 2025 (the “ Outside Date ) (provided, that the Outside Date may be extended to October 17, 2025
in the event that the only remaining condition to Closing is the receipt of all required antitrust and foreign investment
approvals and clearances, or, where applicable, the expiration or termination of waiting periods) ; or (ii) the Company’ s
stockholders do not approve the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Page 96 Subsequent to December



: : a &t ate-, 5, 696, 361 public warrants have been exercised
and converted into 5 696, 361 shares of Company s common stock at t-hefe——— the exercise price of $ 11. 50 per share for
proceeds of $ 65. S million. Additionally, 4, 631, 799 privates warrants were no-additional-subsequentevents-that required
diselosure-exercised, at the holders option, on a cashless basis for 2, 293, 739 shares of the Company’ s common stock .
Page102-On February 20, 2025, the Company directed its warrant agent to deliver a notice of redemption to each
registered holder of the outstanding public warrants in accordance with the terms under the warrant agreement as
further described in Note L — Warrants. [tem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and
Financial Disclosures Item 9A. Controls and Procedures Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures Our management,
with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in reports that we
file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC' s rules and forms, including ensuring that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management (including the principal executive officer and principal financial officer) as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Based on such evaluation, our principal executive officer and our principal
financial officer have concluded that such disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2023-2024
due to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below. Management’ s Report on Internal
Control Over Financial Reporting Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f) under the Exchange Act). Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the U. S. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, conducted an
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2623-2024 . This assessment
was based on the criteria set forth by the Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“ COSO 7). Based on this assessment, management concluded that our
internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of December 31, 2023-2024 because of the material weaknesses
described below. In accordance with Section 103 of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups (“ JOBS ) Act, the Company is not
required to comply with the requirement to provide an auditor’ s report on Internal Controls over Financial Reporting under
Section 404 (b) of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act for as long as it qualifies as an emerging growth company. Page 97 Changes
Remeé&ﬁeﬂ—ef—Ma’feﬂa-l—\Veakﬁesses—m lnternal Control over Fmancml Reportmo Maﬁagefﬂeﬁt—pfevteﬁs}yﬂéeﬁt-rﬁed—eeﬁHﬂ

changes in internal contlol over financial reporting durln}c the three months ended December 31, %92—3—2024 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Item 9B. Other Information
During the three months ended December 31, 2623-2024 , no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “ Rule
10b5- 1 Trading Arrangement ” or a “ Non- Rule 10b5- 1 Trading Arrangement ” as each term is defined in Item 408 of



Regulation S- K. Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections Part III Item 10. Directors,
Executive Officers and Corporate Governance The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement
for the Company’ s 2624-2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the headings ““ Board of Directors and Corporate
Governance ”, “ Proposal 1 — Election of Directors ”” and “ Executive Officers ”, and is incorporated herein by reference. Item
11. Executive Compensation The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for the Company’ s
2624-2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the heading ““ Executive and Director Compensation ”” and is incorporated
herein by reference. Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owner and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters Equity Compensation Plan Information The following table sets forth information regarding the Company’ s equity
compensation plans as of December 31, 2623-2024 : Plan CategoryNumber of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights (i) Weighted- Average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options, Warrants and Rights
(iii) Number of Securities Remaining Available for Future Issuances Under Equity Compensation Plans (Excluding Securities
Reflecting in First Column) Equity Compensation Plans Approved by Security Holders (i) 5, 659-644 , 993-875 $ 76 . 26-96 4,
401-143 | 167577 Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by Security Holders — — — Total5, 659-644 , 993-875 $ 7-6 . 20
96 4, 40+143 , +67-577 (i) Includes the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (“ the Plan ) and the Redwire
Corporation 2021 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ ESPP ). As of December 31, 2622-2024 , the number of shares
reserved for issuance under the Plan and the 2021 ESPP were +6-11 , 475-786 , 566-489 shares and 2, 625680 , 537999 shares,
respectively. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the Plan automatically increases each January st prior to the
termination of the plan, in an amount equal to the lesser of 2 % of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on
December 3 1st of the preceding calendar year or such lesser number of shares as determined by the Board. The total number of
shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP automatically increases for a period of up to ten years, which period began on
January 1, 2022, in an amount equal to the lesser of 1 % of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding on
December 3 1st of the preceding calendar year, or such lesser number of shares as determined by the Board; provided, however,
no more than 8, 000, 000 shares of common stock may be issued in total under the plan. (ii) Includes 2, 85+441 , 245-971
restricted stock units (“ RSUs ), 706-1 , 897459, 962 performance- based restricted stock units (“ PSUs ), and options to
purchase 2-1 , +92-742 , 554942 shares of common stock, each granted and outstanding under the Plan. (iii) Excludes restricted
stock units, which have no exercise price. The remaining information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy
Statement for the Company’ s 2624-2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the heading *“ Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management ” and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related
Transactions, and Director Independence The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for the
Company’ s 2624-2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the headings “ Certain Relationships and Related Party
Transactions ” and “ Board of Directors and Corporate Governance ”, and is incorporated herein by reference. Item 14. Principal
Accounting Fees and Services The information required by this item will be contained in our Proxy Statement for the Company’
s 2624-2025 Annual Meeting of Shareholders under the heading “ Proposal 2 — Ratification of Appointment of Independent
Registered Public Accounting Firm ” and is incorporated herein by reference. PART IV Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement
Schedules The following documents are filed as a part of this Form 10- K: (a) (1) All Financial Statements Index to Financial
Statements PageConsolidated Balance Sheets56Censolidated-SheetsS4Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss) 58Censetidated-5S6Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficit) $9Censetidated
57Consolidated Statements of Cash Fews60Netes-Flows58Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementsé+Statements59 (a)
(2) Financial Statement Schedules None. (a) (3) Exhibits. The following exhibits are filed as part of or incorporated by reference
into this Form 10- K: ExhibitNumberDescription2. 1 + Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and
among Genesis Park Acquisition Corp., Shepard Merger Sub Corporation, Cosmos Intermediate, LLC and Redwire, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Annex A to the proxy statement / prospectus filed by Genesis Park Acquisition Corp. on July 6,
2021). 2. 2 + Agreement relating to the sale and purchase of the whole of the issued share capital of QinetiQ Space NV, dated
October 3, 2022, between the Vendors party thereto, Redwire Space Europe, LLC and AE Industrial Partners Fund II, LP
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on October 4, 2022 ). 2. 3
1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 20, 2025, by and among Redwire Corporation, Edge Autonomy
Ultimate Holdings, LP, Edge Autonomy Intermediate Holdings, LLC, Echelon Merger Sub, Inc., and Echelon
Purchaser, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant
on January 21, 2025 ). 3. 1Certificate of Incorporation of Redwire Corporation, filed with the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware on September 2, 2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant' s Current Report on Form 8- K filed
on September 10, 2021). 3. 2Bylaws of Redwire Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 2 to the Registrant' s
Current Report on Form 8- K filed on September 10, 2021). 3. 3Certificate of Designation of Series A Convertible Preferred
Stock of Redwire Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed
on November 2, 2022). 3-ExhibitNumberDescription3 . 4Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock of Redwire Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Registrant' s Current
Report on Form 8- K filed on January 9, 2023). 3. 5Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Designation of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock of Redwire Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by the registrant on November 1, 2023). 4. 1Description of the Registrant’ s securities (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4. 1 to the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on April 11, 2022). 4. 2Specimen Warrant Certificate
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S- 1 filed by the Registrant on September 25,
2020). 4. 3Warrant Agreement, dated as of November 23, 2020, between Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company and
Genesis Park Acquisition Corp. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the
Registrant on November 27, 2020). 10. 1Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of March 25, 2021, by and among Genesis Park



Acquisition Corp., Redwire, LLC, Genesis Park Holdings, Genesis Park II LP and Jefferies LLC (incorporated by reference to
Annex H to the proxy statement / prospectus filed by Genesis Park Acquisition Corp. on July 6, 2021). 10. 2 Form of Director
and Officer Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form
8- K filed on September 10, 2021). 10. 3 Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Form S- 8 filed on November 1, 2021). 10. 4 Redwire Corporation 2021 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Registrant’ s Form S- 8 filed on November 1, 2021).
ExhibitNumberDeseripttont0-10 . 5 First Amendment to the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10. 9 to the Registrant’ s Form 8- K filed on September 10, 2021). 10. 6 Form of Restricted Stock Unit
Award Agreement (Non- Employee Director) under the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 10 to the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 11, 2022). 10. 7 Form
of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Employee) under the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 11 to the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on April 11, 2022). 10. 8
Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Award Agreement under the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 12 to the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on April 11, 2022). 10.
9Credit Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2020, by and among Cosmos Finance, LLC, Cosmos Acquisition, LLC, the other
Borrowers, Guarantors and Lenders (as defined therein) from time to time parties thereto, Adams Street Credit Advisors LP, as
administrative agent and collateral agent and Adams Street Credit Advisors LP, as sole lead arranger and sole bookrunner
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 13 to the Registrant’ s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed on April 11, 2022). 10.
10First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 17, 2021, by and among Cosmos Acquisition, LLC, Cosmos
Finance, LLC, the other Borrowers, Guarantors and Lenders (as defined therein) from time to time parties thereto, Adams Street
Credit Advisors LP, as administrative agent and collateral agent and the First Amendment Term Lenders (as defined therein)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 14 to the Registrant” s Annual Report on Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 11,
2022). 10. 11Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of September 2, 2021, by and among Redwire Holdings, LLC,
formerly known as Cosmos Acquisition, LLC, Redwire Intermediate Holdings, LLC, formerly known as Cosmos Finance, LLC,
the other Borrowers, Guarantors and Lenders (as defined therein) from time to time parties thereto and Adams Street Credit
Advisors LP, as administrative agent and collateral agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 15 to the Registrant’ s
Annual Report on Form 10- K filed with the SEC on April 11, 2022). 10. 12Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of
March 25, 2022, by and between Redwire Holdings, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Guarantors party thereto,
Adams Street Credit Advisors, LP, as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent and each lender party thereto (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Registrant’ s Current Report on Form 8- K filed on March 30, 2022. 10. 13 Offer Letter,
dated as of March 11, 2020, by and between Cosmos Parent, LLC and Peter Cannito (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.
25 to the proxy statement / prospectus filed by Genesis Park Acquisition Corp. on July 6, 2021).. 10. 14Common Stock Purchase
Agreement, dated April 14, 2022, by and between Redwire Corporation and B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on April 14, 2022). 10. 15Registration
Rights Agreement, dated April 14, 2022, by and between Redwire Corporation and B. Riley Principal Capital, LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on April 14, 2022). 10. 16
Employment Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2022, by and between Redwire Corporation and Jonathan E. Baliff (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on June 1, 2022). 10. 17Fourth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of August 8, 2022, by and between Redwire Holdings, LLC, the other Borrowers
party thereto, the Guarantors party thereto, Adams Street Credit Advisors, LP, as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent
and each lender party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the
Registrant on August 12, 2022). +6-ExhibitNumberDescription10 . 18 [nvestment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2022,
by and between Redwire Corporation and AE Industrial Partners Fund II, LP and AE Industrial Partners Structured Solutions I,
L. P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on November 2,
2022). 10. 19 Investment Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2022, by and between Redwire Corporation and BCC Redwire
Aggregator, L. P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on
November 2, 2022). 10. 20Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2022, by and between Redwire Corporation
and BCC Redwire Aggregator, L. P., AE Industrial Partners, Fund I LP and AE Industrial Partners Structured Solutions I, L. P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 4 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on November 2, 2022).
10. 21Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2022, by and between Redwire Holdings, LLC, Redwire
Intermediate Holdings, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the other Guarantors party thereto, Adams Street Credit
Advisors, LP, as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent and each lender party thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the Registrant on November 2, 2022). 10. 22-Employment-22Sixth
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of June 22-23 | 2626-2023 by and between CeosmosAeguisitiorrRedwire
Holdings , LL.C, Redwire Intermediate Holdings, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the other Guarantors party
thereto, Adams Street Credit Advisors, LP, as Administrative Agent and Nathan-Okenel-as Collateral Agent and each
lender party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. | to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by the registrant
on June 23, 2023). 10. 23 Form of Time- Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Employee) under the Redwire
Corporation 2021 Omnibus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed by
the Registrant on MaytH-August 9 , 2023). 10. 23Sixth-24 Form of Performance- Based Restricted Stock Unit Award
Agreement (Employee) under the Redwire Corporation 2021 Omnibus Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 3
to the Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q filed by the Registrant on August 9, 2023). 10. 25Seventh Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of Jane23-December 22 , 2023 , by and between-among Recdwirc Heldings; EEC; RedwireIntermediate



Holdings, LLC, the other Borrowers party thereto, the Guarantors party thereto, Adams Street Credit Advisors, LP, as
Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent and each lender party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1
to the Current Report on Form 10- K filed by the registrant on December 27, 2023). 10. 26Eighth Amendment to Credit
Agreement, dated as of June 18, 2024, by and among Redwire Holdings, LL.C, the other Borrowers party thereto, the
Guarantors party thereto, Adams Street Credit Advisors, LP, as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent and each lender
party thereto (1ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 1 to the Current RepOIt on F01m 8- K filed by the reglstmnt on June 23-20

t 0 hibi b iptt venth Amendment to (Iedlt A(neement dated as
of Beeeﬂaber%%August 28, %92—3—2024 by and among Red\x /ire Holdmgs LLC the other Borrowers party thereto, the
Guarantors party thereto, Adams Street Credit Advisors, LP, as Administrative Agent and as Collateral Agent and each lender
party thereto —+6ketter-fromPrieewaterhouseCoopersEERdatedJune26,2623-(incorporated by reference to Exhibit +6-10 .
to the Registrant™s-Current Report on Form 8- K filed with-by the SE€Sregistrant on June-August 29, 2024). 10. 28Voting
Agreement, dated January 20, 2623-2025 , by and among Redwire Corporation, AE Red Holdings, LL.C, AE Industrial
Partners Fund II GP, LP, AeroEquity GP, LLC, AE Industrial Partners Fund I1, LP, AE Industrial Partners Fund II- A,
LP, AE Industrial Partners Fund II- B, LP, AE Industrial Partners Structured Solutions I, L. P., AE Industrial Partners
Structured Solutions I GP, L. P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. 1 to the Current Report on Form 8- K filed by
the registrant on January 21, 2025). 10. 29Voting Agreement, dated January 20, 2025, by and among Redwire
Corporation and Genesis Park II LP. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. 2 to the Current Report on Form 8- K
filed by the registrant on January 27, 2025). 10. 30Voting Agreement, dated January 20, 2025, by and among Redwire
Corporation and BCC Redwire Aggregator, L. P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99. 3 to the Current Report on
Form 8- K filed by the registrant on January 21, 2025 ). 19Redwire Corporation Insider Trading Policy. 21Subsidiaries of the
Re(rlstmnt 23 lConsent of lndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG HeP)—23-—2CensentofIndependent

d e W 3 s-LLLP). 31. 1Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Principal
Executlve OfflceI) Pursucmt to Rules 13a- 14 ('l) dnd 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 31. 2Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial
Officer) Pursuant to Rules 13a- 14 (a) and 15d- 14 (a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 1 * Certification of Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 32. 2 *
Certification of Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer) Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002. 97 Redwire Corporation Clawback Policy (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 97 to the Annual Report on Form 10- K filed by the registrant on March 20, 2024) . 101. SCHInline XBRL
Taxonomy Extension Schema Document101. CALInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document101.
DEFInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document101. LABInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label
Linkbase Poeumentto+—-- Document ExhibitNumberDescription101 . PREInline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation
Linkbase Document104Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101) 1 Schedules
and exhibits to this Exhibit omitted pursuant to Regulation S- K Item 601 (b) (2). The Registrant agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule of exhibit to the SEC upon request. Management or compensatory agreement or
arrangement. * The certifications furnished in Exhibit 32. 1 and Exhibit 32. 2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual
Report on Form 10- K and will not be deemed “ filed ” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, except to the extent that the registrant specifically incorporates it by reference. Item 16. Form 10- K Summary
SIGNATURES Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. Redwire CorporationDate: March 26-11 , 2024By
2025By : / s / Peter CannitoName: Peter CannitoTitle: Chief Executive Officer and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer)
POWER OF ATTORNEY KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT that the undersigned officers and directors
of Redwire Corporation do hereby constitute and appoint Peter Cannito and Jonathan Bailiff, and each of them, as his
or her true and lawful attorneys- in- fact and agents, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him or her
and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report
on Form 10- K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys- in- fact and agents, and each of them, full power
and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in connection
therewith, as fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming
that all said attorneys- in- fact and agents, or any of them or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do
or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has
been signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
SignatureTitleDate / s / Peter CannitoChief Executive Officer and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer) March 26-11 ,
2024Peter-2025Peter Cannito / s / Jonathan §-BaliffChief Financial Officer and Director (Principal Financial Officer) March 26
11 , 2024Jenathan-2025Jonathan S—Baliff / s / Chris EdmundsSenior Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer (Principal
Accounting Officer) March 20-11 , 2024€Chris-2025Chris Edmunds / s / John S. BoltonDirectorMarch 26-11 , 2024Jehn
2025John S. Bolton /s / Louis R. BrothersDirectorMarch 26-11 , 2024euis-2025Louis R. Brothers /s / Les
DanielsDirectorMarch 208-11 , 2024%es-2025Les Danicls / s / Michael J. BevacquaDirectorMarch 26-11 , 2624Miehael




2025Michael J. Bevacqua /s / Kirk KonertDirectorMarch 26-11 , 2024%irk-2025Kirk Konert /s / David
KornblattDirectorMarch 20-11 , 2024Bavid-2025David Kornblatt /s / Joanne IshamDirectorMarch 26-11 , 2024Jeanne
2025Joanne shamYpdated-Apri-28-Isham Exhibit 19 Updated May 7 , 2623-2024 REDWIRE CORPORATION INSIDER
TRADING POLICY PURPOSE This Insider Trading Policy (the “ Policy ) provides guidelines with respect to transactions in
the securities of Redwire Corporation (the “ Company ) and the handling of confidential information about the Company and
the companies with which the Company does business. The Company’ s Board of Directors (the *“ Board ™) has adopted this
Policy to promote compliance with federal, state and foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of
material nonpublic information about a company from: (i) trading in securities of that company; or (ii) providing material
nonpublic information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information. Regulators have adopted sophisticated
surveillance techniques to identify insider trading transactions, and it is important to the Company to avoid even the appearance
of impropriety. BACKGROUND The antifraud provisions of U. S. federal securities laws prohibit directors, officers, employees
and other individuals who possess material nonpublic information from trading on the basis of that information. Transactions
will be considered “ on the basis of ” material nonpublic information if the person engaged in the transaction was aware of the
material nonpublic information at the time of the transaction. It is not a defense that the person did not *“ use ” the information
for purposes of the transaction. Disclosing material nonpublic information directly or indirectly to others who then trade based
on that information or making recommendations or expressing opinions as to transactions in securities while aware of material
nonpublic information (which is sometime referred to as “ tipping ) is also illegal. Both the person who provides the
information, recommendation or opinion and the person who trades based on it may be liable. These illegal activities are
commonly referred to as “ insider trading. ” State securities laws and securities laws of other jurisdictions also impose
restrictions on insider trading. In addition, a company, as well as individual directors, officers and other supervisory personnel,
may be subject to liability as “ controlling persons ™ for failure to take appropriate steps to prevent insider trading by those under
their supervision, influence or control. The Securities and Exchange Commission (the “ SEC ), the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority and other authorities use sophisticated electronic surveillance techniques to investigate and detect insider
trading, and the SEC and the U. S. Department of Justice pursue insider trading violations vigorously. Cases involving trading
through foreign accounts, trading by family members and friends and trading involving only a small number of shares have been
successfully prosecuted. Exhibit+9-2-PERSONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY This Policy applies to all directors, officers and
employees of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to this
Policy, such as contractors or consultants who have access to material nonpublic information, in each case other than AE
Industrial Partners, L. P. and any of its affiliated investment funds. This Policy also applies to family members, other members
of'a person’ s household and entities controlled by a person covered by this Policy, as described below. You are expected to
comply with this Policy until such time as you are no longer affiliated with the Company and you no longer possess any material
nonpublic information subject to this Policy. In addition, if you are listed on Schedule I attached hereto and subject to a trading
blackout under this Policy at the time you cease to be affiliated with the Company, you are expected to abide by the applicable
trading restrictions until at least the end of the relevant blackout period. Please direct any questions or requests as to any of the
matters discussed in this Policy to the General Counsel of the Company. The General Counsel is generally responsible for the
administration of this Policy. The General Counsel may select others to assist with the execution of his or her duties.
TRANSACTIONS SUBJECT TO THE POLICY This Policy applies to all transactions involving the Company”’ s securities
(collectively referred to in this Policy as “ Company Securities ), including the Company’ s common stock, options to purchase
common stock, or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but not limited to) preferred stock,
convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as exchange-
traded put or call options or swaps relating to Company Securities. This Policy also applies to the securities of other companies
as to which you possess material nonpublic information obtained in the course of your service to this Company. Transactions
subject to this Policy include purchases, sales and bona fide gifts of Company Securities. INDIVIDUAL RESPONSIBILITY
Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the
Company and to not engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Each
individual is responsible for making sure that he or she complies with this Policy, and that any family member, household
member or entity whose transactions are subject to this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the
responsibility for determining whether an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that
individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the General Counsel or any other employee or director pursuant to this
Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability under applicable
securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the Company, including termination,
for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the heading “
Consequences of Violations. ” 3-It is also your responsibility to help enforce this Policy. You should be alert to possible
violations and should promptly report violations or suspected violations of this Policy. You may report suspected violations of
this Policy by an employee, officer, director or consultant via electronic mail to GC @ redwirespace. com, via telephone at
(650) 701- 7722 or via regular mail to the General Counsel at Company’ s principal executive offices located at 8226 Philips
Highway, Suite 101, Jacksonville, Florida 32256. Permitted reports to the General Counsel may be made anonymously or by
identifying oneself. Because it may be more difficult to thoroughly investigate reports that are made anonymously, you are
encouraged to share your identity when reporting rather than reporting anonymously. If you make an anonymous report, please
provide as much detail as possible, including any evidence that you believe may be relevant to the issue. All reports, whether
identified or anonymous, will be treated confidentially to the extent consistent with applicable law. STATEMENT OF POLICY
It is the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee of the Company (or any other person designated by
this Policy or by the General Counsel as subject to this Policy) who is aware of material nonpublic information relating to the



Company may, directly, or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities: 1. Engage in transactions in
Company Securities while aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company, noting that it is no excuse that you
did not “ use ” the information in your transaction, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings “ Transactions
Under Company Plans, ” “ Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale, ” “ Rule 10b5- 1 Plans ” and ““ Other Limited
Exceptions; ” 2. Recommend the purchase or sale of any Company Securities; 3. Disclose, including on the internet, material
nonpublic information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or outside of the
Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert consulting
firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company’ s policies regarding the protection or authorized
external disclosure of information regarding the Company; or 4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities. In addition, it is
the policy of the Company that no director, officer or other employee of the Company (or any other person designated as subject
to this Policy) may engage in transactions involving the securities of any other company if such person is aware of material
nonpublic information about that company except, in each case, as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings “
Transactions Under Company Plans, ” “ Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale, ” “ Rule 10b5- 1 Plans ” and *“ Other
Limited Exceptions. ” There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Financial hardship does not
excuse your compliance with this Policy. From time to time, you may have to forego a proposed transaction in the Company
Securities even if you planned to make the transaction before learning of the material nonpublic information and even though
you believe that you may 4-suffer an economic loss. The following are specifically exempted from this Policy: where disclosure
of nonpublic information is required by law, or when (i) disclosure is required for legitimate Company business purposes, (ii)
you are authorized to disclose the information and (iii) appropriate steps have been taken to prevent misuse of that information
(including entering an appropriate nondisclosure agreement that restricts the disclosure and use of the information, if
applicable). Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an
emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any
mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the
Company’ s reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct. You may not enter into any transaction, including those
discussed in the section entitled under the headings *“ Transactions Under Company Plans, ” Transactions Not Involving a
Purchase or Sale, ” “ Rule 10b5- 1 Plans ” and “ Other Limited Exceptions ” unless you have disclosed any material nonpublic
information that you become aware of in the course of your service with the Company, and that senior management is not aware
of, to the General Counsel. If you are a member of senior management, the information must be disclosed to the Chief
Executive Officer, and if you are the Chief Executive Officer or a director, you must disclose the information to the Board,
before any transaction is permissible. In the event you receive an inquiry from someone outside of the Company, such as a stock
analyst, for information, you should refer the inquiry to the Chief Financial Officer. The Company is required under Regulation
FD (Fair Disclosure) of the U. S. federal securities laws to avoid the selective disclosure of material nonpublic information. In
general, the regulation provides that when a public company discloses material nonpublic information, it must provide broad,
non- exclusionary access to the information. Violations of this regulation can subject the Company to SEC enforcement actions,
which may result in injunctions and severe monetary penalties. The Company has established procedures for releasing material
information in a manner that is designed to achieve broad public dissemination of the information immediately upon its release
in compliance with applicable law. Please consult the Company’ s Regulation FD Policy for more details. DEFINITION OF
MATERIAL NONPUBLIC INFORMATION Material Information. Information is considered *“ material ” if a reasonable
investor would consider that information important in making a decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that
could be expected to affect a company’ s stock price, whether it is positive or negative, should be considered material. There is
no bright- line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and
circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define
all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are: ¢
Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance; « Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or
the decision to suspend earnings guidance; ¢ A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer; 5 A pending or
proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset; * A pending or proposed joint venture; * A Company restructuring; ¢
Significant related party transactions; ¢ A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional
securities; * Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course; * The establishment of a repurchase
program for Company Securities; ¢ A change in the Company’ s pricing or cost structure; * Major marketing changes; * A
change in management; * A change in auditors or notification that the auditor’ s reports may no longer be relied upon; °
Development of a significant new product, process, or service; * Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of
such litigation; « Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems; * The gain or loss of a significant
customer or supplier; ¢ Significant cybersecurity incidents; and * The imposition of a ban on trading in Company Securities or
the securities of another company. If you are unsure whether information is material, you should either consult the General
Counsel before making any decision to disclose such information (other than to persons who need to know it) or to trade in or
recommend securities to which that information relates or assume that the information is material. When Information is
Considered Public. Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic information. In
order to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information
has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through
the Dow Jones “ broad tape, ” newswire services, a broadcast on widely- available radio or television programs, publication in a
widely- available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the SEC that are available on
the SEC’ s website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the
Company’ s employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors. 6-Once



information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to afford the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the
information. As a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the marketplace until after the second
business day after the day on which the information is released. If, for example, the Company were to make an announcement
on a Monday, you should not trade in Company Securities until Thursday. Depending on the particular circumstances, the
Company may determine that a longer or shorter period should apply to the release of specific material nonpublic information.
TRANSACTIONS BY FAMILY MEMBERS AND OTHERS This Policy applies to your family members who reside with you
(including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and
in- laws), anyone else who lives in your household, and any family members who do not live in your household but whose
transactions in Company Securities are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as parents or children
who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to as “ Family Members ™). You are
responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer with you
before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable
securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities
transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or
related to you or your Family Members. TRANSACTIONS BY ENTITIES THAT YOU INFLUENCE OR CONTROL This
Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, partnerships or trusts, in each case other
than AE Industrial Partners, L. P. and any of its affiliated investment funds (collectively referred to as *“ Controlled Entities ),
and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if
they were for your own account. TRANSACTIONS UNDER COMPANY PLANS This Policy does not apply in the case of the
following transactions, except as specifically noted: 1. Stock Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an
employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company’ s plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to
which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements.
This Policy does apply, however, to the underlying stock or to any sale of stock as part of a broker- assisted cashless exercise of
an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option. 2.
Restricted Stock Awards. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right
pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the
vesting of any restricted stock. The Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock. 3. 401 (k) Plan. This
Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the 7Company’ s 401 (k) plan resulting from your periodic
contribution of money to the plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to certain
elections you may make under the 401 (k) plan, including: (a) an election to increase or decrease the percentage of your periodic
contributions that will be allocated to the Company stock fund; (b) an election to make an intra- plan transfer of an existing
account balance into or out of the Company stock fund; (c) an election to borrow money against your 401 (k) plan account if the
loan will result in a liquidation of some or all of your Company stock fund balance; and (d) an election to pre- pay a plan loan if
the pre- payment will result in allocation of loan proceeds to the Company stock fund. 4. Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This
Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in any employee stock purchase plan resulting from your periodic or
lump sum contribution of money to the plan pursuant to the election you made at the time of your enrollment in such plan. This
Policy does apply, however, to your initial election to participate in such plan, changes to your election to participate in such
plan for any enrollment period, and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to such plan. 5. Dividend
Reinvestment Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities under any Company dividend reinvestment
plan resulting from your reinvestment of dividends paid on Company Securities. This Policy does apply, however, to voluntary
purchases of Company Securities resulting from additional contributions you choose to make to such dividend reinvestment
plan, and to your election to participate in the plan or change your level of participation in such plan. This Policy also applies to
your sale of any Company Securities purchased pursuant to such plan. GIFTS OF SECURITIES; MUTUAL FUND
TRANSACTIONS Giving and receiving gifts of Company Securities are subject to this Policy in all respects as if they were
trades, requiring, in particular, pre- clearance by the General Counsel for Covered Senior Persons and public disclosure for
Directors and Officers within two business days of giving or receiving the gift. Transactions in mutual funds that are invested in
Company Securities are not transactions subject to this Policy. SPECIAL AND PROHIBITED TRANSACTIONS The
Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and / or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the
persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company’ s policy that any persons
covered by this Policy may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company’ s
preferences as described below: Short Sales. Short sales of Company Securities (i. e., the sale of a security that the seller does
not own) may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the
potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company’ s prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce
a seller’ s incentive to seek to improve the Company’ s performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are &
prohibited. In addition, Section 16 (c) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “ Exchange Act ) prohibits
officers and directors from engaging in short sales. (Short sales arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed
by the paragraph below captioned “ Hedging Transactions. ”’) Publicly- Traded Options. Given the relatively short term of
publicly- traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that a director, officer or employee is trading based
on material nonpublic information and focus a director’ s, officer’ s or other employee’ s attention on short- term performance at
the expense of the Company’ s long- term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put options, call options or other derivative
securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. (Option positions arising from certain
types of hedging transactions are governed by the next paragraph below.) Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization
transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments



such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such hedging transactions may permit a director,
officer or employee to continue to own Company Securities obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without
the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director, officer or employee may no longer have the same
objectives as the Company’ s other shareholders. Therefore, the Company prohibits you from engaging in such transactions.
Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities. Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the
broker without the customer’ s consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or
hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or
foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted
to trade in Company Securities, directors, officers and other employees are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a
margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan. (Pledges of Company Securities arising from
certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph above captioned “ Hedging Transactions. ) Standing and
Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5- 1 Plans, as described
below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the
timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a
transaction when a director, officer or other employee is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company
therefore discourages placing standing or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that
they must use a standing order or limit order, the order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the
restrictions and procedures outlined below under the heading “ Additional Procedures. ” PRE- CLEARANCE & BLACKOUTS
The Company has established additional procedures in order to assist the Company in the 9-administration of this Policy, to
facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of material nonpublic information, and to avoid
the appearance of any impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those individuals described below. Pre-
Clearance Procedures. The individuals listed on Schedule I (“ Covered Senior Persons ”’) may not engage in any transaction in
Company Securities without first obtaining pre- clearance of the transaction from the General Counsel. A request for pre-
clearance should be submitted to the General Counsel at least two business days in advance of the proposed transaction. The
General Counsel is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre- clearance, and may determine not to permit
the transaction. If a person seeks pre- clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is denied, then he or she should
refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of the restriction. When a
request for pre- clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material
nonpublic information about the Company, and should describe fully those circumstances to the General Counsel. The requestor
should also indicate whether he or she has effected any non- exempt *“ opposite- way ” transactions within the past six months,
and should be prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be
prepared to comply with SEC Rule 144 and file an appropriate Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale. If a person seeks
pre- clearance and permission to engage in the transaction is granted, then such trade must be effected within five business days
of receipt of pre- clearance unless an exception is granted. Such person must promptly notify the General Counsel following the
completion of the transaction. A person who has not effected a transaction within the time limit may not engage in such
transaction without again obtaining pre- clearance of the transaction from the General Counsel. Quarterly Blackout Periods.
Covered Senior Persons may not conduct any transactions involving the Company’ s Securities (other than as specified by this
Policy), during a “ Blackout Period ” beginning fourteen days prior to the end of each fiscal quarter and ending on the second
business day following the date of the public release of the Company’ s earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these
persons may only conduct transactions in Company Securities during the “ Window Period ” beginning on the second business
day following the public release of the Company’ s quarterly earnings and ending fourteen days prior to the close of the next
fiscal quarter. Interim Earnings Guidance and Event- Specific Blackout Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is
material to the Company and is known by only a few directors, officers and / or employees, such as a cybersecurity incident. So
long as the event remains material and nonpublic, the persons designated by the General Counsel may not trade Company
Securities. In addition, the Company’ s financial results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the
judgment of the General Counsel, designated persons should refrain from trading in Company Securities even sooner than the
typical Blackout Period described above. In that situation, the General Counsel may notify these persons that they should not
trade in the +8-Company’ s Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an event- specific
trading restriction period or extension of a Blackout Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole, and should not be
communicated to any other person. Even if the General Counsel has not designated you as a person who should not trade due to
an event- specific restriction, you should not trade while aware of material nonpublic information. Regulation BTR Blackouts.
Directors and executive officers may also be subject to trading blackouts pursuant to Regulation Blackout Trading Restriction (**
Regulation BTR ”), under U. S. federal securities laws. In general, Regulation BTR prohibits any director or executive officer
from engaging in certain transactions involving Company Securities during periods when 401 (k) plan participants are prevented
from purchasing, selling or otherwise acquiring or transferring an interest in certain securities held in individual account plans.
Any profits realized from a transaction that violates Regulation BTR are recoverable by the Company, regardless of the
intentions of the director or officer effecting the transaction. In addition, individuals who engage in such transactions are subject
to sanction by the SEC, as well as potential criminal liability. The Company has provided, or will provide, separate memoranda
and other appropriate materials to its directors and executive officers regarding compliance with Regulation BTR. The Company
will notify directors and officers if they are subject to a blackout trading restriction under Regulation BTR. Failure to comply
with an applicable trading blackout in accordance with Regulation BTR is a violation of law and this Policy. No “ Safe Harbors.
” There are no unconditional “ safe harbors ” for trades made at particular times, and all persons subject to this Policy should
exercise good judgment at all times. Even when a quarterly blackout period is not in effect, you may be prohibited from



engaging in transactions involving the Company Securities because you possess material nonpublic information, are subject to a
special blackout period or are otherwise restricted under this Policy. Exceptions. The quarterly trading restrictions and event-
driven trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as described above under the
headings “ Transactions Under Company Plans ” and “ Transactions Not Involving a Purchase or Sale. ” Further, the
requirement for pre- clearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event- driven trading restrictions do not apply to
transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5- 1 plans, described under the heading ““ Rule 10b5- 1 Plans. RULE
10B5- 1 PLANS Rule 10b5- 1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b- 5. In
order to be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5- 1 plan for transactions in
Company Securities that meets certain conditions specified in Rule 10b- 5- 1 (a “ Rule 10b5- 1 Plan ”). If the plan meets the
requirements of Rule 10b5- 1, Company Securities may be purchased or sold without regard to certain insider trading
restrictions. To comply with the Policy, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be approved by the General Counsel and meet the
requirements of Rule 10b5- 1. In general, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the
plan is not aware of material nonpublic information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over
the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of H-the trade. The plan must either
specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third
party. Any Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be submitted for approval five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan. Once
approved, no further pre- approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan will be required. A. Written
Trading Plan Requirements. The written Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be a binding contract, instruction, or other arrangement under
specified terms and conditions for the purchase or sale of securities. SEC rules require Covered Senior Persons Section 16
reporting persons, which includes those individuals identified on Schedule II (collectively, the “ Directors and Officers ) to
include representations in their written Rule 10b5- 1 Plans certifying, at the time of the adoption of a new or modified plan, that:
(1) they are not aware of material nonpublic information about the Company or its securities; and (2) they are adopting the plan
in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b- 5. The written Rule 10b5- 1 Plan also
must: 1) expressly specify the amount, price, and date of trades; ii) include a written formula or algorithm, or computer program,
for determining amounts, prices, and dates; or iii) not permit the person to exercise any subsequent influence over how, when or
whether to effect purchases or sales; provided, in addition, that any other person who, pursuant to the contract, instruction, or
plan, exercises such influence is not aware (or is deemed to be unaware of the material nonpublic information when doing so).
B. Cooling- Off After Adoption. All Rule 10b5- 1 Plans must have * cooling- off ” periods between the date the Rule 10b5- 1
Plan is adopted and when trading under the plan commences. For Directors and Officers, the cooling- off period is the later of (i)
90 days after the adoption of the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan or (ii) two business days following the filing of the Form 10- Q or Form 10-
K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted. In any event, the required cooling- off period must not exceed 120 days
following the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan adoption. For all other people subject to the Policy who are not Directors and Officers, the
applicable cooling- off period is 30 days after the adoption of the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan. C. Multiple 10b5- 1 Plans. No person may
maintain or use multiple overlapping Rule 10b5- 1 Plans for open market transactions involving Company Securities except as
described below. This prohibition does not apply where a person transacts directly with the Company such as in a dividend
reinvestment plan or employee stock ownership plan, which are not executed on the open market. Also, the prohibition does not
apply to plans authorizing an agent to sell only enough securities as are necessary to satisfy tax withholding obligations arising
exclusively from the vesting of a compensatory award, such as on the vesting and +2-settlement of restricted stock units (*“ sell-
to- cover ” Rule 10b5- 1 Plans), provided that the award holder is not permitted to exercise control over the timing of such sales.
Also, a person may maintain two separate Rule 10b5- 1 Plans for open market purchases or sales of Company Securities if
trading under the later- commencing plan is not authorized to begin until after all trades under the earlier- commencing plan are
completed or expire without execution. If the first plan is terminated early, the first trade under the later- commencing plan,
however, must not be scheduled to occur until after the effective cooling- off period following the termination of the earlier plan
which, as explained above, is the later of (i) 90 days after termination of the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan or (ii) two business days
following the filing of the Form 10- Q or Form 10- K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was terminated. In any event, as
explained above, the required cooling- off period for Directors and Officers must not exceed 120 days following the Rule 10b5-
1 Plan termination. D. Single Trade Plans. A person may enter into only one single- trade Rule 10b5- 1 Plan during any
consecutive twelve- month period. A Rule 10b5- 1 Plan will not be treated as a single- trade plan if it gives the person’ s agent
discretion over whether to execute the plan as a single transaction, or provides that the agent’ s future acts will depend on events
or data not known at the time the plan is entered into and it is reasonably foreseeable at the time the plan is entered into that the
plan might result in multiple trades. For the avoidance of doubt, sell- to- cover Rule 10b5- 1 Plans are exempt from the
limitation on single- trade plans. E. Plan Amendment and Revocation. A person acting in good faith may amend a Rule 10b5- 1
Plan so long as such amendments are made outside of a quarterly trading Blackout Period and at a time when the Rule 10b5- 1
Plan participant does not possess material, non- public information. Revocation of Rule 10b5- 1 Plans should occur only in
unusual circumstances. Effectiveness of any revocation or amendment of a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan will be subject to the prior review
and approval of the Chief Financial Officer. Revocation is effected upon written notice to the broker. Under certain
circumstances, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan must be revoked. This may include circumstances such as the announcement of a merger or
the occurrence of an event that would cause the transaction either to violate the law or to have an adverse effect on the
Company. The Chief Financial Officer or administrator of the Company' s stock plans is authorized to notify the broker in such
circumstances, thereby insulating the person in the event of revocation. The Company reserves the right from time to time to
suspend, discontinue or otherwise prohibit any transaction in Company Securities, even pursuant to a previously approved Rule
10b5- 1 Plan, if the Chief Financial Officer or the Board, in its discretion, determines that such suspension, discontinuation or
other prohibition is in the best interests of the Company. Any Rule 10b5- 1 Plan submitted for approval hereunder should



explicitly acknowledge the Company' s 43-right to suspend, discontinue or prohibit transactions in Company Securities. Failure
to discontinue purchases and sales as directed shall constitute a violation of the terms of this Policy and result in a loss of the
exemption set forth herein. For Directors and Officers, the cooling- off period after a plan revocation or amendment is the later
of (i) 90 days after the revocation or amendment of the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan or (ii) two business days following the filing of the
Form 10- Q or Form 10- K for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was revoked or amended. In any event, the required cooling-
off period for Directors and Officers must not exceed 120 days following the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan revocation or amendment. For
all other people subject to the Policy, the applicable cooling- off period is 30 days after the revocation or amendment of the Rule
10b5- 1 Plan. During a *“ Window Period ”, trades differing from Rule 10b5- 1 Plan instructions that are already in place are
allowed as long as the Rule 10b5- 1 Plan continues to be followed. F. Section 16 Liability and Reporting. Rule 10b5- 1 Plans do
not exempt individuals from complying with Section 16 short- swing profit rules or liability. Although transactions effected
under a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan will not require further pre- clearance at the time of the trade, any transaction (including the quantity
and price) made pursuant to a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan of a Section 16 reporting person must be reported to the Company promptly on
the day of each trade to permit the Company' s filing coordinator to assist in the preparation and filing of a required Form 4.
Such reporting must be in writing (including, without limitation, by e- mail) and should include the identity of the reporting
person, the type of transaction, the date of the transaction, the number of shares involved and the purchase or sale price.
However, the ultimate responsibility, and liability, for timely filing remains with the Section 16 reporting person. The receiving
and gifting of gifts are subject to Section 16 and should be reported to the Company promptly on the date of any such gift to
permit the applicable preparation and filing of a required Form 4. G. Public Announcements. The Company may make a public
announcement that Rule 10b5- 1 Plans are being implemented in accordance with Rule 10b5- 1. It will consider in each case
whether a public announcement of a particular Rule 10b5- 1 Plan should be made. It may also make public announcements or
respond to inquiries from the media as transactions are made under a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan. H. Limitation on Liability. None of the
Company, the General Counsel, the Company' s other employees or any other person will have any liability for any delay in
reviewing, or refusal of, a Rule 10b5- 1 Plan submitted pursuant to this Policy or a request for pre- clearance submitted pursuant
to this Policy. Notwithstanding any review of a 10b5- 1 Plan pursuant to this Policy or pre- +4-clearance of a transaction
pursuant to this Policy, none of the Company, the General Counsel, the Company' s other employees or any other person
assumes any liability for the legality or consequences of such Rule 10b5- 1 Plan or transaction to the person engaging in or
adopting such Rule 10b5- 1 Plan or transaction. OTHER LIMITED EXCEPTIONS Stock Splits, Stock Dividends and Similar
Transactions. The trading restrictions under this Policy do not apply to a change in the number of securities held as a result of a
stock split or stock dividend applying equally to all securities of a class, or similar transactions. Change in Form of Ownership.
Transactions that involve merely a change in the form in which you own securities are permissible. For example, you may
transfer shares to an inter vivos trust of which you are the sole beneficiary during your lifetime. POST- TERMINATION
TRANSACTIONS This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to the
Company. If an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her service terminates, that individual
may not trade in Company Securities until that information has become public or is no longer material. The pre- clearance
procedures specified under the heading ““ Additional Procedures ”” above, however, will cease to apply to transactions in
Company Securities upon the expiration of any Blackout Period or other Company- imposed trading restrictions applicable at
the time of the termination of service. If you are listed on Schedule II, the Section 16 reporting requirements and * short- swing
” profit disgorgement provisions may continue to apply to you up to six months after your termination of employment or
services. As a result, Section 16 reporting persons should consult with the Company’ s General Counsel about any continuing
Section 16 obligations after the termination of employment or services. CONSEQUENCES OF VIOLATIONS The purchase or
sale of securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of material nonpublic information to others
who then trade in the Company’ s Securities, is prohibited by federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued
vigorously by the SEC, U. S. Attorneys and state enforcement authorities as well as authorities in foreign jurisdictions.
Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and could include significant fines and imprisonment. As of the effective
date of this Policy, potential penalties for insider trading violations under U. S. federal securities laws include: « damages in a
private lawsuit; ¢ disgorging any profits made or losses avoided; +5- imprisonment for up to 20 years; * substantial criminal
fines of up to $ 5 million; « substantial civil fines up to three times the profit gained or loss avoided; ¢ a bar against serving as an
officer or director of a public company; and ¢ an injunction against future violations. Civil and criminal penalties also apply to
tipping. The SEC has imposed large penalties in tipping cases even when the disclosing person did not trade or gain any benefit
from another person’ s trading. While the regulatory authorities concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip
inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on companies and other
controlling persons ” if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by company personnel. As of the effective
date of this Policy, the penalty for “ controlling person liability ” includes civil fines, as well as potential criminal fines and
imprisonment. If the Company has a reasonable basis to conclude that an employee, officer, director, or consultant has failed to
comply with this Policy, such person may be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, up to and including dismissal for
cause if the person is an employee or officer, or subject to termination of services if the person is a director or consultant,
regardless of whether or not failure to comply with this Policy results in a violation of law. It is not necessary for the Company
to wait for the filing or conclusion of any civil or criminal action against an alleged violator before taking disciplinary action. In
addition, the Company may give stop transfer and other instructions to the Company’ s transfer agent to enforce compliance
with this Policy. In addition, an individual’ s failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company- imposed
sanctions, including dismissal for cause, whether or not the employee’ s failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless
to say, a violation of law, or even an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person’ s reputation and
irreparably damage a career. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT Obligations



under Section 16 (““ Section 16 ) of the Exchange Act. Section 16, and the related rules and regulations, set forth (i) reporting
obligations, (ii) limitations on “ short- swing ” transactions and (iii) limitations on short sales and other transactions applicable to
directors, officers, large shareholders and certain other persons. The Company has determined that those persons listed on
Schedule IT are required to comply with Section 16 of the Exchange Act, and the related rules and regulations, because of their
positions with the Company. The General Counsel may amend Schedule IT from time to time as appropriate to reflect the
election of new officers or directors, any change in the responsibilities of officers or other employees and any promotions,
demotions, resignations or departures. Schedule II is not necessarily an exhaustive list of persons subject to Section 16
requirements at any given time. Even if you are not listed on Schedule II, you may be subject to Section 16 reporting obligations
because of your shareholdings, for example. Note that executive officers, as referred to in this section, refer to the +6-specific
definition of ““ officers ” in Section 16. Notification Requirements to Facilitate Section 16 Reporting. To facilitate timely
reporting of transactions pursuant to Section 16 requirements, each person subject to Section 16 reporting requirements must
provide, or must ensure that his or her broker provides, the Company with detailed information (e. g., trade date, number of
shares, exact price, etc.) regarding his or her transactions involving the Company Securities, including gifts, transfers, pledges
and transactions pursuant to a trading plan, both prior to (to confirm compliance with pre- clearance procedures, if applicable)
and promptly following execution. Personal responsibility. The obligation to file Section 16 reports, and to otherwise comply
with Section 16, is personal. The Company is not responsible for the failure to comply with Section 16 requirements.
COMPANY ASSISTANCE Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may
obtain additional guidance from the General Counsel, who can be reached by telephone at (650) 701- 7722 or by e- mail at OGC
@ redwirespace. com. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION Delivery of this Policy. This Policy will be delivered to all directors,
officers, employees and agents, such as consultants, independent contractors, or other outside personnel retained by the
Company who may obtain material nonpublic information about the Company, of the Company when they commence service
with the Company. In addition, this Policy (or a summary of this Policy) will be circulated periodically. Each director, officer
and employee, and such agents of the Company, are required to acknowledge that he or she understands this Policy.
Amendments. We are committed to continuously reviewing and updating our policies and procedures. The Company therefore
reserves the right to amend, alter or terminate this Policy at any time and for any reason, subject to applicable law. A current
copy of the Company’ s policies regarding insider trading may be obtained by contacting the General Counsel. The policies in
this Insider Trading Policy do not constitute a complete list of Company policies or a complete list of the types of conduct that
can result in discipline, up to and including discharge. #+-SCHEDULE I INDIVIDUALS SUBJECT TO QUARTERLY
BLACKOUT PERIODS AND PRE- CLEARANCE REQUIREMENTS All members of the Board All exeeutive-offieersofthe
y v ab A-employees at the level of Director or
above (or the equwalent thereof) wrt-h—aeeess—te—sensm*fe- mcludmg all members of the Senior and Executive Leadership
teams All members of the finaneiat-Financial data-Planning and Analysis Department All members of the Accounting
Department All members of the Information Technology Department All members of the Legal Department All
members of the Marketing and Communications team All members of the Business Development Department All
Program Managers Admmlstratlve asslstants of all persons on this Schedule I Any Altmembers-ofthe-other employee who is
5 s-of-the CEO or CFO as subject

epefanens—Bepartment—wrt-h—aeeess—to Schedule I sensrﬁve—ﬁnaneral—data—l—S—SCHEDULE ll lNDlVlDUALS SUBJECT TO
SECTION 16 REPORTING AND LIABILITY PROVISIONS (As updated by-the-General-Counselon Aprit24-May 7 , 2023
2024 ) 1. DIRECTORS Name—’Frt-le—(—All current and future members of the Board of Dlrectors throughout the duratlon of

director l’vl-tehael—Bevaequa—BﬁeeteHehn—S—
Direetor DavidKemblattDireetor-2. OFFICERS (mcludmg ofﬁcers Who are also d1rect0rs) Name Tltle (s) Peter

CannitoChairman €annite-Chatrman-and Chief Executive OfficerJonathan OffieerJonathan-E. BaliffChief Baliff-Chief
Financial OfficerChris EdmundsSenior Offieer-ChrisEdmunds-Sentor-Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer Nathan
e—léeneleE-xeeuﬁve—Vtee—Presrdent—Form of Acknowledgement of Ins1der Tradmg Pollcy for Employees Ofﬁcers Generat
Counsetand Directors Seereta v oW v -
-E-l’v{-P-l:9¥E-E—S—9F-F-lGE-R—Sﬁ%N-B—BI-REG’P9kS—l have recelved and read the Redw1re Corporatlon lnslder Tradmg Policy. I
understand the standards and policies contained in the Policy and understand that there may be additional policies or laws
specific to my position with Redwire Corporation. I agree to comply with the Policy. If I have questions concerning the meaning
or application of the Policy, any other Redwire Corporation policies or procedures, or the legal and regulatory requirements
applicable to my position with Redwire Corporation, I know that I can consult with Redwire Corporation’ s General Counsel,
knowing that my questlons will be maintained in confidence, consistent with applicable law. Print NameSignatureDate Name
Signature-Pate-Please sign and return this form to the Human Resources Department Form of Acknowledgement of Ins1der
Trading Policy for Outside Personnel ’ | |
OUTSIDEPERSONNEL- have received and read the Redw1re Corporat10n lns1de1 Tradmg Pollcy I understand the standards
and policies contained in the Policy and understand that there may be additional policies or laws specific to my consulting
services for Redwire Corporation. I agree to comply with the Policy. If I have questions concerning the meaning or application
of the Policy, any applicable Redwire Corporation policies or procedures, or the legal and regulatory requirements applicable to
my consulting services for Redwire Corporation, I know that I can consult with Redwire Corporation’ s General Counsel,

knowmg that my questlons will be maintained in confidence, consistent with applicable law. PrintNaeme-Stgnature-Date-Please
g d S € rratRe ees ~Exhibit 21 SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT As of




December 31, 2024 Legal NameFormerly Known AsJurisdiction of IncorporationRedwire Intermediate Holdings, LLCCosmos
Finance, LLCDelawareRedwire Holdings, LLCCosmos Acquisition, LLCDelawareRedwire Space Components, LLCAdcole
Space, LLCDelawareRedwire Space Sensors, Inc. Deep Space Systems, Inc. DelawareRedwire Space Enterprises, Inc.
Deployable Space Systems Inc. Californialn Space Group, Inc. — DelawareLoadpath, LLC — New MexicoRedwire Space
Europe, LLCMade in Space Europe, H=€BDelawareMade-LLCDelawareRedwire Space S. a. r. 1. Made in Space Europe S. a. .
. —LuxembourgOakman Aerospace, LLC — ColoradoRedwire Space, Inc. Made in Space Inc. DelawareRedwire Space
Solutions, LLC. Roccor, LLCColoradoRedwire Space Technologies, Inc. Techshot, Inc. IndianaRedwire Space NV¥QinetiQ
nvQinetiQ Space NVBelgitmnvBelgiumHera Systems, Inc. — CaliforniaRedwire Poland sp. z. 0. 0. — Poland Exhibit 23.
1 CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM We consent to the incorporation by
reference in the registration statements (Nos. 333- 274375, 333- 264442, 333- 265643 and 333- 259755) on Form S- 3 and (No.
333-260661) on Form S- 8 of our report dated March %9—11 %9%4—2025 W1th respect to the Consohdated ﬁnanc1a1 statements
of Redwire Corporation —Ezxh he ;

-Fem—S—3—€Nes—33%——2§97§§—3—3—3——265643—333——264442—and subsidiaries 3—3—3——244375—)—&nd—Fefm—S-—8—€Ne— Houston 333-

-l-ﬂ—t-h-ls—Fefﬂﬂ—l-G-—IGEXhlblt 31.1 CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULES 13a- 14 (a) AND 15d- 14 (a) UNDER THE
SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES- OXLEY
ACT OF 2002 I, Peter Cannito, Chief Executive Officer , President and Chairman, certify that: 1. [ have reviewed this Annual
Report on Form 10- K for the period ended December 31, 2823-2024 , of Redwire Corporation; 2. Based on my knowledge, this
report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered
by this report; 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report; 4. The registrant' s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (e) and 15d- 15 (e)) and internal control over
financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15 (f) and 15d- 15 (f)) for the registrant and have: a. Designed such
disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; b. Designed such internal control over
financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant' s
disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and d. Disclosed in this report any
change in the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant' s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant' s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant' s internal control over financial reporting; and 5. The registrant' s other certifying officer and I
have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant' s auditors and
the audit committee of the registrant' s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): a. All significant
deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant' s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and b. Any
fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant' s
internal control over financial reporting. Date: March 11, 2025By: / s / Peter CannitoName: Peter CannitoTitle: Chief
Executive Officer, President and Chairman (Principal Executive Officer) Exhibit 31. 2 [, Jonathan Baliff, Chief Financial
Officer and Director, certify that: Date: March 26-11 , 2624By2025By : / s / Jonathan BaliffName: Jonathan BaliffTitle: Chief
Financial Officer and Director (Principal Financial Officer) CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Certification Pursuant to Section 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of
2002 In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Redwire Corporation (the “ Company ") for the period ended
December 31, 2823-2024 , as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ), Peter
Cannito, Chief Executive Officer , President and Chairman of the Company, certifies, to the best of his knowledge, pursuant to
18 U. S. C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002, that: (1) The Report fully complies with
the requirements of Section 13 (a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and (2) The information contained in the
Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10- K of Redwire
Corporation (the “ Company ) for the period ended December 31, 2023-2024 , as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission on the date hereof (the “ Report ), Jonathan Baliff, Chief Financial Officer and Director of the Company, certifies,
to the best of hlS knowledge pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350 as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes- Oxley Act of 2002,







